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PART I

Item 1.

Business

General
The Boston Beer Company, Inc. (“Boston Beer” or the “Company”) is the largest craft brewer and the sixth largest brewer overall in the
United States. In fiscal 2007, Boston Beer sold 1,848,000 barrels of its proprietary products (“core brands”) and brewed 28,000 barrels
under contract (“non-core products”) for third parties.

During 2007, the Company sold over twenty beers under the Samuel Adams® or the Sam Adams® brand names, five flavored malt
beverage products under the Twisted Tea® brand name, and one hard cider product under the HardCore ® Cider brand name. Boston Beer
produces malt beverages and hard cider products at Company-owned breweries and under contract arrangements at other brewery
locations. The Company-owned breweries are located in Cincinnati, Ohio (the “Cincinnati Brewery”) and Boston, Massachusetts (the
“Boston Brewery”). During 2007, the Company brewed certain products under contract at breweries located in Eden, North Carolina,
Rochester, New York, Latrobe, Pennsylvania and La Crosse, Wisconsin.
The Company’s principal executive offices are located at One Design Center Place, Suite 850, Boston, Massachusetts 02210, and its
telephone number is (617) 368-5000.

Beer Industry Background

Before Prohibition, the United States beer industry consisted of hundreds of small breweries that brewed full-flavored beers. Since the end
of Prohibition, most domestic brewers have shifted production to less flavorful, lighter beers, which use lower-cost ingredients, and can
be mass-produced to take advantage of economies of scale in production and advertising. This shift towards mass-produced beers has
coincided with consolidation in the beer industry. Today, three major brewers (Anheuser-Busch, Inc., SABMiller PLC (“SABMiller”)
and Molson Coors Brewing Company (“Molson Coors”)) comprise over 95 % of all United States domestic beer production, excluding
imports. During 2007, SABMiller and Molson Coors announced the intent to combine their United States operations into a joint venture,
which would further consolidate the industry, and are currently awaiting the result of government review. Further, these major brewers
have all entered the Better Beer category recently, either by developing their own beers, acquiring, in whole or part, existing craft brewers,
or by importing and distributing foreign brewers’ brands.

The Company’s beer products are primarily positioned in the “Better Beer” category of the beer industry, which includes craft (small,
independent and traditional) brewers as well as specialty beers and most imports. Better Beers are determined by higher price, quality,
image and taste, as compared with regular domestic beers. Samuel Adams® is the third largest brand in the Better Beer category of the
United States brewing industry, trailing only the imports Corona® and Heineken ®. The Company estimates that the Better Beer category
grew 2 to 3% in 2007 and that the Craft Beer category grew approximately 12%, while the beer industry as a whole grew 1 to 2%. The
Company believes that the Better Beer category is approximately 19% of United States beer consumption.
The domestic beer industry, excluding Better Beers, has experienced a slight decline in shipments over the last ten years. The Company
believes that this decline is due to declining alcohol consumption per person in the population, drinkers trading up to drink high quality
more flavorful beers and increased competition from wine and spirits companies. During the past 10 years, domestic light beers, which
are beers with fewer calories than the brewers’ traditional beers, have experienced significant growth within the category, and now have a
higher market share than traditional beers.

The Company’s Twisted Tea® product line competes primarily within the flavored malt beverage (“FMB”) category of the beer industry.
FMB’s, such as Twisted Tea®, Smirnoff Ice®, BacardiSilver ® and Mike’s Hard Lemonade ®, are flavored malt beverages that are
typically priced competitively with Better Beers. The Company believes that the FMB category comprises approximately 2% of United
States beer consumption. The Company believes that the FMB category was down slightly in 2007.
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Narrative Description of Business
The Company’s business goal is to become the leading brewer in the Better Beer category by creating and offering high quality fullflavored beers. With the support of a large, well-trained sales organization, the Company strives to achieve this goal by increasing brand
availability and awareness through advertising, point-of-sale and promotional programs.

Products Marketed
The Company’s product strategy is to create and offer a world-class variety of traditional beers and other alcoholic beverages with a focus
on promoting the Samuel Adams® product line. In most markets, the Company focuses its advertising and promotional dollars on
Samuel Adams Boston Lager®, Sam Adams Light® and Samuel Adams® Seasonal Beers.

The Samuel Adams® Brewmaster’s Collection is an important part of the Company’s portfolio and heritage, and receives limited
promotional support. The Twisted Tea® brand family has grown each year since the product was first introduced and has established a
strong drinker following in several markets. The Company plans to grow the brand further by continuing to promote the Twisted Tea®
brand in these markets and expand into new markets. The Limited Edition Beers are produced at select times during the year in limited
quantities and are sold at a higher price than the Company’s other products. The following is a list of significant continuing styles as of
December 29, 2007:
Year First Introduced

Core Focus Beers
Samuel Adams Boston Lager® (“Flagship” brand)
Sam Adams Light®
Seasonal Beers
Samuel Adams® Double Bock
Samuel Adams® Octoberfest
Samuel Adams® Winter Lager
Samuel Adams® Summer Ale
Samuel Adams® White Ale
Brewmaster’s Collection
Samuel Adams® Boston Ale
Samuel Adams® Cream Stout
Samuel Adams® Honey Porter
Samuel Adams Cherry Wheat®
Samuel Adams® Pale Ale
Samuel Adams® Hefeweizen
Samuel Adams® Black Lager
Samuel Adams® Brown Ale
Limited Edition Beers
Samuel Adams® Triple Bock®
Samuel Adams Utopias®
Samuel Adams® Chocolate Bock
Samuel Adams® Imperial Pilsner
Flavored Malt Beverages
Twisted Tea® Hard Iced Tea
Twisted Tea® Raspberry Hard Iced Tea
Twisted Tea® Half Hard Iced Tea & Half Hard Lemonade
Twisted Tea® Peach Hard Iced Tea
Twisted Tea® Light
Hard Cider
HardCore ® Crisp Hard Cider

1984
2001

1988
1989
1989
1996
1997
1987
1993
1994
1995
1999
2003

2005
2006

1994
2001
2003
2005
2001
2001
2003
2005
2007

1997
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Certain products may be produced at select times during the year solely for inclusion in the Company’s variety packs. During 2007,
Samuel Adams® Cranberry Lambic, Samuel Adams® Old Fezziwig® Ale and Samuel Adams® Holiday Porter were brewed and
included in the Samuel Adams® Winter Classics variety pack, and Samuel Adams® Scotch Ale was brewed and included in the Samuel
Adams® Brewmaster’s Collection Mix Pack.

The Company continually evaluates the performance of its various beers, flavored malt beverages, and hard cider styles and the
rationalization of its product line, as a whole.

Product Innovations
The Company is committed to remaining a leading innovator in the Better Beer category by developing new products that allow the
Samuel Adams® drinker to try new styles of malt beverages. To that end, the Company continually test brews different beers and
occasionally sells them in market under various brand labels for evaluation of drinker interest. The Company also promotes an annual
LongShot ® American Homebrew Contesttm whereby Samuel Adams® drinkers and employees of the Company submit homebrews for
inclusion in the LongShot ® six-pack in the following year. During 2007, the Company created and introduced the new Samuel Adams
Boston Lager® pint glass, the first glass specifically designed to showcase the beer as the brewers intended, delivering the optimum fullflavored taste and aroma of Samuel Adams Boston Lager®.

Sales, Distribution and Marketing
The Company sells its products to a network of approximately 400 wholesale distributors, who then sell to retailers such as pubs,
restaurants, grocery chains, package stores, stadiums and other retail outlets. With few exceptions, the Company’s products are not the
primary brands in distributors’ portfolios. Thus, the Company, in addition to competing with other malt beverages for a share of the
consumer’s business, competes with other brewers for a share of the distributor’s attention, time and selling efforts. The Company sells
its products predominantly in the United States, but also has markets in Canada, Europe, Israel, the Caribbean and the Pacific Rim.
During 2007, the Company’s largest distributor accounted for approximately 4% of the Company’s net sales. The top three distributors
accounted for approximately 10%, collectively. In some states, the terms of the Company’s contracts with its distributors may be affected
by laws that restrict the enforcement of some contract terms, especially those related to the Company’s right to terminate the services of its
distributors.

The Company typically receives orders in the first week of a month for products to be shipped the following month. Products are shipped
within days of completion and, accordingly, there has historically not been any significant product order backlog. During 2007, Boston
Beer sold its products through a sales force in excess of 200 people, which the Company believes is one of the largest in the domestic beer
industry. The Company’s sales organization is designed to develop and strengthen relations at each level of the three-tier distribution
system by providing educational and promotional programs encompassing distributors, retailers and drinkers. The Company’s sales
force has a high level of product knowledge and is trained in the details of the brewing and selling processes. Sales representatives
typically carry hops, barley, and other samples to educate wholesale and retail buyers about the quality and taste of the Company’s beers.
The Company has developed strong relationships with its distributors and retailers, many of which have benefited from the Company’s
premium pricing strategy and growth.

The Company also engages in media campaigns, primarily television, radio, billboards and print. These media efforts are complemented
by participation in sponsorships of cultural and community events, local beer festivals, industry-related trade shows, and promotional
events at local establishments, to the extent permitted under local laws and regulations. The Company uses a wide array of point-of-sale
items (banners, neons, umbrellas, glassware, display pieces, signs, and menu stands) designed to stimulate impulse sales and continued
awareness.
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Ingredients and Packaging
The Company has been successful to date in obtaining sufficient quantities of the ingredients used in the production of its beers. These
ingredients include:

Malt. The two-row varieties of barley used in the Company’s malt are grown in the United States and Canada. In 2007, the barley crop
in the United States and Canada was below average when compared with ten-year averages overall, with below average output in terms of
quality of crop in the United States and average to slightly below average in terms of quality in Canada. The 2007 crop was purchased at
prices significantly higher than previous years due to changes in exchange rates, reduced crop yields in a number of markets and
increased demand due to increased demand from other uses for the barley. The Company purchased most of the malt used in the
production of its beer from one major supplier during 2007. The Company believes that there are other malt vendors available that are
capable of supplying its needs.

Hops. The Company uses Noble hops for its Samuel Adams® lagers. Noble hops are varieties from several specific growing areas
recognized for growing hops with superior taste and aroma properties and include Hallertau-Hallertauer, Tettnang-Tettnanger and SpaltSpalter from Germany. Noble hops are rare and more expensive than most other varieties of hops. Traditional English hops, namely, East
Kent Goldings and English Fuggles, are used in the Company’s ales. The Company enters into purchase commitments with two hops
dealers, based on the Company’s projected future volumes and brewing needs. The dealers then contract with farmers to ensure that the
Company’s needs are met. The contracts with the hop dealers are denominated in Euros for the German hops and in Pounds Sterling for
the English hops. The Company does not currently hedge these forward currency commitments. The crops harvested in 2007 were below
historical averages in terms of both quality and quantity for all hop varieties from Germany and the UK and the Company expects to
receive significantly less hops than were contracted for. While the Company’s goal is to maintain approximately one year’s supply of
essential hop varieties on-hand in order to limit the risk of an unexpected reduction in supply, the Company’s current hop inventory is
lower than it would like and any further years of under delivery could require the Company to evaluate other hops sources or result in the
Company being unable to meet demand for its beers. The Company stores its hops in multiple cold storage warehouses to minimize the
impact of a catastrophe at a single site.

Yeast. The Company maintains a supply of proprietary strains of yeast used in its breweries and supplies them to the breweries owned
by others where its beers are made. Since these yeasts would be impossible to duplicate if destroyed, the Company maintains secure
supplies in several locations and the strains are stored and protected at an outside laboratory. In addition, the breweries under contract
with the Company maintain a supply of the yeasts that are reclaimed from the batches of brewed beer. These brewers are obligated by
their contracts to use the Company’s proprietary strains of yeasts only for the brewing of the Company’s beers and such yeasts cannot be
used without the Company’s approval to brew any other beers produced at the respective breweries.

Other Ingredients. The Company maintains competitive sources for the supply of other ingredients used in some of its specialty maltbased and cider products.
Packaging Materials. The Company maintains competitive sources for the supply of certain packaging materials, such as shipping
cases, six-pack carriers and crowns. The Company enters into limited term supply agreements with certain vendors in order to receive
preferential pricing. Historically, glass and labels were each supplied by a single source, although the Company believes that alternative
suppliers are available. In 2007, the Company entered into a long term supply agreement with Anchor Glass Container Corporation
(“Anchor”) that calls for Anchor to be the exclusive supplier of glass bottles for the Company’s Cincinnati Brewery and Lehigh,
Pennsylvania Brewery (the “Pennsylvania Brewery”), if the acquisition of that brewery is consummated, beginning January 1, 2009.
The agreement also establishes the terms on which Anchor may supply glass bottles to other breweries where the Company brews its
beers.

The Company initiates bottle deposits and reuses some of the glass bottles that are returned pursuant to certain state bottle recycling laws
and derives some economic benefit from this practice. The cost associated with reusing the glass varies, based on the costs of collection,
sorting and handling, including arrangements with
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retailers, wholesalers and dealers in recycled products. There is no guarantee that the current economics relating to the use of returned
glass will continue or that the Company will continue to reuse returnable bottles.

Quality Assurance
As of December 29, 2007, the Company employed twelve brewmasters to monitor the Company’s brewing operations and control the
production of its beers. Over 125 tests, tastings and evaluations are typically required to ensure that each batch of Samuel Adams® beer,
Twisted Tea® flavored malt beverage and Hardcore ® hard cider conforms to the Company’s standards. The Company has on-site quality
control labs at each brewery.
In order to ensure that its customers enjoy only the freshest beer, the Company includes a clearly legible “freshness” code on every bottle
and keg of its Samuel Adams® products. Boston Beer was the first American brewer to use this practice.

Brewing Strategy
Historically, the Company has pursued a strategy of combining brewery ownership with production arrangements at breweries owned by
third parties. The Company-owned breweries are located in Cincinnati, Ohio and Boston, Massachusetts and the Company currently has
brewing services arrangements with Miller Brewing Company, High Falls Brewing Company, LLC and City Brewing Company, LLC to
produce its products at breweries in Eden, North Carolina, Rochester, New York, and Latrobe, Pennsylvania and La Crosse,
Wisconsin, respectively. The Company carefully selects breweries with (i) the capability of utilizing traditional brewing methods and
(ii) first-rate quality control capabilities throughout brewing, fermentation, finishing and packaging. Under its non-owned brewing
arrangements, the Company is charged a per unit rate for its products that are produced at each of the breweries and bears the costs of
raw materials, excise taxes and deposits for pallets and kegs and specialized equipment required to brew the Company’s beers.
During 2007, the Company began brewing and packaging some of its beer in Latrobe, Pennsylvania (“Latrobe”) under an agreement with
a wholly-owned subsidiary of City Brewing Company, LLC (the “Latrobe Agreement”). The Company has invested in Latrobe to
upgrade the brewery to provide for Samuel Adams’ traditional brewing process, use of proprietary yeasts and extended aging time, and
beer bottling and kegging. Also during 2007, the Company entered into an Alternation Agreement (the “New Miller Agreement”) with
Miller Brewing Company (“Miller”), which will allow the Company to continue to brew and package certain of its products at Miller’s
brewery located in Eden, North Carolina commencing November 1, 2008, following the expiration of the current brewing services
agreement with Miller. Under the New Miller Agreement, Miller will ensure that a certain minimum capacity will be available to the
Company throughout the term in exchange for a non-refundable annual reservation fee to be paid by the Company. In contrast to the
current brewing services agreement with Miller, under the New Miller Agreement the Company will pay all freights costs for shipping
products to its distributors from Eden, North Carolina.
The brewing services arrangements with breweries owned by others have historically allowed the Company to utilize excess capacity,
providing the Company flexibility, as well as quality and cost advantages over its competitors, while maintaining full control over the
brewing process for the Company’s beers. As the number of available breweries declines, the risks of disruption increases, and the
dynamics of the brewery strategy of ownership versus brewing in non-owned breweries changes. The Company believes that in the
future, a strategy involving more ownership could produce some improvement in operating and freight costs and greater security of
supply, but at a greater cost due to ownership and maintenance of fixed assets, as well as a greater investment in skills and capabilities in
order to manage and operate those fixed assets.

In 2007, the Company invested over $2.4 million in property, plant and equipment at the Cincinnati Brewery in order to maintain the
facilities and improve efficiencies. The Company brewed approximately 35% of its volume at the Cincinnati Brewery in 2007. While the
Cincinnati Brewery produces all of the Company’s beer styles, it is the primary brewery for the production of most of the Company’s
specialty and lower volume
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beers and hard cider production, as well as most of the flavored malt beverage production. The Company is evaluating further capital
investments in the Cincinnati Brewery to improve the brewery’s capacity, economics, capability and flexibility, as both an alternative and
a complement to the Company’s other brewery options.
During the third quarter of 2007, the Company entered into a Contract of Sale to purchase from Diageo North America, Inc. the
Pennsylvania Brewery for $55 million. During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company completed its due diligence phase and paid the
balance of a total deposit of $10 million. The Company expects to close on the purchase of the Pennsylvania Brewery and pay the
remaining $45 million of the purchase price in June 2008, barring any unforeseen circumstances. The Company anticipates that the
Pennsylvania Brewery will require substantial investment and renovation in order to brew the Company’s Samuel Adams® Craft Beers.
In addition to the purchase price of $55 million, the Company expects to have spent between $45 million and $55 million in capital
improvements and due diligence by the end of 2008. The Company anticipates spending a further $10 million to $15 million in 2009 to
get the facility in a position to brew and package up to 1.4 million barrels of the Company’s beers. The Company has also identified a
further $25 million to $35 million of projects which appear to have attractive return on investment or address increased capabilities that
the Company may choose to make during the next few years. If the Company decides to expand the capacity of the Pennsylvania Brewery
beyond 1.4 million barrels, additional capital would be needed. As of December 29, 2007, the Company has spent $2.1 million of this
capital plan. The Company currently expects that the facility will be partially operational for its brands during the summer of 2008.

The Company had previously been contemplating the construction of a brewery in Freetown, Massachusetts. As the probability of
proceeding on this site decreased due to entering into the Contract of Sale with Diageo for the Pennsylvania Brewery, the Company
determined that it was appropriate to write off in the second quarter of 2007 the $3.4 million that had been capitalized through June 30,
2007 on the Massachusetts brewery project. In August 2007, the Company purchased the land in Freetown, Massachusetts for
$6.0 million as protection against the possibility that the results of the due diligence on the Pennsylvania Brewery might prove
unsatisfactory. The Company has now concluded it will proceed with the Pennsylvania Brewery purchase, and in February 2008, placed
the land in Freetown, Massachusetts on the market.
The Company uses the Boston Brewery to develop new types of innovative and traditional products and to supply, in limited quantities,
beers for the local market. Product development entails researching market needs and competitive products, sample brewing and market
taste testing. All of the Company’s products are produced at the Boston Brewery in the course of each year.

The Company believes that it has secured sufficient alternatives in the event that production at any of its brewing locations is interrupted
or discontinued; however, the Company may not be able to maintain its current economics if such disruption were to occur. Potential
disruptions include quality issues, financial stability, contractual disputes or operational shut downs. As the brewing industry has
consolidated, the financial stability of the breweries where the Company brews has become a more significant concern. The Company
continues to work with all of its breweries to attempt to minimize any potential disruptions.

Competition
The Better Beer category within the United States beer market is highly competitive due to the large number of craft brewers with similar
pricing and target customers and gains in market share achieved by imported beers. The Company anticipates competition among
domestic craft brewers to remain strong, as craft brewers experienced their fourth successive year of growth in 2007. Imported beers, such
as Corona® and Heineken®, continue to compete aggressively in the United States. These import competitors may have substantially
greater financial resources, marketing strength and distribution networks than the Company. Large domestic brewers have also
developed, or are developing, niche brands within the Better Beer category, have acquired interests in or are exploring ownership or
partnerships with small brewers to compete with craft brewers, and/or have acquired interests in import brands to compete with imported
beers.
The Company also competes with other alcoholic beverages for drinker attention and consumption. In recent years, wines and spirits
have been competing more directly with beers. The Company monitors such activity
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and attempts to develop strategies which benefit from the drinker’s interest in trading up and position our beers competitively with wine

and spirits.
The Company competes with other beer and alcoholic beverage companies within a three-tier distribution system. The Company competes
for a share of the distributor’s attention, time and selling efforts. In retail establishments, the Company competes for shelf and tap space.
From a drinker perspective, competition exists for brand acceptance and loyalty. The principal factors of competition in the Better Beer
segment of the beer industry include product quality and taste, brand advertising, trade and drinker promotions, pricing, packaging, and
the development of new products.

The Company distributes its products through independent distributors who may also distribute competitors’ products. Certain brewers
have contracts with their distributors that impose requirements on distributors that are intended to maximize the wholesalers’ attention,
time and selling efforts on that brewer’s products. These contracts generally result in increased competition among brewers as the
contracts may affect the manner in which a distributor allocates selling effort and investment to the brands included in its portfolio. The
Company closely monitors these and other trends in its distributor network and works to develop programs and tactics intended to best
position its products in the market.
The Company has certain competitive advantages over the regional craft brewers, including a long history of awards for product quality,
greater available resources and the ability to distribute and promote its products on a more cost-effective basis. Additionally, the Company
believes it has competitive advantages over imported beers, including lower transportation costs, higher product quality, a lack of import
charges and superior product freshness.

The Company’s Twisted Tea® products compete within the FMB category of the Beer Industry. This category is highly competitive due
to, among other factors, the presence of large spirits companies, the advertising of malt-based spirits brands in channels not available to
the parent brands, and a fast pace of product innovation.
Alcoholic Beverage Regulation and Taxation

The manufacture and sale of alcoholic beverages is a highly regulated and taxed business. The Company’s operations are subject to more
restrictive regulations and increased taxation by federal, state, and local governmental entities than are those of non-alcohol related
beverage businesses. Federal, state, and local laws and regulations govern the production and distribution of beer, including permitting,
licensing, trade practices, labeling, advertising, marketing, distributor relationships, and related matters. Federal, state, and local
governmental entities also levy various taxes, license fees, and other similar charges and may require bonds to ensure compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. Failure by the Company to comply with applicable federal, state, or local laws and regulations could
result in higher taxes, penalties, fees, and suspension or revocation of permits, licenses or approvals. There can be no assurance that
other or more restrictive laws, regulations or higher taxes will not be enacted in the future.

Licenses and Permits
The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Boston Beer Corporation and Samuel Adams Brewery Company, Ltd., produces
its alcoholic beverages pursuant to a federal wholesaler’s basic permit, a federal brewer’s notice and a federal winery registration. Its
products are then sold by Boston Beer Corporation to distributors. Brewery and wholesale operations require various federal, state, and
local licenses, permits and approvals. In addition, some states prohibit any supplier, such as the Company, and/or wholesaler from
holding an interest in any retailer. Violation of such regulations can result in the loss or revocation of existing licenses by the wholesaler,
retailer and/or the supplier. The loss or revocation of any existing licenses, permits or approvals, and/or failure to obtain any additional or
new licenses, could have a material adverse effect on the ability of the Company to conduct its business.
At the federal level, the Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau of the U.S. Treasury Department (“TTB”) administers and enforces
the federal laws and tax code provisions related to the production and taxation of alcohol products. Brewers are required to file an amended
notice with the TTB in the event of a
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material change in the production processes, production equipment, brewery location, brewery management or brewery ownership. The
TTB permits and registrations can be suspended, revoked or otherwise adversely affected for failure to pay tax, keep proper accounts,
pay fees, bond premises, abide by federal alcoholic beverage production and distribution regulations, or to notify the TTB of any
material change. Permits, licenses and approvals from state regulatory agencies can be revoked for many of the same reasons. The
Company’s operations are subject to audit and inspection by the TTB at any time.
At the state and local level, some jurisdictions merely require notice of any material change in the operations, management or ownership of
the permit or license holder and others require advance approvals, requiring that new licenses, permits or approvals be applied for and
obtained in the event of a change in the management or ownership of the permit or license holder. State and local laws and regulations
governing the sale of malt beverages and hard cider within a particular state by an out-of-state brewer or wholesaler vary from locale to
locale.

Because of the many and various state and federal licensing and permitting requirements, there is a risk that one or more regulatory
agencies could determine that the Company has not complied with applicable licensing or permitting regulations or has not maintained the
approvals necessary for it to conduct business within its jurisdiction. There can be no assurance that any such regulatory action would
not have a material adverse effect upon the Company or its operating results. The Company is not aware of any infraction of any of its
licenses or permits which would materially impact its operations.

Taxation
The federal government and all of the states levy excise taxes on beer and hard cider. For brewers producing no more than 2.0 million
barrels of malt beverages per calendar year, the federal excise tax is $7.00 per barrel on the first 60,000 barrels of malt beverages removed
for consumption or sale during a calendar year, and $18.00 per barrel for each barrel in excess of 60,000. For brewers producing more
than 2.0 million barrels of malt beverages for domestic consumption in a calendar year, the federal excise tax is $18.00 per barrel for all
barrels produced. The Company has been able to take advantage of this reduced tax on the first 60,000 barrels of its malt beverages
produced. If the Company continues to grow its volumes, it anticipates that it could have to forgo this reduced tax benefit. Individual
states also impose excise taxes on alcoholic beverages in varying amounts, which have also been subject to change. The determination of
who is responsible, the Company or the distributor, to bear the liability of these taxes varies by state. Twisted Tea® is classified as a malt
beverage for federal excise tax purposes. In addition, the federal government and each of the states levy taxes on hard cider. The federal
excise tax rate on qualifying hard cider is $7.00 per barrel.

During the third quarter of 2007, the TTB performed a routine audit of the Company’s Cincinnati Brewery and other breweries where
some of the Company’s products are produced (the “TTB Audit”). In February 2008, the TTB formally disputed the Company’s
regulatory and tax treatment of certain of its 2006 and 2007 Twisted Tea shipments and the Company has received a notice of demand for
additional excise taxes plus interest and penalties of approximately $8.5 million. The TTB has asserted that these shipments were not
classified consistent with TTB regulations that took effect January 1, 2006. Based on the Company’s analysis to date, it believes that
most of its Twisted Tea shipments were in compliance with applicable regulations. The Company is in discussions with the TTB
regarding the differences in the methodologies used to ascertain regulatory compliance and expects these discussions to eventually include
potential settlement terms. While the Company believes settlement should be possible, the Company also believes that it has litigation
options available to it to dispute the TTB position. It is not possible to determine the ultimate outcome of these discussions or any future
litigation, but based on information available on December 29, 2007, the Company concluded that the range of possible outcomes was
between $3.9 million and $9.3 million. In the first quarter of 2008, the Company has continued to gather additional information and
refine its analysis and currently estimates that, if it does not pursue litigation, the potential expense could be as low as $1.8 million and
would not be expected to materially exceed the approximate $8.5 million which the TTB has assessed, after considering amounts the
Company has previously paid. The ultimate outcome of this matter could materially differ from the Company’s estimate. Based on the
information previously collected and its earlier assessment of likely outcomes, the Company recorded a provision of $3.9 million in the
third quarter. The Company
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continues to maintain this provision in its December 29, 2007 financial statements, related to this contingency. Twisted Tea shipments
were only minimally interrupted due to this matter.
Federal and state legislators routinely consider various proposals to impose additional excise taxes on the production and distribution of
alcoholic beverages, including beer and hard cider. Various states are also considering or have decided that FMB products should be taxed
differently than beer. Further increases in excise taxes on beer, FMB’s and/or hard cider, if enacted, could result in a general reduction in
sales for the affected products or in the profit realized from the sales of the affected products.

Trademarks
The Company has obtained United States Trademark Registrations for several trademarks, including Samuel Adams®, Sam Adams®,
the design logo of Samuel Adams®, Samuel Adams Boston Lager®, Samuel Adams Cherry Wheat®, Triple Bock®, Sam Adams
Light®, Twisted Tea® and HardCore ®. The Samuel Adams® trademark and the Samuel Adams Boston Lager® trademark (including the
design logo of Samuel Adams) and other Company trademarks are also registered or registration is pending in various foreign countries.
The Company regards its “Samuel Adams” family of trademarks and other trademarks as having substantial value and as being an
important factor in the marketing of its products. The Company is not aware of any trademark infringements that could materially affect
its current business or any prior claim to the trademarks that would prevent the Company from using such trademarks in its business.
The Company’s policy is to pursue registration of its marks whenever appropriate and to vigorously oppose any infringements of its
marks.

Environmental Regulations and Operating Considerations
The Company’s operations are subject to a variety of extensive and changing federal, state, and local environmental laws, regulations,
and ordinances that govern activities or operations that may have adverse effects on human health or the environment. Such laws,
regulations, or ordinances may impose liability for the cost of remediation, and for certain damages resulting from, sites of past releases
of hazardous materials. The Company believes that it currently conducts, and in the past has conducted, its activities and operations in
substantial compliance with applicable environmental laws, and believes that any costs arising from existing environmental laws will not
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations. However, there can be no assurance that
environmental laws will not become more stringent in the future or that the Company will not incur costs in the future in order to comply
with such laws.

The Company’s operations are subject to certain hazards and liability risks faced by all producers of alcoholic beverages, such as
potential contamination of ingredients or products by bacteria or other external agents that may be wrongfully or accidentally introduced
into products or packaging. The occurrence of such a problem could result in a costly product recall and serious damage to the
Company’s reputation for product quality, as well as give rise to product liability claims. The Company and the breweries where it brews
under contract maintain insurance which the Company believes is sufficient to cover any product liability claims which might result
from a contamination or other product liability with respect to its products.
As part of its efforts to be environmentally friendly, the Company has reused its glass bottles returned from certain states that have bottle
deposit bills. The Company believes that it benefits economically from washing and reusing these bottles which result in a lower cost than
purchasing new glass, and that it benefits the environment by the reduction in landfill usage, the reduction of usage of raw materials, and
the lower utility costs for reusing bottles versus producing new bottles. The economics of using recycled glass varies based on the cost of
collection, sorting and handling, and may be affected by local regulation, and retailer, distributor and glass dealer behavior. There is no
guarantee that the current economics of using returned glass will continue, nor that the Company will continue to do so.

Employees
As of December 29, 2007, the Company employed approximately 500 people, of which approximately 80 were covered by collective
bargaining agreements at the Cincinnati Brewery. The representation involves three labor unions, two of whose contracts were renegotiated
in 2007 and extended for 5 years. The Company
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believes it maintains a good working relationship with all three labor unions and has no reason to believe that the good working
relationship will not continue. The Company has experienced no work stoppages, or threatened work stoppages, and believes that its
employee relations are good.

The Company expects to complete the purchase of the Pennsylvania Brewery and anticipates that most, if not all, of Diageo’s current
employees at the facility will become employees of the Company. The Company currently expects the purchase of the Pennsylvania
Brewery will add over 200 employees. None of the employees at the Pennsylvania Brewery are currently covered by collective bargaining
agreements.
Other

The Company submitted the Section 12(a) CEO Certification to the New York Stock Exchange in accordance with the requirements of
Section 303A of the NYSE Listed Company Manual. This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains at Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 the
certifications of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, respectively, in accordance with the requirements of Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The Company makes available free of charge copies of its Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as
other reports required to be filed by Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, via the Internet at
www.bostonbeer.com, or upon written request to Investor Relations, The Boston Beer Company, Inc., One Design Center Place,
Suite 850, Boston, Massachusetts 02210.

Item 1A.

Risk Factors

In addition to the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, you should carefully consider the risks described below before
deciding to invest in shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock. These are risks and uncertainties that management believes are
most likely to be material and therefore are most important for an investor to consider. The Company’s business operations and results
may also be adversely affected by additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to it, or which it currently deems immaterial, or
which are similar to those faced by other companies in its industry or business in general. If any of the following risks or uncertainties
actually occurs, the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows would likely suffer. In that event, the
market price of the Company’s Class A Common Stock could decline.

The Company faces Substantial Competition.
The Better Beer category within the United States beer market is highly competitive, due to the large number of craft brewers with similar
pricing and target customers and gains in market share achieved by imported beers. The Company anticipates competition among
domestic craft brewers to remain strong as craft brewers experienced their fourth successive year of growth in 2007. Large domestic
brewers have developed or are developing niche brands within the Better Beer category and have acquired or are exploring acquiring
interests in small brewers to compete in the craft-brewed segment or in import brands to compete with imported beers. Imported beers,
such as Corona® and Heineken®, continue to compete aggressively in the United States beer market. Samuel Adams® is the third largest
brand in the Better Beer category of the United States brewing industry, trailing only Corona® and Heineken ®. The continued growth in
the sales of craft-brewed domestic beers and in imported beers is expected to increase the competition in the Better Beer category within the
United States beer market and, as a result, prices and market share of the Company’s products may fluctuate and possibly decline. No
assurance can be given that any decline in price would be offset by an increase in market share. The Company’s products, including its
Twisted Tea® products, also compete generally with other alcoholic beverages. The Company competes with other beer and beverage
companies not only for drinker acceptance and loyalty but also for shelf and tap space in retail establishments and for marketing focus
by the Company’s distributors and their customers, all of which also distribute and sell other beers and alcoholic beverage products.
Many of the Company’s competitors, including Corona® and Heineken ® and the large domestic brewers have substantially greater
financial resources, marketing strength and distribution networks than the Company. Moreover, the introduction of new products by
competitors that compete directly with the Company’s products, or that diminish the importance of the Company’s products to the
retailers or distributors may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, cash flows and financial position.
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The Potential Joint Venture Between SABMiller and Molson Coors Could Bring Added Pressures to Our Ability to Compete
In recent years, the beer industry has seen continued consolidation among brewers in order to take advantage of cost savings opportunities
for supplies, distribution and operations. If completed, the domestic joint venture project between SABMiller and Molson Coors will
make the combined brewer, MillerCoors, the second largest brewer in the United States, providing greater resources and a distribution
platform to compete more effectively. According to published reports, the MillerCoors joint venture is expected to bring an annual savings
of $500 million by the third year of the merger. Due to the increased leverage that the combined operation will have, the costs to the
Company of competing could increase and the availability of brewing capacity at other breweries could be reduced if any breweries were
closed by the joint venture. The potential also exists for MillerCoors to increase their influence with their distributors, making it difficult
for smaller brewers to maintain their market presence or enter new markets. These potential increases in costs to compete, reductions in
contract brewing capacity and decreases in distribution opportunities may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of
operations, cash flows and financial position.

There Is No Assurance of Continued Growth.
The Company’s future growth may be limited by both its ability to continue to increase its market share in domestic and international
markets, including those markets that may be dominated by one or more regional or local craft breweries, and by the growth in the craftbrewed beer market and the Better Beer market. The development of new products by the Company may lead to reduced sales in the
Company’s other products, including its flagship Samuel Adams Boston Lager®. The Company’s future growth may also be limited by
its ability to meet production goals for the Pennsylvania Brewery, as well as its ability to enter into new brewing contracts on
commercially acceptable terms or the availability of suitable production capacity, should production at the Pennsylvania Brewery miss
targets, and its ability to obtain sufficient quantities of certain ingredients and packaging materials, such as hops and bottles, from
suppliers. The Company’s current hop inventory levels are less than it would like, and any future disruption to hop supply, under
delivery of hop contracts or growth in sales beyond what is currently forecast could prevent the Company from meeting future demand.

The Unpredictability and Fluctuation of the Company’s Quarterly Results May Adversely Affect the Trading Price of Its
Common Stock. The Company’s Advertising and Promotional Investments May Not be Effective.
The Company’s revenues and results of operations have in the past and may in the future vary from quarter to quarter due to a number of
factors, many of which are outside of the Company’s control and any of which may cause its stock price to fluctuate. As a growthoriented Company, the Company has made, and expects to continue to make, significant advertising and promotional expenditures to
enhance its brands. These expenditures may not result in higher sales volume. Variations in the levels of advertising and promotional
expenditures have in the past caused, and are expected in the future to continue to cause, variability in the Company’s quarterly results of
operations. The Company has in the past made, and expects from time to time in the future to make, significant advertising and
promotional expenditures to enhance its brands even though those expenditures may adversely affect the Company’s results of operations
in a particular quarter or even for the full year, and may not result in increased sales. While the Company attempts to invest only in
effective advertising and promotional expenditures, it is difficult to correlate such investments with sales results, and there is no guarantee
that the Company’s expenditure will be effective in building brand equity or growing long term sales. In addition, the Company fills
orders from its wholesalers who may choose independently to build their inventories or run their inventories down. Such a change in
wholesaler inventories is somewhat unpredictable, and can lead to fluctuations in the Company’s quarterly or annual results.
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The Company’s Current Dependence on Brewing at Non-Owned Breweries Could Harm Its Business which Could Have A
Material Adverse Effect on the Company’s Operations or Financial Results.
Historically, the Company has pursued a strategy of combining brewery ownership with brewing at breweries owned by others. The
Company-owned breweries are located in Cincinnati, Ohio and Boston, Massachusetts and the Company currently brews under
agreements with breweries in Eden, North Carolina, Rochester, New York, Latrobe, Pennsylvania and La Crosse, Wisconsin. The
Company carefully selects breweries with (i) the capability of utilizing traditional brewing methods and (ii) first rate quality control
capabilities throughout brewing, fermentation, finishing and packaging. The brewing arrangements with other breweries have historically
allowed the Company to utilize their excess capacity, providing the Company flexibility as well as quality and cost advantages over its
competitors. However, higher than planned costs of operating under contract arrangement at breweries owned by others or an unexpected
decline in the brewing capacity available to the Company may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, cash
flows and financial position.
The Company continues to brew its Samuel Adams Boston Lager® at each of its brewing facilities, but at any particular time may rely on
only one supplier for its products other than Samuel Adams Boston Lager®. The Company believes that it has sufficient capacity options
that would allow for a shift in production locations if necessary, although it is unable to quantify any additional costs, capital or
operating, if any, that it might incur in securing access to such capacity.
Management believes that, in the event of a labor dispute, governmental action, a sudden closure of one of the breweries not owned by the
Company or other events that would prevent either the Cincinnati Brewery or any of the breweries under contract from producing the
Company’s beer, the Company would be able to shift production among breweries so as to meet demand for its beer. In such event,
however, the Company could experience temporary shortfalls in production and/or increased production or distribution costs, the
combination of which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, cash flows and financial position. A
simultaneous interruption at several of the Company’s production locations would likely cause significant disruption, increased costs
and, potentially, lost sales.

Should the Acquisition of the Pennsylvania Brewery Not Be Completed or Should There Be a Significant Delay in the Start Up
of the Brewery , the Company Will face Substantial Challenges Meeting Future Volume Demands, which Could Have A
Material Adverse Effect on the Company’s Operations or Financial Results.
Should the acquisition of the Pennsylvania Brewery not be completed or be delayed, the Company could face challenges in meeting future
volume demands, especially as demands for the Company’s products continue to grow. Any significant shortfalls in production or
significant delays in the start up of the Pennsylvania Brewery would likely cause significant disruptions in shipments, increased costs,
and, potentially, lost sales.

The Addition of the Pennsylvania Brewery Will Significantly Change the Company’s Operations. Owning a Larger Percentage
of Its Breweries has High Capital Costs, Creates a Larger Fixed Cost Burden on the Company’s Business, Requires Different
Management Skills and Capabilities, and has Greater Uncertainty as to Operating Costs.
The addition of the Pennsylvania Brewery will significantly change the direction of the Company’s operations from mainly brewing at
breweries owned by others to mainly brewing at Company-owned breweries. This change increases the capital required by the Company
to brew and package its beers and creates a more significant fixed-costs structure for the Company. The engineering, production
management and leadership skills required to operate a brewery are different from those required to work with breweries where beer is
brewed under contract with others, and will require the Company to hire and develop new skills and experience. The Company believes
that a shift to brewing at Company-owned breweries could bring operational savings, increased flexibility, greater reliability and better
quality control capabilities throughout brewing, fermentation, finishing and packaging, but that this shift will be accompanied by risks,
especially during the transition, and an increased cost of owning, maintaining and operating fixed assets. There is no
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certainty that the ultimate operating costs will be more favorable than the brewing strategy the Company has been using since its
inception.

In Addition to the Added Complexity in the Company’s Operations that will Arise From the Acquisition of the Pennsylvania
Brewery, the Management Pressures that Accompany the Company’s Growth May Also Exceed the Company’s Ability to
Manage the Growth and Implement Appropriate Internal Controls.
The combination of the Company’s recent high growth and its planned purchase of the Pennsylvania Brewery are increasing the operating
complexity of the business. There can be no assurance that the Company will effectively manage such increased complexity without
experiencing operating inefficiencies or control deficiencies. Such inefficiencies or deficiencies could have a material adverse effect on the
business.

The Company Is Dependent on Its Distributors.
In the United States, where approximately 99% of its beer is sold, the Company sells its beer to independent beer distributors for
distribution to retailers and ultimately drinkers. Although the Company currently has arrangements with approximately 400 wholesale
distributors, sustained growth will require it to maintain such relationships and possibly enter into agreements with additional
distributors. Changes in control or ownership of the current distribution network could lead to less support of the Company’s products.
No assurance can be given that the Company will be able to maintain or secure additional distributors on terms favorable to the
Company.
The Company’s distribution agreements are generally terminable by the distributor on short notice. While these distribution agreements
contain provisions regarding the Company’s enforcement and termination rights, some state laws prohibit the Company from exercising
these contractual rights. The Company’s ability to maintain its existing distribution agreements may be adversely affected by the fact that
many of its distributors are reliant on one of the major beer producers for a large percentage of their revenue and, therefore, they may be
influenced by such producers. If the Company’s existing distribution agreements are terminated, it may not be able to enter into new
distribution agreements on substantially similar terms, which may result in an increase in the costs of distribution.

The Company is Dependent on Key Suppliers, Including Foreign Sources; Its Dependence on Foreign Sources Creates
Foreign Currency Exposure for the Company; The Company’s Use of Natural Ingredients Creates Weather and Crop
Reliability Exposure for the Company.
The Company purchases a substantial portion of the raw materials used in the brewing of its products, including its malt and hops,
from a limited number of foreign and domestic suppliers. The Company purchased most of the malt used in the production of its beer
from one major supplier during 2007. The Company is exposed to the quality of the barley crop each year, and significant failure of a
crop would adversely affect the Company’s costs. The Company believes that there are other malt vendors available that are capable of
supplying its needs. The Company uses Noble hops for its Samuel Adams® lagers. Noble hops are varieties from several specific
growing areas recognized for superior taste and aroma properties and include Hallertau-Hallertauer, Tettnang-Tettnanger and Spalt-Spalter
from Germany. Noble hops are rare and more expensive than most other varieties of hops. Traditional English hops, namely, East Kent
Goldings and English Fuggles, are used in the Company’s ales. The Company enters into purchase commitments with two hops dealers,
based on the Company’s projected future volumes and brewing needs. The dealers then contract with farmers to ensure that the
Company’s needs are met. However, the performance and availability of the hops may be materially adversely affected by factors such as
adverse weather, the imposition of export restrictions (such as increased tariffs and duties) and changes in currency exchange rates
resulting in increased prices. The Company attempts to maintain over one year’s supply of essential hop varieties on-hand in order to
limit the risk of an unexpected reduction in supply. The 2007 crop shortfall and under delivery of 2007 hop contracts has reduced the
Company’s hop inventories such that a similarly poor 2008 hop crop might lead the Company to explore alternative sources of hops, and
any disruption of hop supply, under delivery of 2008 contracts or growth in sales in excess of forecast could lead the Company to be
unable to meet future demand. The Company stores its hops in multiple cold storage warehouses to minimize the impact of a catastrophe
at a
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single site. Hops and malt are agricultural products and therefore many outside factors, including weather conditions, farmers rotating out
of hops or barley to other crops, government regulations and legislation affecting agriculture, could affect both price and supply.
Historically, the Company has not experienced material difficulties in obtaining timely delivery from its suppliers. Although the
Company believes that there are alternate sources available for the ingredients and packaging materials, there can be no assurance that the
Company would be able to acquire such ingredients or packaging materials from substitute sources on a timely or cost effective basis in
the event that current suppliers could not adequately fulfill orders. The loss of a supplier could, in the short-term, adversely affect the
Company’s results of operations, cash flows and financial position until alternative supply arrangements were secured.

The Company’s contracts for hops are payable in Euros for German hops and in Pounds Sterling for English hops, and therefore, the
Company is subject to the risk that the Euro or Pound may continue to rise against the U.S. dollar, as has been the case over the last
several years. The Company has, as a practice, not hedged this exposure, although this practice is subject to review. Significant adverse
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows and financial
position. Currently, the cost of hops is approximately 10% of the Company’s product cost. The cost of hops has greatly increased in
recent years due to exchange rate changes and the rising market price of hops, and continuation of these trends will impact the Company’s
product cost and potentially the Company’s ability to meet demand.

An Increase in Packaging Costs Could Harm the Company’s Business.
The Company maintains multiple sources for the supply of most of its packaging materials, such as shipping cases, six-pack carriers
and crowns. Historically, glass and labels are each supplied by a single source. In 2007, the Company entered into a long term supply
agreement with Anchor. This agreement calls for Anchor to be the exclusive supplier of glass bottles for the Company’s Cincinnati
Brewery and the Pennsylvania Brewery, if the acquisition of that brewery is consummated, beginning January 1, 2009 and establishes
the terms on which Anchor may supply glass bottles to other breweries where the Company brews its beers.
Although the Company believes that alternative suppliers are available, the loss of either the Company’s glass or other packaging
materials suppliers could, in the short-term, adversely affect the Company’s results of operations, cash flows and financial position until
alternative supply arrangements were secured. If packaging costs continue to increase, there is no guarantee that such costs can be fully
passed along to drinkers through increased prices. The Company has entered into long-term supply agreements for certain packaging
materials that have shielded it from some cost increases. These contracts have varying length and terms and there is no guarantee that the
economics of these contracts can be duplicated at time of renewal. This could expose the Company to significant cost increases in future
years.

The Company initiates bottles deposits and reuses some of the glass bottles that are returned pursuant to certain state bottle recycling laws
and derives some economic benefit from this practice. The cost associated with reusing the glass varies, based on the costs of collection,
sorting and handling, including arrangements with retailers, wholesalers and dealers in recycled products. The Company believes that it
benefits economically from cleaning and reusing these bottles, which result in a lower cost than purchasing new glass, and that it benefits
the environment by the reduction in landfill usage, the reduction of usage of raw materials, and the lower utility costs for reusing bottles
versus producing new bottles. The economics of using recycled glass varies based on the cost of collection, sorting and handling, and
may be affected by local regulation, and retailer, distributor and glass dealer behavior. There is no guarantee that the current economics of
using returned glass will continue, or that the Company will continue to do so.

An Increase in Energy Costs Could Harm the Company’s Business.
In the last four years, the Company has experienced significant increases in direct and indirect energy costs, and energy costs could
continue to rise, which would result in higher transportation, freight and other operating costs, including increases in the cost of supplies.
The Company’s future operating expenses and
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margins will be dependent on its ability to manage the impact of cost increases. If energy costs continue to increase, there is no guarantee
that such costs can be fully passed along to drinkers through increased prices.

The Company’s Operations are Subject to Certain Operating Hazards.
The Company’s operations are subject to certain hazards and liability risks faced by all brewers, such as potential contamination of
ingredients or products by bacteria or other external agents that may be wrongfully or accidentally introduced into products or packaging.
While the Company has not experienced any serious contamination problem in its products, the occurrence of such a problem could
result in a costly product recall and serious damage to the Company’s reputation for product quality, as well as claims for product
liability.

The Company is Subject to Existing and Potential Additional Regulation and Taxation, which Can Impose Burdens on Its
Operations and Narrow the Markets for Its Products.
The manufacture and sale of alcoholic beverages is a business that is highly regulated and taxed at the federal, state and local levels. The
Company’s operations may be subject to more restrictive regulations and increased taxation by federal, state and local governmental
agencies than are those of non-alcohol related businesses. For instance, brewery and wholesale operations require various federal, state and
local licenses, permits and approvals. In addition, some states prohibit wholesalers and retailers from holding an interest in any supplier
such as the Company. Violation of such regulations can result in the loss or revocation of existing licenses by the wholesaler, retailer
and/or the supplier. The loss or revocation of any existing licenses, permits or approvals, failure to obtain any additional or new licenses,
permits or approvals or the failure to obtain approval for the transfer of any existing permits or licenses, could have a material adverse
effect on the ability of the Company to conduct its business. Because of the many and various state and federal licensing and permitting
requirements, there is a risk that one or more regulatory authorities could determine that the Company has not complied with applicable
licensing or permitting regulations, paid the appropriate excise taxes or does not maintain the approvals necessary for it to conduct
business within their jurisdictions. There can be no assurance that any such regulatory action would not have a material adverse effect
upon the Company or its operating results.
In addition, if federal or state excise taxes are increased, the Company may have to raise prices to maintain present profit margins. The
Company does not necessarily believe that a price increase due to increased taxes will reduce unit sales, but the actual effect will depend
on the amount of any increase, general economic conditions and other factors. Higher taxes may reduce overall demand for beer, thus
negatively impacting sales of the Company’s products.

Further federal or state regulation may be forthcoming that could limit distribution and sales of alcohol products. Such regulation might
reduce the Company’s ability to sell its products at retail and at wholesale and could severely impact the Company’s business.

The Company is Under Audit by the TTB and has Received a Notice of Demand for $8.5 Million. The Exact Outcome of this
Matter is Currently Unknown.
During the third quarter of 2007, the TTB performed a routine audit of the Company’s Cincinnati Brewery and other breweries where
some of the Company’s products are produced (the “TTB Audit”). In February 2008, the TTB formally disputed the Company’s
regulatory and tax treatment of certain of its 2006 and 2007 Twisted Tea shipments and the Company has received a notice of demand for
additional excise taxes plus interest and penalties of approximately $8.5 million. The TTB has asserted that these shipments were not
classified consistent with TTB regulations that took effect January 1, 2006. Based on the Company’s analysis to date, it believes that
most of its Twisted Tea shipments were in compliance with applicable regulations. The Company is in discussions with the TTB
regarding the differences in the methodologies used to ascertain regulatory compliance and expects these discussions to eventually include
potential settlement terms. While the Company believes settlement should be possible, the Company also believes that it has litigation
options available to it to dispute the TTB position. It is not possible to determine the ultimate outcome of these discussions or any future
litigation, but based on information available on December 29, 2007, the Company
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concluded that the range of possible outcomes was between $3.9 million and $9.3 million. In the first quarter of 2008 the Company has
continued to gather additional information and refine its analysis and currently estimates that, if it does not pursue litigation, the potential
expense could be as low as $1.8 million and would not be expected to materially exceed the approximate $8.5 million which the TTB has
assessed, after considering amounts the Company has previously paid. The ultimate outcome of this matter could materially differ from
the Company’s estimate. Based on the information previously collected and its earlier assessment of likely outcomes, the Company
recorded a provision of $3.9 million in the third quarter. The Company continues to maintain this provision in its December 29, 2007
financial statements, related to this contingency. Twisted Tea shipments were only minimally interrupted due to this matter.

Changes in Public Attitudes and Drinker Tastes Could Harm the Company’s Business.
The alcoholic beverage industry has become the subject of considerable societal and political attention in recent years due to increasing
public concern over alcohol-related social problems, including drunk driving, underage drinking and health consequences from the
misuse of alcohol, including alcoholism. As an outgrowth of these concerns, the possibility exists that advertising by beer producers
could be restricted, that additional cautionary labeling or packaging requirements might be imposed, that further restrictions on the sale of
alcohol might be imposed, or that there may be renewed efforts to impose increased excise or other taxes on beer sold in the United States.
The domestic beer industry, other than Better Beers, has experienced a slight decline in shipments over the last ten years. The Company
believes that this slower growth is due to both declining alcohol consumption per person in the population and increased competition from
wine and spirits companies. If beer consumption in general were to come into disfavor among domestic drinkers, or if the domestic beer
industry were subjected to significant additional governmental regulations, the Company’s business could be materially adversely
affected.

The Company Has Been Involved in Various Litigation Matters. There Is No Guarantee that Other Litigation Will Not Develop
that Could Harm the Company’s Business.
The Company, along with numerous other beverage alcohol producers, was named as a defendant in a number of class action law suits
in several states relating to advertising practices and under-age consumption. Each complaint contained substantially the same allegations
that each defendant marketed its products to under-age drinkers and seeks an injunction and unspecified money damages on behalf of a
class of parents and guardians. Two of the complaints have been withdrawn by the plaintiffs and all of the other active complaints have
been dismissed with prejudice. Although the plaintiffs appealed each of those dismissals, they have withdrawn all pending appeals.

The Company had been in litigation with its liability insurers relating to the coverage of defense costs in connection with the abovereferenced complaints. The parties entered into a settlement agreement in November 2007 that settled all claims asserted by each of the
parties. The complaints filed with the U.S. District Court in Ohio and with the Suffolk County Superior Court in Massachusetts have
subsequently been dismissed.
While the Company believes it conducts its business appropriately in accordance with laws, regulations and industry guidelines, further
litigation in addition to the above could develop and might severely impact the Company’s results.

Class B Shareholder Has Significant Influence over the Company.
The Company’s Class A Common Stock is not entitled to any voting rights, except for the right as a class to approve certain mergers and
charter and by-law amendments and to elect a minority of the directors of the Company. Consequently, the election of a majority of the
Company’s directors and all other matters requiring stockholder approval are decided by C. James Koch, Chairman of the Board of
Directors of the Company, as the current holder of 100% of the Class B Common Stock. As a result, Mr. Koch is able to exercise
substantial influence over all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the composition of the board of directors and approval of
equity-based and other executive compensation and other significant corporate matters. This
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could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control of the Company and will make most transactions difficult or
impossible to accomplish without the support of Mr. Koch.

Continued Health of our Brands, and Role of our Founder in the Samuel Adams® Brand Communication
There is no guarantee that the brand equities that the Company has built in its brands will continue to appeal to drinkers. Changes in
drinker attitudes or demands could severely affect the strength of the brands and the revenue that is generated from that strength. It is
possible that the Company could react to such changes and reposition the brands, but there is no certainty that the Company would be
able to maintain volumes, pricing power and profitability. It is also possible that marketing messages or other actions taken by the
Company could damage the brand equities as opposed to building them. If such damage should occur, it could have a negative effect on
the financial condition of the Company.

In addition to these inherent brand risks, the founder and Chairman of the Company, C. James Koch, is an integral part of the
Company’s current Samuel Adams® brand message. The role of Mr. Koch as founder, brewer and leader of the Company, is emphasized
as part of the Company’s brand communication and has appeal to some drinkers. If Mr. Koch were not available to the Company to
continue his active role, his absence could detrimentally affect the strength of the Company’s messaging and, accordingly, the
Company’s growth prospects. If this were to occur, the Company might need to adapt its strategy for communicating its key messages
regarding its traditional brewing processes, brewing heritage and quality. This might have a detrimental impact on the future growth of the
Company.

Item 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments

The Company has not received any written comments from the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission regarding the
Company’s periodic or current reports that (1) the Company believes are material, (2) were issued not less than 180 days before the end of
the Company’s 2007 fiscal year, and (3) remain unresolved.

Item 2.

Properties

The Company maintains its principal corporate offices and a brewery in Boston, Massachusetts, a brewery in Cincinnati, Ohio, and two
smaller sales offices in California. The Company expects to close on the purchase of the Pennsylvania Brewery in June 2008, barring any
unforeseen circumstances. In 2007, the Company purchased land in Freetown, Massachusetts, for a purchase price of $6.0 million. The
Company has now concluded it will proceed with the Pennsylvania Brewery purchase, and in February 2008, placed the land in
Freetown, Massachusetts on the market. The Company believes that its facilities are adequate for its current needs and that suitable
additional space will be available on commercially acceptable terms as required.

Item 3.

Legal Proceedings

The Company, along with numerous other beverage alcohol producers, was named as a defendant in a number of class action law suits
in several states relating to advertising practices and under-age consumption. Each complaint contained substantially the same allegations
that each defendant marketed its products to under-age drinkers and seeks an injunction and unspecified money damages on behalf of a
class of parents and guardians. Two of the complaints have been withdrawn by the plaintiffs and all of the other active complaints have
been dismissed with prejudice. Although the plaintiffs appealed each of those dismissals, they have withdrawn all pending appeals.

The Company had been in litigation with its liability insurers relating to the coverage of defense costs in connection with the abovereferenced complaints. The parties entered into a confidential settlement agreement and release in November 2007, pursuant to which all
claims asserted by each of the parties were settled. The complaints filed in Ohio and Massachusetts have subsequently been dismissed.
The Company is not a party to any other pending or threatened litigation, the outcome of which would be expected to have a material
adverse effect on its financial condition or the results of its operations.
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Item 4.

Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

In December 2007, the sole holder of the Company’s Class B Common Stock (i) approved the action of the Company’s Compensation
Committee in setting the 2008 bonus opportunities for the Company’s CEO and (ii) approved an amendment to the Company’s Employee
Equity Incentive Plan (the “EEIP”) to increase the number of shares of Class A Common Stock subject to the EEIP by 1,000,000 shares.
There were no other matters submitted to a vote of the holders of Class A or Class B Common Stock of the Company during the fourth
quarter ended December 29, 2007.

PART II

Item 5.

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The Company’s Class A Common Stock is listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange. The Company’s NYSE symbol is
SAM. For the fiscal periods indicated, the high and low per share sales prices for the Class A Common Stock of The Boston Beer
Company, Inc. as reported on the New York Stock Exchange-Composite Transaction Reporting System were as follows:
Fiscal 2007

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
Fiscal 2006

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

High

Low

$ 36.23
$ 41.33
$ 49.73
$55.30

$ 30.80
$ 32.07
$38.86
$ 31.00

High

Low

$ 27.50
$29.45
$ 33.99
$ 37.50

$ 24.75
$25.55
$ 28.00
$ 30.80

There were 15,452 holders of record of the Company’s Class A Common Stock as of March 7, 2008. Excluded from the number of
stockholders of record are stockholders who hold shares in “nominee” or “street” name. The closing price per share of the Company’s
Class A Common Stock as of March 7, 2008 as reported under the New York Stock Exchange-Composite Transaction Reporting
System, was $34.15.

Class A Common Stock
At December 29, 2007, the Company had 22,700,000 authorized shares of Class A Common Stock with a par value of $.01, of which
10,095,573 were issued and outstanding. The Class A Common Stock has no voting rights, except (1) as required by law, (2) for the
election of Class A Directors, and (3) that the approval of the holders of the Class A Common Stock is required for (a) future
authorizations or issuances of additional securities which have rights senior to Class A Common Stock, (b) alterations of rights or terms
of the Class A or Class B Common Stock as set forth in the Articles of Organization of the Company, (c) certain other amendments of the
Articles of Organization of the Company, (d) certain mergers or consolidations with, or acquisitions of, other entities, and (e) sales or
dispositions of any significant portion of the Company’s assets.

Class B Common Stock
At December 29, 2007, the Company had 4,200,000 authorized shares of Class B Common Stock with a par value of $.01, of which
4,107,355 shares were issued and outstanding. The Class B Common Stock has full voting rights, including the right to (1) elect a
majority of the members of the Company’s Board of Directors and (2) approve all (a) amendments to the Company’s Articles of
Organization, (b) mergers or consolidations with, or acquisitions of, other entities, (c) sales or dispositions of any significant portion of
the Company’s
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assets and (d) equity-based and other executive compensation and other significant corporate matters. The Company’s Class B Common
Stock is not listed for trading. Each share of Class B Common Stock is freely convertible into one share of Class A Common Stock,
upon request of any Class B holder.

As of March 7, 2008, C. James Koch was the sole holder of record of all the Company’s issued and outstanding Class B Common
Stock.

The holders of the Class A and Class B Common Stock are entitled to dividends, on a share-for-share basis, only if and when declared
by the Board of Directors of the Company out of funds legally available for payment thereof. Since its inception, the Company has not
paid dividends and does not currently anticipate paying dividends on its Class A or Class B Common Stock in the foreseeable future.

Repurchases of the Registrants Class A Common Stock
As of December 29, 2007, the Company has repurchased a cumulative total of approximately 8.0 million shares of its Class A Common
Stock for an aggregate purchase price of $98.7 million. On December 11, 2007, the Board of Directors of the Company increased the
aggregate expenditure limit from $100.0 million to $110.0 million. As of December 29, 2007, the Company had $11.3 million remaining
on the $110.0 million share buyback expenditure limit.
During the twelve months ended December 29, 2007, the Company repurchased 184,807 shares of its Class A Common Stock as
illustrated in the table below:

Period

December 31, 2006 to February 3, 2007
February 4, 2007 to March 3, 2007
March 4, 2007 to March 31, 2007
April 1, 2007 to May 5, 2007
May 6, 2007 to June 2, 2007
June 3, 2007 to June 30, 2007
July 1, 2007 to August 4, 2007
August 5, 2007 to September 1, 2007
September 2, 2007 to September 29, 2007
September 30, 2007 to November 3, 2007
November 4, 2007 to December 1, 2007
December 2, 2007 to December 29, 2007
Total

Total
Number of
Shares
Purchased

—
—
268
560

Average
Price Paid

per Share

—
—

138,000

33.01
33.44

44,500
138,000

184,807

$ 33.12

182,500

322

—
—
12.61
14.97
17.15
19.96
—
17.04

Approximate Dollar

Value of Shares
that May Yet be
Purchased
Under the
Plans or Programs

Plans or
Programs

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

196
—
941
—
—
44,520

$

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as
Part of Publicly
Announced

$

$

7,396,644
7,396,644
7,396,644
7,396,644
7,396,644
7,396,644
7,396,644
7,396,644
7,396,644
7,396,644
5,927,774
11,313,404
11,313,404

Of the shares that were purchased during the period, 2,307 shares represent repurchases of unvested investment shares issued under the
Investment Share Program of the Company’s Employee Equity Incentive Plan.
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Item 6.

Selected Consolidated Financial Data
Year Ended
Dec. 31
Dec. 29
Dec. 30
2005
Dec. 25
Dec. 27
2007
2006
(53 weeks)
2004
2003
(In thousands, except per share and net revenue per barrel data)

Income Statement Data:
Revenue
Less excise taxes

Net revenue
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Advertising, promotional and selling expenses
General and administrative expenses
Write-off of brewery costs
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Other income, net
Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income

Net income per share — basic
Net income per share — diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding — basic
Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted

Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital
Total assets
Total long-term obligations
Total stockholders’ equity

$ 380,575
38,928
341,647
152,288
189,359

$ 315,250
29,819
285,431
121,155
164,276

$263,255
24,951

124,457
24,574

100,870

152,474
36,885
4,759
41,644
19,153
$ 22,491
$
1.58
$
1.53
14,193
14,699

113,669
22,657
—
136,326
27,950
3,816
31,766
13,574
$ 18,192
$
1.31
$
1.27
13,900
14,375

$ 77,736
$195,855
$
4,210
$ 133,588

$ 79,692
$ 154,475
$ 5,016
$ 108,589

3,443

Statistical Data:
Barrels sold
Net revenue per barrel

Item 7.

$

1,876
182

$

1,612
177

$ 239,680
22,472
217,208
87,973
129,235

$ 230,103
22,158
207,945
85,606
122,339

17,288
—
118,158
23,316
2,203
25,519
9,960
$ 15,559
$
1.10
$
1.07
14,126
14,516

94,913
14,837
—
109,750
19,485
593
20,078
7,576
$ 12,502
$
0.89
$
0.86
14,126
14,518

91,841
14,628
—
106,469
15,870
1,104
16,974
6,416
$ 10,558
$
0.72
$
0.70
14,723
15,000

$ 60,450
$ 119,054
$ 4,336
$ 85,979

$ 61,530
$ 107,462
$ 2,854
$ 78,370

$ 45,920
$ 87,354
$ 2,931
$ 62,524

238,304

96,830
141,474

$

1,364
175

$

1,267
171

$

1,236
168

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

In this Form 10-K and in other documents incorporated herein, as well as in oral statements made by the Company, statements that are
prefaced with the words “may,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “continue,” “estimate,” “project,” “intend,” “designed,” and similar
expressions, are intended to identify forward-looking statements regarding events, conditions, and financial trends that may affect the
Company’s future plans of operations, business strategy, results of operations, and financial position. These statements are based on the
Company’s current expectations and estimates as to prospective events and circumstances about which the Company can give no firm
assurance. Further, any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made, and the Company
undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect future events or circumstances. Forward-looking statements
should not be relied upon as a prediction of actual future financial condition or results. These forward-looking statements, like any
forward-looking statements, involve risks and uncertainties that
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could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected or unanticipated. Such risks and uncertainties include the factors set
forth above and the other information set forth in this Form 10-K.
Introduction and Outlook

The Boston Beer Company is engaged in the business of producing and selling low alcohol beverages primarily in the domestic market
and, to a lesser extent, in selected international markets. The Company’s revenues are derived by selling its products to distributors, who
in turn sell the product through to retailers and drinkers.
The Company’s products compete in the “Better Beer” category, which includes imported beers and Craft Beers. This category has seen
high single-digit compounded annual growth over the past ten years. Defining factors for Better Beer include superior quality, image and
taste, supported by appropriate pricing. The Company believes that the Better Beer category is positioned to increase market share as
drinkers continue to trade up in taste and quality. In 2007, growth of the Craft Beer category was approximately 12%, and the Better Beer
category grew 2 to 3% while the total beer category grew 1 to 2%. The Better Beer category now comprises approximately 19% of domestic
beer consumption. The Company believes that significant opportunity to gain market share continues to exist for the Better Beer category.

Shipments and orders in-hand suggest that core shipments for the first fiscal quarter of 2008 could be up approximately 10% as
compared to the same period in 2007. Actual shipments may differ, however, and no inferences should be drawn with respect to
shipments in future periods. January and preliminary February 2008 depletions, or sales by the wholesalers to retailers, are estimated to
be up approximately 14% over 2007 benefiting from an extra selling day. While there is no guarantee that these trends will continue, the
Company is encouraged by the strong start to 2008. The Company’s 2008 plan calls for depletion growth in the low double digits, which
is lower than the 2007 trends. The Company’s pricing plans include an overall 5% increase, which the Company believes is attainable
given current market conditions.

Based on current known information, the Company is facing overall production cost increases in 2008 estimated to be between 12% and
16% over full year 2007. Of these estimated increases, approximately 7% are expected to be driven by malt and hops cost increases,
approximately 1% by package material cost increases, and approximately 3% is anticipated due to the costs of starting up the
Pennsylvania Brewery. In addition, potential incremental costs associated with contract brewers account for 2% of the estimated increase
and increased depreciation cost due to significant keg purchases to support our on-premise growth could contribute another 2%. These
cost increases may be somewhat offset by the Company’s plans for price increases of 5%, but the Company anticipates that 2008 gross
margin could be down three percentage points below full year 2007. The Company believes that its 2008 effective tax rate will be
approximately 42%. Based upon these assumptions, 2008 earnings per diluted share are expected to be between $1.70 and $2.00, absent
any significant change in the currently planned levels of brand support or any unexpected costs related to the Pennsylvania Brewery
acquisition and start-up. Current plans for 2008 are to increase brand support by $10.0 to $13.0 million including freight expense to
wholesalers. The Company’s ability to achieve this type of earnings growth in 2008 is dependent on its ability to achieve challenging
targets for volume, pricing and costs and the successful start-up of the Pennsylvania Brewery. The Company continues to pursue cost
savings initiatives and pricing opportunities and hopes to preserve its economics to allow for continued support of its brands with
appropriate investment in order to grow volume and earnings.
During the third quarter of 2007, the Company entered into a Contract of Sale to purchase from Diageo North America, Inc. the
Pennsylvania Brewery for $55 million. During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company completed its due diligence phase and paid the
balance of a total deposit of $10 million. The Company expects to close on the purchase of the Pennsylvania Brewery in June 2008,
barring any unforeseen circumstances. The Company anticipates that the Pennsylvania Brewery will require substantial investment and
renovation in order to brew the Company’s Samuel Adams® Craft Beers. In addition to the purchase price of $55 million, the Company
expects to have spent between $45 million and $55 million in capital improvements and due diligence by the end of 2008. The Company
anticipates spending a further $10 million to $15 million in 2009 to get the facility in a position to brew and package up to 1.4 million
barrels of the Company’s beers. The Company has also identified a further $25 million to $35 million of projects which appear to have
attractive return on investment or address increased capabilities that the Company may choose to make during the next few years. If the
Company decides
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to expand the capacity of the Pennsylvania Brewery beyond 1.4 million barrels, additional capital would be needed. As of December 29,
2007, the Company has spent $2.1 million of this capital plan. The Company currently expects that the facility will be partially
operational for its brands during the summer of 2008.

The Company had previously been contemplating the construction of a brewery in Freetown, Massachusetts. As the probability of
proceeding on this site decreased due to entering into the Contract of Sale with Diageo for the Pennsylvania Brewery, the Company
determined that it was appropriate to write off in the second quarter of 2007 the $3.4 million that had been capitalized through June 30,
2007 on the Massachusetts brewery project. In August 2007, the Company purchased the land in Freetown, Massachusetts for
$6.0 million as protection against the possibility that the results of the due diligence on the Pennsylvania Brewery might prove
unsatisfactory. The Company has now concluded it will proceed with the Pennsylvania Brewery purchase, and in February 2008, placed
the land in Freetown, Massachusetts on the market.
The Company currently estimates total capital expenditures in 2008 to be between $110.0 and $125.0 million, of which $45 million is
the balance of the Pennsylvania Brewery purchase price, and $45 to $55 million relates to capital expenditures necessary to restart and
upgrade the Pennsylvania Brewery. Approximately $15 million will be utilized to purchase kegs to support continuing growth,
approximately $3 to $5 million may be used to upgrade the brewery in Cincinnati, Ohio, and $2 to $3 million will be for investments in
technology and other miscellaneous capital investments. The Company’s capital investment would be significantly higher if other major
brewery investment projects were initiated. As of March 10, 2008 the Company has increased its existing line of credit from $20 million
to $50 million and has no borrowings outstanding. The Company expects that its cash and investment balances as of December 29,
2007 of $95.5 million along with future operating cash flow and the line of credit will be sufficient to fund future cash requirements.

Results of Operations
Boston Beer’s flagship product is Samuel Adams Boston Lager®. For purposes of this discussion, Boston Beer’s “core brands” include
all products sold under the Samuel Adams®, Sam Adams®, Twisted Tea® and HardCore ® trademarks. “Core brands” do not include
the products brewed at the Cincinnati Brewery under contract arrangements for third parties. Volume produced under contract
arrangements is referred to below as “non-core products.”
The following table sets forth certain items included in the Company’s consolidated statements of income as a percentage of net revenue:
Year Ended

Dec. 31
Dec. 29
2007

Dec. 30

2005

2006

(53 weeks)

Barrels Sold (in thousands)

1,876

1,612

1,364

Net revenue
Cost of goods sold
Gross Profit
Advertising, promotional and selling expenses
General and administrative expenses
Write-off of brewery costs
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Interest income, net
Other income, net
Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income

100.00%
44.6%

100.00%
42.4%

100.00%
40.6%

55.4%
36.4%
7.2%

59.4%

1.2%

57.6%
39.8%
7.9%
—
47.8%
9.8%
1.1%

0.1%
12.1%
5.6%
6.5%

0.2%
11.1%
4.8%
6.4%

Percentage of Net Revenue

1.0%
44.6%
10.8%
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42.3%
7.3%

—
49.6%
9.8%
0.7%
0.2%
10.7%
4.2%
6.5%
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Year Ended December 29, 2007 (52 weeks) Compared to Year Ended December 30, 2006 (52 weeks)
Net revenue. Net revenue increased by $56.2 million or 19.7% to $341.6 million for the year ended December 29, 2007 as compared to
$285.4 million for the year ended December 30, 2006, due to an 18.8% increase in shipment volume and a 2.8% increase in net revenue
per barrel.

Volume. Volume increased by 0.3 million barrels or 18.8% to 1.9 million barrels for the year ended December 29, 2007 as compared to
1.6 million barrels for the year ended December 30, 2006. The increase in volume was primarily attributable to increases in the Samuel
Adams® brand family. The growth in the Samuel Adams® brand family was driven by double-digit growth rates in Samuel Adams®
Seasonals and Brewmaster’s Collection and single-digit growth rates in Sam Adams Light® and Samuel Adams Boston Lager®.
The Company believes wholesaler inventory levels at the end of the fourth quarter of 2007 were at appropriate levels given the current
volume and trends.

Net selling price. The selling price per barrel increased by approximately 2.8% to $182.11 per barrel for the year ended December 29,
2007, as compared to $177.07 for the year ended December 30, 2006. This increase was primarily driven by price increases, offset by
the $3.9 million provision for excise tax recorded in the third quarter related to the TTB audit and a shift in the package mix from cases
to kegs.
Significant changes in the package mix could have a material effect on net revenue. The Company packages its core brands in kegs and
bottles. Assuming the same level of production, a shift in the mix from bottles to kegs would effectively decrease revenue per barrel, as the
price per equivalent barrel is lower for kegs than for bottles. The percentage of bottles to total shipments decreased by 0.5% point in core
brands to 72.7% of total shipments for the year ended December 29, 2007 as compared to 2006.

Gross profit. Gross profit was $100.94 per barrel or 55.4% as a percentage of net revenue for the year ended December 29, 2007, as
compared to $101.91 or 57.6% for the year ended December 30, 2006. The decrease in gross profit per barrel is primarily due to increase
in cost of goods sold per barrel as compared to the prior year and the provision for excise tax related to the TTB audit, partially offset by
price increases.

Cost of goods sold increased to $81.18 per barrel or 44.6% as a percentage of net revenue as compared to $75.16 per barrel or 42.4% as a
percentage of net revenue in the prior year. The increase is primarily due to higher packaging material and ingredient costs and the increase
in other processing costs at our Cincinnati Brewery as compared to 2006.
The Company includes freight charges related to the movement of finished goods from manufacturing locations to distributor locations in
its advertising, promotional and selling expense line item. As such, the Company’s gross margins may not be comparable to other entities
that classify costs related to distribution differently.

Advertising, promotional and selling. Advertising, promotional and selling expenses increased by $10.8 million or 9.5% to
$124.5 million for the year ended December 29, 2007, as compared to the prior year. The increase is primarily due to increases in
advertising, marketing and promotional expenditures of $6.5 million, freight costs of $3.3 million and salaries and benefits (including
stock based compensation) of $2.1 million. The Company will invest in advertising and promotional campaigns that it believes are
effective, but there is no guarantee that such investments will generate sales growth.

The Company conducts certain advertising and promotional activities in its wholesalers’ markets, and the wholesalers make
contributions to the Company for such efforts. These amounts are included in the Company’s statement of operations as reductions to
advertising, promotional and selling expenses. Historically, contributions from wholesalers for advertising and promotional activities have
amounted to between 2% and 4% of net sales. The Company may adjust its promotional efforts in the wholesalers’ markets if changes
occur in these promotional contribution arrangements, depending on the industry and market conditions.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses increased by $1.9 million or 8.3% to $24.6 million in 2007 as
compared to 2006, primarily due to increases in salaries and benefits of $2.5 million offset by a $0.9 million reimbursement of prior
period legal costs due to a settlement reached in the fourth quarter.
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Write-off of Brewery Costs. During the second quarter, the Company incurred a $3.4 million write-off of capitalized costs related to the
Freetown, Massachusetts brewery project. The Company concluded that the likelihood of this project significantly diminished as the
Company’s negotiations with Diageo North America progressed and ultimately culminated in the completion of the Contract of Sale for the
brewery owned by Diageo in Lehigh Valley, Pennsylvania.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense. Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) No. 123R, Share-Based Payment , which generally requires recognition in financial statements of share-based compensation
costs based on fair value of the awards. Further discussion on the effect of adoption is presented in the results of operations comparing
fiscal 2006 to fiscal 2005.
For the year ended December 29, 2007, an aggregate of $3.1 million in stock-based compensation expense is included in advertising,
promotional and selling expense and general and administrative expenses, as compared to $2.8 million in 2006. Stock-based
compensation expense increased $0.3 million in 2007 as compared to 2006 due to more option grants during 2007, as well as an increase
in the fair value of those options.

On January 1, 2008, the Company granted the Chief Executive Officer an option to purchase 753,864 shares of its Class A Common
Stock, which vest over a five-year period, commencing on January 1, 2014, at the rate of 20% per year. The Company calculated the
aggregate fair value of the option grant to be $6.3 million, of which it expects to recognize $0.7 million in 2008.

Interest income. Interest income increased by $1.2 million to $4.3 million for the year ended December 29, 2007 primarily due to higher
interest rates earned on increased average cash and investment balances during 2007 as compared to 2006.

Other income, net. Other income decreased by $0.2 million to income of $0.5 million for the year ended December 29, 2007 as
compared to income of $0.7 million in the prior year. The decrease is due primarily to increased disposals of equipment in 2007.

Provision for income taxes. The Company’s effective income tax rate for the year ended December 29, 2007 increased to 46.0% from
the 2006 rate of 42.7%. The increase primarily resulted from an additional $2.2 million income tax provision recorded in the fourth
quarter of 2007 due to the Company’s review of its judgments concerning certain income tax deductions, in response to an income tax
audit.

Year Ended December 30, 2006 (52 weeks) Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2005 (53 weeks)
Fiscal periods. The 2006 fiscal year consisted of 52 weeks as compared to 53 weeks in fiscal 2005.
Net revenue. Net revenue increased by $47.1 million or 19.8% to $285.4 million for the year ended December 30, 2006 as compared to
$238.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, due to an 18.2% increase in shipment volume and a 1.3% increase in net revenue
per barrel.

Volume. Volume increased by 0.2 million barrels or 18.2% to 1.6 million barrels for the year ended December 30, 2006 as compared to
1.4 million barrels for the year ended December 31, 2005. The increase in volume was attributable to increases in the Samuel Adams®
brand family and the Twisted Tea® brand family. The growth in the Samuel Adams® brand family was driven by double-digit growth
rates in Samuel Adams® Seasonals and Brewmaster’s Collection and the Twisted Tea® brand family and single-digit growth rates in
Sam Adams Light® and Samuel Adams Boston Lager®.
Net selling price. The selling price per barrel increased by approximately 1.3% to $177.07 per barrel for the year ended December 30,
2006, as compared to $174.71 for the year ended December 31, 2005. This increase was primarily driven by price increases and a slight
shift in the package mix from kegs to cases. The percentage of bottles to total shipments increased by 0.5% in core brands to 73.1% of
total shipments for the year ended December 30, 2006 as compared to 2005.

Gross profit. Gross profit was $101.91 per barrel or 57.6% as a percentage of net revenue for the year ended December 30, 2006, as
compared to $103.72 or 59.4% for the year ended December 31, 2005. The decrease in
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gross profit per barrel is primarily due to increase in cost of goods sold per barrel as compared to the prior year, partially offset by price
increases.

Cost of goods sold increased to $75.16 per barrel or 42.4% as a percentage of net revenue as compared to $70.99 per barrel or 40.6% as a
percentage of net revenue in the prior year. The increase is primarily due to higher packaging material and supply chain costs as
compared to 2005, as well as shifts in the product and package mix.

Advertising, promotional and selling. Advertising, promotional and selling expenses increased by $12.8 million or 12.7% to
$113.7 million for the year ended December 30, 2006, as compared to the prior year. The increase is primarily due to increases in freight
costs, selling costs and promotional expenditures.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses increased by $5.4 million or 31.2% to $22.7 million in 2006 as
compared to 2005, primarily due to increases in salaries and benefits (including stock based compensation of $1.9 million due to
performance-based stock options and the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payment , consulting, insurance and depreciation
expense.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense. For the year ended December 30, 2006, an aggregate of $2.8 million in stock-based
compensation expense is included in advertising, promotional and selling expense and general and administrative expenses. Effective
January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123R which generally requires recognition in financial statements of share-based
compensation costs based on fair value of the awards. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, the Company accounted for share-based
arrangements using the intrinsic value method under Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees , and related interpretations and provided pro forma disclosures applying the fair value recognition provisions of
SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation , to stock-based awards. For the year ended December 30, 2006, the effect of
the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, as compared to the method under APB Opinion No. 25, was a decrease in income before provision for
income taxes by $0.7 million and a decrease in net income by $0.4 million, or $0.03 per basic and diluted common share. Because the
Company elected to use the modified-prospective application as its transition method under SFAS No. 123R, prior period financial
statements were not restated. Had the Company recognized compensation expense under the fair value method during the year ended
December 31, 2005, such expense would have decreased income before provision for income taxes by $1.6 million and net income by
$1.0 million, or $0.07 and $0.06 per basic and diluted common share, respectively.

For stock options granted prior to January 1, 2006, fair values were estimated on the date of grants using a Black-Scholes option-pricing
model. As permitted by SFAS No. 123R, the Company elected to use a binomial option-pricing model to estimate the fair values of stock
options granted on or after January 1, 2006. The Company believes that the Black-Scholes option-pricing model is less effective than the
binomial option-pricing model in valuing long-term options as it assumes that volatility and interest rates are constant over the life of the
option. In addition, the Company believes that the binomial option-pricing model more accurately reflects the fair value of its stock
awards, as it takes into account historical employee exercise patterns based on changes in the Company’s stock price and other relevant
variables. The weighted-average fair value of stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2005 was $9.35 per share, as
calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The weighted-average fair value of stock options granted during the year ended
December 30, 2006 was $8.43 per share, as calculated using a binomial option-pricing model. Had the Company used the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model to value stock options granted during 2006, the weighted-average fair value would have been $10.65 per share and
stock-based compensation expense for the year ended December 30, 2006 would have been higher by $0.2 million.
The Company uses the straight-line attribution method in recognizing stock-based compensation expense for awards that vest based on
service conditions. For awards that vest subject to performance conditions, compensation expense is recognized ratably for each tranche of
the award over the performance period if it is probable that performance conditions will be met. These methods are consistent with the
methods the Company used in recognizing stock-based compensation expense for disclosure purposes under SFAS No. 123 prior to the
adoption of SFAS No. 123R. In June 2005, an option to purchase 300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock was granted to the
Company’s chief executive officer. This option vests based upon the achievement of performance targets. During the fourth quarter of
2006, the Company was able to estimate for
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the first time that the achievement of performance targets in relation to 180,000 shares of this option is probable. Consequently, the
Company recorded $0.8 million in stock-based compensation expense related to this stock option in the fourth quarter of 2006.

Interest income. Interest income increased by $1.4 million to $3.1 million for the year ended December 30, 2006 primarily due to higher
interest rates earned on increased average cash and investment balances during 2006 as compared to 2005.

Other income, net. Other income increased by $0.3 million to income of $0.7 million for the year ended December 30, 2006 as
compared to income of $0.4 million in 2005. The increase is due primarily to disposals of equipment in 2005 and certain equipment
rental income in 2006.

Provision for income taxes. The Company’s effective income tax rate for the year ended December 30, 2006 increased to 42.7% from
the 2005 rate of 39.0% primarily due to an incremental accrual for state income taxes of $1.0 million for fiscal years 2003 to 2006.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and short term investments increased to $95.5 million as of December 29, 2007 from $82.4 million as of December 30, 2006,
primarily due to cash flows provided by operating activities and proceeds from stock option exercise and related tax benefits, partially
offset by cash used in investing activities to purchase property, plant and equipment and repurchases of common stock.
Cash flows provided by operating activities consist of net income, adjusted for certain non-cash items, such as depreciation and
amortization, stock-based compensation expense and related excess tax benefit, and other non-cash items included in operating results.
Also affecting cash flows provided by operating activities are changes in operating assets and liabilities, such as accounts receivable,
accounts payable and accrued expenses.
Cash flows provided by operating activities of $53.8 million in 2007 consisted of net income of $22.5 million, non-cash items of
$6.4 million and the write-off of brewery costs of $3.4 million (the last of which is discussed in “Results of Operations”). Cash flows
provided by operating activities in 2007 is also affected by proceeds from the sale of trading securities of $3.0 million, net of purchases,
and a net decrease in operating assets and liabilities of $18.4 million. The net decrease in operating assets and liabilities in 2007 primarily
resulted from an increase in accrued expenses due to a $6.9 million increase in accrued deposits due to higher sales volume and the
implementation of an increase in per keg deposit charge, the $3.9 million provision for contingent excise tax related to the TTB matter, the
$2.2 million additional tax provision related to an income tax audit, and various accrued expenses related to capital expenditure at the
Pennsylvania Brewery. Cash flows provided by operating activities of $29.0 million in 2006 primarily consisted of net income of
$18.2 million, non-cash items of $4.9 million, net proceeds from the sale of trading securities of $3.2 million, and a net decrease in
operating assets and liabilities of $2.7 million.

Comparing 2007 to 2006, cash flows provided by operating activities increased by $24.8 million. Of the increase, $4.3 million resulted
from the increase in net income, due to the growth in the Company’s core business (as discussed in “Results of Operations”), and
$5.0 million resulted from the increase in non-cash items. The remaining increase in cash flows provided by operating activities resulted
from the net decrease in operating assets and liabilities of $18.4 million in 2007, as compared to the $2.7 million net decrease in 2006.

The Company used $37.1 million in investing activities during 2007 as compared to $9.0 million in 2006. Investing activities during
2007 primarily consisted of $10 million of deposits related to the proposed Pennsylvania Brewery acquisition, $9.6 million for
purchases of kegs to support volume growth, $5.7 million related to the land purchased in Freetown, Massachusetts, $2.0 million paid
for other expenses capitalized in relation to the Freetown, Massachusetts brewery project, $2.4 million for equipment purchases related to
upgrades to the Latrobe, Pennsylvania brewery, and $2.1 million related to equipment purchases to upgrade the Pennsylvania Brewery.
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Cash used in financing activities was $0.5 million during 2007, a change of $2.2 million from the $1.7 million of cash provided by
financing activities in 2006. The decrease is primarily due to an increase of $0.8 million in repurchases of the Company’s Class A
Common Stock under its Stock Repurchase Program and a $1.1 million decrease in proceeds from exercise of stock options.
During the year ended December 29, 2007, the Company repurchased 0.2 million shares of its Class A Common Stock for a total cost of
$6.1 million. On December 11, 2007, the Board of Directors of the Company increased the aggregate expenditure limit for the Company’s
Stock Repurchase Program by $10.0 million, thereby increasing the limit from $100.0 million to $110.0 million. As of December 29,
2007, the Company has repurchased a cumulative total of approximately 8.0 million shares of its Class A Common Stock for an
aggregate purchase price of $98.7 million and had approximately $11.3 million remaining on the $110.0 million share buyback
expenditure limit.

On February 13, 2008, the Board of Directors of the Company further increased the aggregate expenditure limit for the Company’s Stock
Repurchase Program by $10.0 million, thereby increasing the limit from $110.0 million to $120.0 million. From December 30, 2007 to
March 7, 2008, the Company has repurchased an additional 0.4 million shares of its Class A Common Stock for a total cost of
$15.3 million. As of March 7, 2008, the Company has repurchased a cumulative total of approximately 8.5 million shares of its Class A
Common Stock for an aggregate purchase price of $114.0 million and had $6.0 remaining on the $120.0 million share buyback
expenditure limit established by the Company’s Board of Directors.

During 2007, the Company’s available cash was invested primarily in high-grade tax-exempt and taxable money-market funds, and high
grade Municipal Auction Rate Securities with geographic diversification and short-term maturities. The Company’s investment objectives
are to preserve principal, maintain liquidity, optimize return on investment and minimize fees, transaction costs and expenses associated
with the selection and management of the investment securities. In January 2008, the Company liquidated the remainder of its investments
in high grade Municipal Auction Rate Securities, without incurring gains or losses, in order to fund various capital projects related to the
Pennsylvania Brewery acquisition.
As of March 10, 2008 the Company has increased its existing credit facility from $20.0 million to $50.0 million. The Company was not
in violation of any of its covenants to the lender under the credit facility and there were no amounts outstanding under the credit facility as
of the date of this filing. Based upon current projections, the Company expects that its working capital of $77.7 million at December 29,
2007, cash flows from operations and the credit facility should be sufficient to meet the Company’s short-term and long-term operating
and capital requirements.

Critical Accounting Policies
The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these financial statements
requires us to make significant estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and
related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These items are monitored and analyzed by management for changes in facts and
circumstances, and material changes in these estimates could occur in the future. Changes in estimates are recorded in the period in which
they become known. We base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under
the circumstances. Actual results may differ from our estimates if past experience or other assumptions do not turn out to be substantially
accurate.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, determined on a first-in, first-out basis, or market. Our provisions for excess or expired
inventory are based on management’s estimates of forecasted usage of inventories. A significant change in the timing or level of demand
for certain products as compared to forecasted amounts may result in recording additional provisions for excess or expired inventory in
the future. Provisions for excess inventory are recorded as cost of goods sold.
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The Company uses certain Noble hops grown in Germany and certain English hops, for which it enters into purchase commitments to
ensure adequate numbers of farmers in its preferred growing regions are planting and maintaining the proper quality hop vines. The
Company manages hop inventory and contract levels as necessary to attempt to ensure that it has access to the best hops each year. The
current inventory and contract levels are lower than would be normally preferred due to the under delivery of 2007 contracts, but the
Company currently believes the current inventory and expected hop deliveries in 2008 to be adequate to meet 2008 brewing requirements.
The Company’s ability to meet future years brewing demand will be dependent on good hop crops and full delivery against the
Company’s hop contracts in the future. Actual hops usage and needs may differ materially from management’s estimates.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets
The Company’s long-lived assets include property, plant and equipment which are depreciated over their estimated useful lives. For
purposes of determining whether there are any impairment losses, as further discussed below, management has historically examined the
carrying value of the Company’s identifiable long-lived assets, including their useful lives, when indicators of impairment are present.
For all long-lived assets, if an impairment loss is identified based on the fair value of the asset, as compared to the carrying value of the
asset, such loss would be charged to expense in the period the impairment is identified. Furthermore, if the review of the carrying values
of the long-lived assets indicates impairment of such assets, the Company may determine that shorter estimated useful lives are more
appropriate. In that event, the Company will be required to record additional depreciation in future periods, which will reduce earnings.
Factors generally considered important which could trigger an impairment review on the carrying value of long-lived assets include the
following: (1) significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results; (2) significant changes in
the manner of use of acquired assets or the strategy for the Company’s overall business; (3) underutilization of assets; and
(4) discontinuance of products by the Company or its customers. Although the Company believes that the carrying value of its long-lived
assets was realizable as of December 29, 2007, future events could cause the Company to conclude otherwise.

Promotional Activities Accrual
Throughout the year, the Company’s sales force engages in numerous promotional activities. In connection with its preparation of
financial statements and other financial reporting, management is required to make certain estimates and assumptions regarding the
amount and timing of expenditures resulting from these activities. Actual expenditures incurred could differ from management’s estimates
and assumptions.

Distributor Promotional Discount Allowance
The Company enters into promotional discount agreements with its various wholesalers for certain periods of time. The agreed-upon
discount rates are applied to the wholesalers’ sales to retailers in order to determine the total discounted amount. The computation of the
discount accrual requires that management make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of related assets at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue during the reporting period. Actual promotional discounts owed
and paid could differ from the estimated accrual.

Stale Beer Accrual
In certain circumstances and with the Company’s approval, the Company accepts and destroys stale beer that is returned by distributors.
For several years, the Company has credited approximately fifty percent of the distributor’s cost of the beer that has passed its expiration
date for freshness when it is returned to the Company or destroyed. The Company establishes an accrual based upon both historical
returns expense, which
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is applied to an estimated lag time for receipt of product, and the Company’s knowledge of specific return transactions. The actual stale
beer expense incurred by the Company could differ from the estimated accrual.

Deposits
The Company purchases kegs from vendors and records these assets in property, plant and equipment. Purchases of pallets are expensed
as incurred. When the kegs and pallets are shipped to the distributors, a deposit is collected. This deposit is refunded to the distributors
upon return of the kegs and pallets to the Company. An allowance for deposits, a current liability, is estimated based on historical
information and this computation requires that management make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
deposit liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue during the reporting period. Actual deposit
redemptions could differ from the estimates used to compute the allowance for deposits.

Stock-Based Compensation
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123R. To
calculate the fair value of options, the Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model for grants issued prior to January 1, 2006
and the lattice model, such as the binomial option-pricing model, for grants issued on or after January 1, 2006. Both methods require the
input of subjective assumptions. These assumptions include estimating the length of time employees will retain their vested stock options
before exercising them (“expected term”), the estimated volatility of the Company’s common stock price over the expected term, the
expected dividend rate and expected exercise behavior. In addition, an estimated forfeiture rate is applied in the recognition of the
compensation charge. Periodically, the Company grants performance-based stock options, related to which it only recognizes
compensation expense if it is probable that performance targets will be met. Consequently, at the end of each reporting period, the
Company estimates whether it is probable that performance targets will be met. Changes in the subjective assumptions and estimates can
materially affect the amount of stock-based compensation expense recognized on the consolidated statements of income.

Income Taxes
The Company provides for deferred taxes using an asset and liability approach that requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements
or tax returns. This results in differences between the book and tax basis of the Company’s assets and liabilities and carry-forwards such
as tax credits. In estimating future tax consequences, all expected future events, other than enactment of changes in the tax laws or rates,
are generally considered. Valuation allowances are provided to the extent deemed necessary when realization of deferred tax assets appears
unlikely.
The calculation of the Company’s tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations in several
different state tax jurisdictions. The Company is periodically reviewed by tax authorities regarding the amount of taxes due. These reviews
include inquiries regarding the timing and amount of deductions and the allocation of income among various tax jurisdictions. The
Company records estimated reserves for exposures associated with positions that it takes on its income tax returns. Through
December 30, 2006, the Company recorded estimated income tax reserves as it deemed necessary in accordance with SFAS No. 5,
Accounting for Contingencies . At the beginning of fiscal 2007, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board
Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes. This interpretation clarifies the accounting and financial
statement reporting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized by prescribing a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the
financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The adoption of FIN 48 did
not result in any impact on the Company’s retained earnings balance.
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Other Taxes
The Company is responsible for compliance with TTB regulations which includes making timely and accurate excise tax payments. The
Company is subject to periodic compliance audits by the TTB. The Company calculates its excise tax expense based upon units
produced and on its understanding of the applicable excise tax laws.
During the third quarter of 2007, the TTB performed a routine audit of the Company’s Cincinnati brewery and other breweries where
some of the Company’s products are produced (the “TTB Audit”). In February 2008, the TTB formally disputed the Company’s
regulatory and tax treatment of certain of its 2006 and 2007 Twisted Tea shipments and the Company has received a notice of demand for
additional excise taxes plus interest and penalties of approximately $8.5 million. The TTB has asserted that these shipments were not
classified consistent with TTB regulations that took effect January 1, 2006. Based on the Company’s analysis to date, it believes that
most of its Twisted Tea shipments were in compliance with applicable regulations. The Company is in discussions with the TTB
regarding the differences in the methodologies used to ascertain regulatory compliance. Based on information available on December 29,
2007, the Company concluded that the range of possible outcomes was between $3.9 million and $9.3 million. Based on the information
previously collected and its earlier assessment of likely outcomes, the Company recorded a provision of $3.9 million in the third quarter.
The Company continues to maintain this provision in its December 29, 2007 financial statements, related to this contingency.

Business Environment
The alcoholic beverage industry is highly regulated at the federal, state and local levels. The TTB and the Justice Department’s Bureau of
Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives enforce laws under the Federal Alcohol Administration Act. The TTB is responsible for
administering and enforcing excise tax laws that directly affect the Company’s results of operations. State and regulatory authorities have
the ability to suspend or revoke the Company’s licenses and permits or impose substantial fines for violations. The Company has
established strict policies, procedures and guidelines in efforts to ensure compliance with all applicable state and federal laws. However,
the loss or revocation of any existing license or permit could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of
operations, cash flows and financial position.
The Better Beer category is highly competitive due to the large number of regional craft and specialty brewers and the brewers of imported
beers who distribute similar products that have similar pricing and target drinkers. The Company believes that its pricing is appropriate
given the quality and reputation of its core brands, while realizing that economic pricing pressures may affect future pricing levels.
Certain major domestic brewers have also developed niche brands to compete within the Better Beer category and have acquired interests
in Craft Beers or importation rights to foreign brands. Import brewers and major domestic brewers are able to compete more aggressively
than the Company, as they have substantially greater resources, marketing strength and distribution networks than the Company. The
Company anticipates Craft Beer competition increasing as craft brewers have benefited from a couple of years of healthy growth and are
looking to maintain these trends. The Company also increasingly competes with wine and spirits companies, some of which have
significantly greater resources than the Company. This competitive environment may affect the Company’s overall performance within
the Better Beer category. As the market matures and the Better Beer category continues to consolidate, the Company believes that
companies that are well-positioned in terms of brand equity, marketing and distribution will have greater success than those who do not.
With approximately 400 distributors nationwide and the Company’s sales force in excess of 200 people, a commitment to maintaining
brand equity and the quality of its beer, the Company believes it is well positioned to compete in a maturing market.

The demand for the Company’s products is also subject to changes in drinkers’ tastes.

The Potential Impact of Known Facts, Commitments, Events and Uncertainties

Brewing Capacity
Historically, the Company has pursued a strategy of combining brewery ownership with brewing in breweries owned by others. The
brewing arrangements with breweries owned by others have historically allowed the
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Company to utilize their excess capacity, providing the Company flexibility and quality and cost advantages over its competitors while
maintaining full control over the brewing process. As the number of available breweries declines, the risk of disruption increases, and the
dynamics of the brewery strategy of ownership versus brewing at facilities owned by others changes.
During the third quarter of 2007, the Company entered into a Contract of Sale to purchase from Diageo North America, Inc. the
Pennsylvania Brewery for $55 million. During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company completed its due diligence phase and paid the
balance of a total deposit of $10 million. The Company expects to close on the purchase of the Pennsylvania Brewery in June 2008,
barring any unforeseen circumstances. The Company anticipates that the Pennsylvania Brewery will require substantial investment and
renovation in order to brew the Company’s Samuel Adams® Craft Beers. In addition to the purchase price of $55 million, the Company
expects to have spent between $45 million and $55 million in capital improvements and due diligence by the end of 2008. The Company
anticipates spending a further $10 million to $15 million in 2009 to get the facility in a position to brew and package up to 1.4 million
barrels of the Company’s beers. The Company has also identified a further $25 million to $35 million of projects which appear to have
attractive return on investment or address increased capabilities that the Company may choose to make during the next few years. If the
Company decides to expand the capacity of the Pennsylvania Brewery beyond 1.4 million barrels, additional capital would be needed. As
of December 29, 2007, the Company has spent $2.1 million of this capital plan. The Company currently expects that the facility will be
partially operational for its brands during the summer of 2008.

The Company believes that it has secured sufficient alternatives in the event that production at any of its brewing locations is interrupted
or discontinued; however, the Company may not be able to maintain its current economics if such disruption were to occur. Potential
disruptions include quality issues, financial stability, contractual disputes or operational shut downs. As the brewing industry has
consolidated, the financial stability of the breweries where the Company brews has become a more significant concern. The Company
continues to work with all of its breweries to attempt to minimize any potential disruptions.

The Company continues to brew its Samuel Adams Boston Lager® at each of its brewing facilities, but at any particular time may rely on
only one supplier for its products other than Samuel Adams Boston Lager®. The Company believes that it has sufficient capacity options
that would allow for a shift in production locations if necessary, although it is unable to quantify additional capital or operating costs, if
any, that it might incur in securing access to such capacity.
In the event of a labor dispute, governmental action, a sudden closure of one of the breweries or other events that would prevent either the
Cincinnati Brewery or any of the breweries at which its beer is being produced under contract from producing the Company’s beer,
management believes that it would be able to shift production between breweries so as to meet demand for its beer. In such event, however,
the Company could experience temporary shortfalls in production and/or increased production or distribution costs, the combination of
which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, cash flows and financial position. A simultaneous
interruption at several of the Company’s production locations would likely cause significant disruption, increased costs and potentially
lost sales.

Hops Purchase Commitments
The Company utilizes several varieties of hops in the production of its products. To ensure adequate supplies of these varieties, the
Company enters into advance multi-year purchase commitments based on forecasted future hop requirements, among other factors.
During 2007, the Company entered into several hops future contracts in the normal course of business. The total value of the contracts
entered into as of December 29, 2007, which are denominated in Euros and British Pounds Sterling, was $51.1 million. The Company
has no forward exchange contracts in place as of December 29, 2007 and currently intends to purchase future hops using the exchange
rate at the time of purchase. The contract agreements were deemed necessary in order to bring hop inventory levels and purchase
commitments into balance with the Company’s current brewing volume and hop usage forecasts. In addition,
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these new contracts enabled the Company to secure its position for future supply with hop vendors in the face of some competitive buying
activity.

The Company’s accounting policy for hop inventory and purchase commitments is to recognize a loss by establishing a reserve to the
extent inventory levels and commitments exceed forecasted needs as well as aged hops as determined by the Company’s brewing
department. The computation of the excess inventory required management to make certain assumptions regarding future sales growth,
product mix, cancellation costs and supply, among others. Actual results may differ materially from management’s estimates. The
Company continues to manage inventory levels and purchase commitments in an effort to maximize utilization of hops on hand and hops
under commitment. The current inventory and contract levels are lower than would be normally preferred due to the under delivery of
2007 contracts. However, changes in management’s assumptions regarding future sales growth, product mix, and hops market
conditions could result in future material losses.

TTB Audit
During the third quarter of 2007, the TTB performed a routine audit of the Company’s Cincinnati Brewery and other breweries where
some of the Company’s products are produced (the “TTB Audit”). In February 2008, the TTB formally disputed the Company’s
regulatory and tax treatment of certain of its 2006 and 2007 Twisted Tea shipments and the Company has received a notice of demand for
additional excise taxes plus interest and penalties of approximately $8.5 million. The TTB has asserted that these shipments were not
classified consistent with TTB regulations that took effect January 1, 2006. Based on the Company’s analysis to date, it believes that
most of its Twisted Tea shipments were in compliance with applicable regulations. The Company is in discussions with the TTB
regarding the differences in the methodologies used to ascertain regulatory compliance and expects these discussions to eventually include
potential settlement terms. While the Company believes settlement should be possible, the Company also believes that it has litigation
options available to it to dispute the TTB position. It is not possible to determine the ultimate outcome of these discussions or any future
litigation, but based on information available on December 29, 2007, the Company concluded that the range of possible outcomes was
between $3.9 million and $9.3 million. In the first quarter of 2008 the Company has continued to gather additional information and refine
its analysis and currently estimates that, if it does not pursue litigation, the potential expense could be as low as $1.8 million and would
not be expected to materially exceed the approximately $8.5 million which the TTB has assessed, after considering amounts the
Company has previously paid. The ultimate outcome of this matter could materially differ from the Company’s estimate. Based on the
information previously collected and its earlier assessment of likely outcomes, the Company recorded a provision of $3.9 million in the
third quarter. The Company continues to maintain this provision in its December 29, 2007 financial statements, related to this
contingency. Twisted Tea shipments were only minimally interrupted due to this matter.

Contractual Obligations
The following table presents contractual obligations as of December 29, 2007:

Advertising Commitments
Hops Purchase Commitments
Operating Leases
Lehigh Brewery Purchase
Lehigh Capital Expenditures
Other
Total Contractual Obligations

Total

2008

$ 15,233
51,123
6,985

$ 13,712
14,364
769

45,000

45,000

5,324
8,212
$131,877

5,324
7,553
$86,722
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Payments Due by Period
2009-2010
(In thousands)

$

$

1,041
17,694
1,450
—
—
659
20,844

2011-2012

Thereafter

$

$

480

9,941
1,464
—
—
—
$ 11,885

—
9,124
3,302

—
—
—
$ 12,426
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The Company’s outstanding purchase commitments related to advertising contracts of approximately $15.2 million at December 29,
2007 reflect amounts that are non-cancelable.

The Company has entered into contracts for the supply of a portion of its hops requirements. These purchase contracts, which extend
through crop year 2015, specify both the quantities and prices, denominated in Euros and British Pounds Sterling, to which the
Company is committed. Amounts included in the above table are in United States dollars using the exchange rates as of December 29,
2007. The Company does not have any forward currency contracts in place and currently intends to purchase the committed hops in
Euros or British Pounds Sterling using the exchange rate at the time of purchase. Payments made during 2007 to purchase hops under
contracts amounted to $5.3 million.
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into various agreements with brewing companies related to the production of its
beers. Under these agreements, the Company is required to repurchase from the supplier all unused raw materials purchased by the
supplier specifically for its product at the suppliers cost upon termination of these production arrangements. Also, in some cases the
Company is obligated to meet annual volume requirements under its agreements with other breweries. During 2007, the Company met all
existing minimum volume requirements in accordance with the production agreements, with the exception of one brewery location. For that
brewery, the fees associated with not meeting minimum volume requirement were not significant and have been recognized in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements at December 29, 2007.
The Company’s agreements with breweries where its beer is brewed periodically require the Company to purchase certain fixed assets in
support of brewery operations. As a material part of the Latrobe Agreement, the Company will purchase equipment to be installed at the
brewery in Latrobe for upgrades to the brew house, storage of the Company’s proprietary yeasts and packaging of the Company’s
products. The expected capital expenditures related to the Latrobe Agreement are between $3 million and $4 million of which
approximately $2.4 million has been spent as of December 29, 2007. At December 29, 2007, the Company has no other commitments for
fixed asset purchases under existing contracts during the next twelve months, but this amount could vary significantly should there be a
change in the Company’s brewing strategy or changes to existing production agreements or should the Company enter into new production
relationships or introduce new products.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. This
statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.
The Company is required to adopt the provisions of SFAS No. 157 in the first quarter of 2008. The Company is in the process of
evaluating the impact of SFAS No. 157, if any, on its 2008 consolidated financial position, operations and cash flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, Employer’s Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement
Plans, an Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R) , which applies to all plan sponsors who offer defined benefit
postretirement plans. SFAS No. 158 requires recognition of the funded status of a defined benefit postretirement plan in the statement of
financial position and expanded disclosures in the notes to financial statements. The Company adopted this provision for the year ended
December 30, 2006 and the adoption did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial position. In addition, SFAS No. 158
requires measurement of plan assets and benefit obligations as of the date of the plan sponsor’s fiscal year end. The Company is required
to adopt the measurement provision of SFAS No. 158 for its fiscal year ending December 27, 2008. The Company does not believe the
measurement provision of SFAS No. 158 to have a material effect on its 2008 consolidated financial position, operations and cash flows.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities —
Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115. SFAS No. 159 permits companies to choose to measure many financial
instruments at fair value that are not currently required to be measured at fair value, at specified election dates under its fair value option.
Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected are reported in earnings at each subsequent reporting
date. This Statement also
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establishes presentation and disclosure requirements designed to facilitate comparisons between companies that choose different
measurement attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities. The Company is required to adopt the provisions of SFAS No. 159 in
the first quarter of 2008. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of SFAS No. 159, if any, on its 2008 consolidated
financial position, operations and cash flows.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised) (“SFAS No. 141R”), Business Combinations , which replaces SFAS No
141, Business Combinations . SFAS No. 141R will significantly change the accounting for business combinations and an acquiring
entity will be required to recognize all the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a transaction at the acquisition-date fair value with
limited exceptions. In addition to new financial statements disclosures, SFAS No. 141R will also change the accounting treatment for
certain specific items, including the expensing of acquisition costs and restructuring costs associated with a business combination, and
changes in deferred tax asset valuation allowances and income tax uncertainties after the acquisition date which generally will affect
income tax expense. SFAS No. 141R applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the
beginning of the Company’s fiscal 2009 period, with the exception of the accounting of valuation allowances on deferred tax assets and
acquired tax contingencies for which the adoption is retrospective. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of
SFAS No. 141R, if any, on its consolidated financial position, operations and cash flows.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company has not entered into any material off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 29, 2007.

Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is exposed to the impact of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. The Company does
not enter into derivatives or other market risk sensitive instruments for the purpose of speculation or for trading purposes. Market risk
sensitive instruments include derivative financial instruments, other financial instruments, and derivative commodity instruments, such
as futures, forwards, swaps and options, that are exposed to rate or price changes.

The Company enters into hops purchase contracts in foreign denominated currencies, as described above under “ Hops Purchase
Commitments .” The cost of these hops commitments changes as foreign exchange rates fluctuate. Currently, it is not the Company’s
policy to hedge against foreign currency fluctuations.
The interest rate for borrowings under the Company’s credit facility is based on either (i) the Alternative Prime Rate (7.25% at
December 29, 2007) or (ii) the applicable LIBOR rate (4.9% at December 29, 2007) plus 0.45%, and therefore, subjects the Company to
fluctuations in such rates. As of December 29, 2007, the Company had no amounts outstanding under its current line of credit.

Sensitivity Analysis
The Company applies a sensitivity analysis to reflect the impact of a 10% hypothetical adverse change in the foreign currency rates. A
potential adverse fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates could negatively impact future cash flows by approximately $4.3 million
as of December 29, 2007.
There are many economic factors that can affect volatility in foreign exchange rates. As such factors cannot be predicted, the actual
impact on earnings due to an adverse change in the respective rates could vary substantially from the amounts calculated above.
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Item 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
The Boston Beer Company, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Boston Beer Company, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 29,
2007 and December 30, 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 29, 2007. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of The
Boston Beer Company, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 29, 2007 and December 30, 2006, and the consolidated results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 29, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note B to the consolidated financial statements, effective December 31, 2006, the Company adopted Financial
Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes . In addition, as discussed in Note B to
the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment , and as discussed in Note K to the consolidated financial statements, effective December 30, 2006,
the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretirement Plans, an Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R).
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), The Boston
Beer Company Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 29, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report
dated March 11, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
March 11, 2008
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THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data)
December 29,
2007

December 30,

$

$

2006

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $249 and $215 as of December 29,
2007 and December 30, 2006, respectively
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Deferred income taxes

Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Other assets
Goodwill
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Total current liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies Stockholders’ Equity:
Class A Common Stock, $.01 par value; 22,700,000 shares authorized; 10,095,573 and
9,992,347 shares issued and outstanding as of December 29, 2007 and December 30, 2006,
respectively
Class B Common Stock, $.01 par value; 4,200,000 shares authorized; 4,107,355 shares issued
and outstanding
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

79,289
16,200

17,972
18,090
2,152
2,090
135,793
46,198
12,487
1,377
$ 195,855

2,721
667
120,562
30,699
1,837
1,377
$ 154,475

$

$

17,708
40,349

17,770
17,034

17,942
22,928

58,057
1,215
2,995
62,267

1,494
3,522
45,886

101

100

41

88,754
(204)

44,896
133,588
$ 195,855

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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63,147
19,223

40,870

41

80,158
(197)
28,487
108,589
$ 154,475
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THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In thousands, except per share data)
Year Ended

December 31,

Revenue
Less excise taxes

Net revenue
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Advertising, promotional and selling expenses
General and administrative expenses
Write-off of brewery costs
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Other income, net:
Interest income
Other income, net
Total other income, net
Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income

December 29,
2007

December 30,

2005

2006

(53 weeks)

$ 380,575
38,928
341,647
152,288
189,359

$ 315,250
29,819
285,431
121,155
164,276

$ 263,255
24,951

124,457
24,574

113,669
22,657
—
136,326
27,950

100,870

17,288
—
118,158
23,316

3,143

1,761

673
3,816
31,766
13,574
18,192
1.31
1.27
13,900
14,375

2,203
25,519
9,960
15,559
1.10
1.07
14,126
14,516

3,443

152,474
36,885

$
$
$

Net income per common share — basic
Net income per common share — diluted
Weighted-average number of common shares — basic
Weighted-average number of common shares — diluted

4,252
507
4,759
41,644
19,153
22,491
1.58
1.53
14,193
14,699

$
$
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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96,830
141,474

442

$
$
$
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THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 29, 2007, December 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005
(In thousands, continued on next page)
Class A

Class A

Class B

Class B

Common

Common

Common

Common

Stock

Shares

Shares

Balance at December 25, 2004
Net income
Stock options exercised, including tax benefit of $1,172
Net issuance of investment shares
Amortization of unearned compensation
Repurchase of Class A common stock
Minimum pension liability, net of tax of $2
Total fiscal 2005 comprehensive income
Balance at December 31, 2005
Net income
Stock options exercised, including tax benefit of $2,240
Net issuance of investment shares and restricted stock awards
Elimination of unearned compensation upon adoption of
SFAS No. 123R
Stock-based compensation expense
Repurchase of Class A common stock
Defined benefit plans liability adjustment, net of tax of $3
Total fiscal 2006 comprehensive income
Balance at December 30, 2006
Net income
Stock options exercised, including tax benefit of $1,792
Net issuance of investment shares and restricted stock awards
Stock-based compensation expense
Repurchase of Class A common stock
Defined benefit plans liability adjustment, net of tax of $6
Total fiscal 2007 comprehensive income
Balance at December 29, 2007

10,089

$ 101

249

2

4,107

Stock

$

41

$66,157
4,122
529

24

(548)

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

(5)

9,814

98

334
43

1

4,107

41

70,808

6,737
215

3

(353)

2,751
(199)

(2)

9,992

100

236
51

2
1

4,107

41

80,158
5,238
300

3,058
(183)

10,096

(2)

$ 101

4,107

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 29, 2007, December 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005
(In thousands, continued from last page)
Accumulated
Retained

Total
Stockholders’

Earnings

Equity

Other

Unearned
Compensation

Balance at December 25, 2004
Net income
Stock options exercised, including tax benefit of $1,172
Net issuance of investment shares
Amortization of unearned compensation
Repurchase of Class A common stock
Minimum pension liability, net of tax of $2
Total fiscal 2005 comprehensive income

$

(280)

$

(203)

$ 12,554
15,559

$

78,370
15,559
4,124

(219)
146

Balance at December 30, 2006
Net income
Stock options exercised, including tax benefit of $1,792
Net issuance of investment shares and restricted stock
awards
Stock-based compensation expense
Repurchase of Class A common stock
Defined benefit plans liability adjustment, net of tax of $6
Total fiscal 2007 comprehensive income

—

$

15,559

$

7
15,566

$

18,192

$

18,191

$

22,491

$

22,484

310

(12,532)

(353)

Comprehensive
Income

146
(12,537)
7

7

Balance at December 31, 2005
Net income
Stock options exercised, including tax benefit of $2,240
Net issuance of investment shares and restricted stock
awards
Elimination of unearned compensation upon adoption of
SFAS No. 123R
Stock-based compensation expense
Repurchase of Class A common stock
Defined benefit plans liability adjustment, net of tax of $3
Total fiscal 2006 comprehensive income

Balance at December 29, 2007

Comprehensive
Loss, net of tax

(196)

15,581
18,192

85,979
18,192
6,740
216
—
2,751
(5,288)
(1)

353

(5,286)
(1)

(197)

28,487
22,491

108,589
22,491
5,240

(1)

301

3,058
(6,084)
(7)

(6,082)
(7)

$

—

$

(204)

$ 44,896

$ 133,588

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
Year Ended

December 31,

Cash flows provided by operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Write-off of brewery costs
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Bad debt expense (recovery)
Stock-based compensation expense
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation arrangements
Tax benefit from stock options exercised
Deferred income taxes
Purchases of trading securities
Proceeds from sale of trading securities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses

December 29,
2007

December 30,

2005

2006

(53 Weeks)

$

$

22,491

18,192

6,654
3,443
3,058

2,751
(2,240)

—
(1,702)
(47,520)
50,543

—
(36,577)
39,779

(8,343)
(3,385)
(1,506)
6,564
7,807
1,576
28,977

3,547
(1,088)
(1,133)
1,634
867
1,182
28,841

(25,607)
5
(11,507)
(37,109)

(9,056)

(13,973)
129

(9,014)

—
(13,844)

(6,084)
3,448
1,792

(5,288)
4,500
2,240

(12,537)
2,952
—

(731)

(236)

(234)

19,213
(534)
53,794

Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities:

Repurchase of Class A Common Stock
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation arrangements
Net proceeds from sale of investment shares
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$

79,289

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Income taxes paid

$

14,721

42

—

301
(543)
16,142
63,147

216

310

$

1,668
21,631
41,516
63,147

$

(9,275)
5,722
35,794
41,516

$

10,632

$

7,901

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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146

—
1,172
952
(9,075)
10,650

(1,056)
1,271

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows used in investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Deposits and costs related to proposed brewery acquisition

162

(255)

107

(1,792)

15,559
4,521
—

4,991
—
(8)

161
34

Other liabilities

$
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THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 29, 2007

A.

Organization and Basis of Presentation

The Boston Beer Company, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) are engaged in the business of selling low alcohol beverages
throughout the United States and in selected international markets, under the trade names “The Boston Beer Company,” “Twisted Tea
Brewing Company” and “HardCore Cider Company.” The Company’s Samuel Adams® beers and Sam Adams Light® are produced and
sold under the trade name, The Boston Beer Company.

B.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fiscal Year
The Company’s fiscal year is a fifty-two or fifty-three week period ending on the last Saturday in December. The fiscal periods of 2007
and 2006 consist of fifty-two weeks and the fiscal period of 2005 consists of fifty-three weeks.

Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, all of which are whollyowned. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at December 29, 2007 and December 30, 2006 included cash on-hand, as well as tax-exempt and taxable
money market instruments that are highly liquid investments.

Short-Term Investments
The Company classifies its investments depending on the Company’s intent and the nature of the investment. The Company’s short-term
investments are classified as trading securities, which are recorded at fair market value, and whose change in fair market value is
included in earnings. Short-term investments at December 29, 2007 and December 30, 2006 consisted of municipal auction rate
securities.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The Company records an allowance for doubtful accounts that is based on historical trends, customer knowledge, any known disputes,
and the aging of the accounts receivable balances combined with management’s estimate of future potential recoverability, based upon
management’s knowledge of customers’ financial condition.

Inventories
Inventories consist of raw materials, work in process and finished goods. Raw materials, which principally consist of hops, other
brewing materials and packaging, are stated at the lower of cost, determined on the
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THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

first-in, first-out basis, or market. The cost elements of work in process and finished goods inventory consist of raw materials, direct
labor and manufacturing overhead. Packaging design costs are expensed as incurred.
The provisions for excess or expired inventory are based on management’s estimates of forecasted usage of inventories. A significant
change in the timing or level of demand for certain products as compared to forecasted amounts may result in recording additional
provisions for excess or expired inventory in the future. Provisions for excess inventory are included in cost of goods sold.
The computation of the excess hops inventory requires management to make certain assumptions regarding future sales growth, product
mix, cancellation costs, and supply, among others. The Company manages inventory levels and purchase commitments in an effort to
maximize utilization of hops on hand and hops under commitment. The Company’s accounting policy for hops inventory and purchase
commitments is to recognize a loss by establishing a reserve to the extent inventory levels and commitments exceed forecasted needs as
determined by the Company’s brewmasters. The Company has not recorded any loss on purchase commitments in the fiscal years 2007,
2006 and 2005.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost. Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Major renewals and
betterments that extend the life of the property are capitalized. Some of the Company’s equipment is used by other brewing companies to
produce the Company’s products under brewing service arrangements (Note I). Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method
based upon the estimated useful lives of the underlying assets as follows:

5 years

Kegs
Machinery and plant equipment

3 to 20 years, or the term of the production agreement, whichever
is shorter
3 to 5 years
Lesser of the remaining term of the lease or estimated useful life of
the asset
15 to 20 years

Office equipment and furniture
Leasehold improvements

Building

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of the Company-owned Cincinnati Brewery over the fair value of the net assets
acquired upon the completion of the acquisition in November 2000 and relates to the Company’s single operating unit. The Company does
not amortize goodwill, but performs an annual impairment analysis of goodwill by comparing the carrying value and the fair value of its
single reporting unit at the end of the third quarter of every fiscal year. The Company has concluded that its goodwill was not impaired as
of December 29, 2007 and December 30, 2006.

Long-Lived Assets
Long-lived assets are recorded at cost and depreciated over their estimated useful lives. For purposes of determining whether there are any
impairment losses, as further discussed below, management has historically examined the carrying value of the Company’s identifiable
long-lived assets, including their useful lives, when indicators of impairment are present. For all long-lived assets, if an impairment loss
is identified based on the fair value of the asset, as compared to the carrying value of the asset, such loss would be charged to expense in
the period the impairment is identified. Furthermore, if the review of the carrying values of the long-lived assets indicates impairment of
such assets, the Company may determine that shorter estimated useful lives are more appropriate. In that event, the Company will be
required to record additional depreciation in future periods, which will reduce earnings.
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THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
Factors generally considered important which could trigger an impairment review on the carrying value of long-lived assets include the
following: (1) significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results; (2) significant changes in
the manner of use of acquired assets or the strategy for the Company’s overall business; (3) underutilization of assets; and
(4) discontinuance of products by the Company or its customers. The Company believes that the carrying value of its long-lived assets
was realizable as of December 29, 2007.

Income Taxes
The Company provides for deferred taxes using an asset and liability approach that requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements
or tax returns. This results in differences between the book and tax basis of the Company’s assets and liabilities and carryforwards, such
as tax credits. In estimating future tax consequences, all expected future events, other than enactment of changes in the tax laws or rates,
are generally considered. Valuation allowances are provided to the extent deemed necessary when realization of deferred tax assets appears
unlikely.
The calculation of the Company’s tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations in several
different state tax jurisdictions. The Company is periodically reviewed by tax authorities regarding the amount of taxes due. These reviews
include inquiries regarding the timing and amount of deductions and the allocation of income among various tax jurisdictions. The
Company records estimated reserves for exposures associated with positions that it takes on its income tax returns. Through
December 30, 2006, the Company recorded estimated income tax reserves as it deemed necessary in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies . At the beginning of fiscal 2007, the Company adopted
Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes. This interpretation
clarifies the accounting and financial statement reporting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized by prescribing a recognition threshold
and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax
return.

Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue on product sales at the time when the product is shipped and the following conditions exist: persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, title has passed to the customer according to the shipping terms, the price is fixed and determinable,
and collection of the sales proceeds is reasonably assured. Further, the Company generally accepts and destroys beer that has passed its
expiration date for freshness and is returned by distributors. Credits given to distributors for these returns represent approximately fifty
percent of the distributor’s cost of the beer. Consequently, the Company records an allowance for estimated returns, based on historical
experience and current trends.

Cost of Goods Sold
The following expenses are included in cost of goods sold: raw material costs, packaging costs, costs and income related to deposit
activity, purchasing and receiving costs, manufacturing labor and overhead, brewing and processing costs, inspection costs relating to
quality control, inbound freight charges, depreciation expense related to manufacturing equipment and warehousing costs, which include
rent, labor and overhead costs.
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THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Shipping Costs
Costs incurred for the shipping of products to customers are included in advertising, promotional and selling expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income. The Company incurred shipping costs of $25.5 million, $22.2 million and
$17.2 million in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Advertising and Sales Promotions
The following expenses are included in advertising, promotional and selling expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of
income: media advertising costs, sales and marketing expenses, salary and benefit expenses for the sales and sales support workforce,
promotional activity expenses, freight charges related to shipments of finished goods from manufacturing locations to distributor
locations, and point of sale items.

The Company reimburses its wholesalers and retailers for promotional discounts, samples and certain advertising and marketing
activities used in the promotion of the Company’s products. The reimbursements for discounts to wholesalers are recorded as reductions
to net revenue. The Company has sales incentive arrangements with its wholesalers based upon performance of certain marketing and
advertising activities by the wholesalers. Depending on applicable state laws and regulations, these activities promoting the Company’s
products may include, but are not limited to, the following: point-of-sale merchandise placement, product displays and promotional
programs at retail locations. The costs incurred for these sales incentive arrangements and advertising and promotional programs are
included in advertising, promotional and selling expenses during the period in which they are incurred. Total advertising and sales
promotional expenditures of $64.2 million, $58.5 million and $55.7 million were included in advertising, promotional and selling
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of income for fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Of these amounts,
$5.4 million, $5.6 million and $4.2 million related to sales incentives, samples and other promotional discounts and $29.5 million,
$28.8 million and $26.3 million related to advertising costs for fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The Company conducts certain advertising and promotional activities in its wholesalers’ markets and the wholesalers make contributions
to the Company for such efforts. Reimbursements from wholesalers for advertising and promotional activities are recorded as reductions
to advertising, promotional and selling expenses.

General and Administrative Expenses
The following expenses are included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of income:
general and administrative salary and benefit expenses, insurance costs, professional service fees, rent and utility expenses, meals, travel
and entertainment expenses for general and administrative employees, and other general and administrative overhead costs.

Concentrations of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash equivalents, shortterm investments, and trade receivables. The Company places its short-term investments with high credit quality financial institutions.
The Company sells primarily to independent beer distributors across the United States. Sales to foreign customers are insignificant.
Receivables arising from these sales are not collateralized; however, credit risk is minimized as a result of the large and diverse nature of
the Company’s customer base. The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon factors surrounding the credit
risk of specific customers, historical trends and other information. There were no individual customer accounts receivable balances
outstanding at December 29, 2007 and December 30, 2006 that were in excess of 10% of the gross accounts receivable balance on those
dates. No individual customers represented more than 10% of the Company’s revenues during fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005.
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THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Financial Instruments and Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company’s primary financial instruments at December 29, 2007 and December 30, 2006 consisted of cash equivalents, short-term
investments, accounts receivable and accounts payable. The carrying amounts of these financial instruments approximate their fair
values due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

Stock-Based Compensation
Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised) (“SFAS No. 123R”), Share-Based Payment, which generally
requires recognition of share-based compensation costs in financial statements based on fair value. Compensation cost is recognized over
the period during which an employee is required to provide services in exchange for the award (the requisite service period). The amount
of compensation cost recognized in the consolidated statements of income is based on the awards ultimately expected to vest, and
therefore, reduced for estimated forfeitures. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, the Company accounted for share-based
compensation using the intrinsic value method under Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees , and related interpretations, and provided pro forma disclosures applying the fair value recognition provisions of
SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation , to stock-based awards. See Note J for the effect of the adoption of
SFAS No. 123R.
As permitted by SFAS No. 123R, the Company elected to use the modified-prospective application as its transition method, under which
SFAS No. 123R applies to new awards and to awards modified, repurchased, or cancelled after the statement’s effective date.
Additionally, compensation cost for the portion of awards for which the requisite service has not been rendered that are outstanding on
January 1, 2006 is recognized based on the fair value estimated on grant date and as the requisite service is rendered on or after
January 1, 2006. Prior period financial statements are not restated to reflect the effect of SFAS No. 123R under the modified-prospective
transition method.

For stock options granted prior to January 1, 2006, fair values were estimated on the date of grants using a Black-Scholes option-pricing
model. As permitted by SFAS No. 123R, the Company elected to use a lattice model, such as the binomial option-pricing model, to
estimate the fair values of stock options granted on or after January 1, 2006. See Note J for further discussion of the application of the
option-pricing models.
Further, SFAS No. 123R requires that cash retained as a result of tax benefits in excess of recognized compensation costs relating to sharebased awards be presented in the statement of cash flows as a financing cash inflow with a corresponding operating cash outflow. The
2005 statement of cash flows was not restated under the modified-prospective transition method.

Net Income Per Share
Basic net income per share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted-average common shares outstanding. Diluted net income
per share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted-average common shares and potentially dilutive securities outstanding
during the period using the treasury stock method.

Segment Reporting
The Company consists of a single operating segment that produces and sells low alcoholic beverages. The Company’s brands, which
include Samuel Adams®, Sam Adams Light®, Twisted Tea® and HardCore ®, are predominantly malt beverages, which are sold to the
same types of customers in similar size quantities, at similar price points and through substantially the same channels of distribution.
The Company’s products are manufactured using similar production processes and have comparable alcohol content and constitute a
single group of similar products.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. This
statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.
The Company is required to adopt the provisions of SFAS No. 157 in the first quarter of 2008. The Company is in the process of
evaluating the impact of SFAS No. 157, if any, on its 2008 consolidated financial position, operations and cash flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, Employer’s Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement
Plans, an Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R) , which applies to all plan sponsors who offer defined benefit
postretirement plans. SFAS No. 158 requires recognition of the funded status of a defined benefit postretirement plan in the statement of
financial position and expanded disclosures in the notes to financial statements. The Company adopted this provision for the year ended
December 30, 2006 and the adoption did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial position. In addition, SFAS No. 158
requires measurement of plan assets and benefit obligations as of the date of the plan sponsor’s fiscal year end. The Company is required
to adopt the measurement provision of SFAS No. 158 for its fiscal year ending December 27, 2008. The Company does not believe the
measurement provision of SFAS No. 158 to have a material effect on its 2008 consolidated financial position, operations and cash flows.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities —
Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115. SFAS No. 159 permits companies to choose to measure many financial
instruments at fair value that are not currently required to be measured at fair value, at specified election dates under its fair value option.
Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected are reported in earnings at each subsequent reporting
date. This statement also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements designed to facilitate comparisons between companies that
choose different measurement attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities. The Company is required to adopt the provisions of
SFAS No. 159 in the first quarter of 2008. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of SFAS No. 159, if any, on its
2008 consolidated financial position, operations and cash flows.
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised) (“SFAS No. 141R”), Business Combinations , which replaces SFAS No
141, Business Combinations . SFAS No. 141R will significantly change the accounting for business combinations and an acquiring
entity will be required to recognize all the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a transaction at the acquisition-date fair value with
limited exceptions. In addition to new financial statements disclosures, SFAS No. 141R will also change the accounting treatment for
certain specific items, including the expensing of acquisition costs and restructuring costs associated with a business combination, and
changes in deferred tax asset valuation allowances and income tax uncertainties after the acquisition date which generally will affect
income tax expense. SFAS No. 141R applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the
beginning of the Company’s fiscal 2009 period, with the exception of the accounting of valuation allowances on deferred tax assets and
acquired tax contingencies for which the adoption is retrospective. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of
SFAS No. 141R, if any, on its consolidated financial position, operations and cash flows.

C.

Short-Term Investments

There were no realized gains or losses on short-term investments recorded during fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005. In January 2008, the
Company liquidated all of its short-term investments, which resulted in no gains or losses.
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D.

Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following:
December 29, 2007
December 30, 2006
(In thousands)

$

Raw materials
Work in process
Finished goods

$
E.

11,229
4,116
2,745
18,090

$

11,767
3,483

1,784
$

17,034

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following:
December 29, 2007
December 30, 2006
(In thousands)

$

Kegs
Machinery and plant equipment
Office equipment and furniture
Leasehold improvements
Land
Building
Less accumulated depreciation

$

37,051
38,379
9,133
3,571
7,421
5,298
100,853
54,655
46,198

$

$

27,421
32,774
8,443
3,544
1,315
5,479
78,976
48,277
30,699

The Company recorded depreciation expense related to these assets of $6.5 million, $4.8 million and $4.4 million in fiscal years 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively.

The Company had previously been contemplating the construction of a brewery in Freetown, Massachusetts. As the probability of
proceeding on this site decreased due to entering into a purchase and sale agreement to acquire an existing brewery in Pennsylvania
(Note I), the Company determined that it was appropriate to write off in the second quarter of 2007 the $3.4 million that had been
capitalized through June 30, 2007 on the Massachusetts brewery project. In August 2007, the Company purchased the land in Freetown,
Massachusetts for $6.0 million as protection against the possibility that the results of the due diligence on the Pennsylvania Brewery
might prove unsatisfactory. The Company has now concluded it will proceed with the Pennsylvania Brewery purchase, and in February
2008, placed the land in Freetown, Massachusetts on the market.
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F. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consisted of the following:
December 29, 2007
December 30, 2006
(In thousands)

$

Advertising, promotional and selling expenses
Accrued deposits
Employee wages, benefits and reimbursements
Accrued excise taxes (see Note I)
Income taxes (see Note H)
Other accrued liabilities

$
G.

3,266
11,785
5,694
4,925
7,730
6,949

$

3,052

40,349

$

5,217
1,050
3,295
5,474
22,928

4,840

Long-term Debt and Line of Credit

The Company had a credit facility in place that provided for a $20.0 million revolving line of credit which was set to expire on March 31,
2008. On March 10, 2008, the credit facility was amended to increase the revolving line of credit to $50.0 million, to extend the expiration
date to March 31, 2013 and to modify certain other terms of the credit agreement. The Company may elect an interest rate for borrowings
under the credit facility based on either (i) the Alternative Prime Rate (7.25% at December 29, 2007) or (ii) the applicable LIBOR rate
(4.9% at December 29, 2007) plus 0.45%. The Company incurs an annual commitment fee of 0.15% on the unused portion of the
facility and is obligated to meet certain financial covenants, including the maintenance of specified levels of tangible net worth and net
income. The Company was in compliance with all covenants as of December 29, 2007. There were no borrowings outstanding under the
credit facility as of December 29, 2007 and December 30, 2006.
There are also certain restrictive covenants set forth in the credit agreement. Pursuant to the negative covenants, the Company has agreed
that it will not: enter into any indebtedness or guarantees other than those specified by the lender, enter into any sale and leaseback
transactions, merge, consolidate, or dispose of significant assets without the lender’s prior written consent, will not make or maintain any
investments other than those permitted in the credit agreement, will not enter into any transactions with affiliates outside of the ordinary
course of business, and will not make any distributions on account of, or in repurchase, retirement or purchase of its capital stock,
partnership or other equity interest, except as provided in the agreement. In addition, the credit agreement requires the Company to obtain
prior written consent from the lender on distributions on account of, or in repurchase, retirement or purchase of its capital stock or other
equity interests with the exception of the following: (a) distributions of capital stock from subsidiaries to The Boston Beer Company, Inc.
and Boston Beer Corporation (a subsidiary of The Boston Beer Company, Inc.), (b) repurchase from former employees of non-vested
investment shares of Class A Common Stock, issued under the Employee Equity Incentive Plan, and (c) redemption of shares of Class A
Common Stock as approved by the Board of Directors and payment of cash dividends to its holders of common stock. Borrowings
under the credit facility may be used for working capital, capital expenditures and general corporate purposes of the Company and its
subsidiaries. In the event of a default that has not been cured, the credit facility would terminate and any unpaid principal and accrued
interest would become due and payable.
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H. Income Taxes
Significant components of the provision for income taxes are as follows:
2005

2007

(53 weeks)

2006

(In thousands)

Current:

$ 17,420
3,435
20,855

Federal
State

Total current
Deferred:

$10,845
3,460
14,305

(1,560)
(142)
(1,702)
$19,153

Federal
State
Total deferred
Total income tax provision

$ 7,682
1,326
9,008

(714)
(17)
(731)

$13,574

913
39
952
$ 9,960

The Company’s reconciliations to statutory rates are as follows:
Statutory rate
State income tax, net of federal benefit
Non-deductible meals and entertainment
Non-deductible penalties
Tax-exempt income
Deduction relating to U.S. production activities
Change in income tax contingencies
Other

2007

2006

2005

35.0%

35.0%
3.2

35.0%

3.6
2.3
0.7
(1.2)
(2.3)

6.4
1.5
46.0%

1.1
—
(1.1)
(0.9)
4.7
0.7
42.7%

2.5
1.2
—
(1.5)
(0.9)
2.0
0.7
39.0%

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows at:
December 29,
December 30,
2007
2006
(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

$

Accrued expenses
Stock-based compensation expense
Other
Total deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid expenses
Goodwill
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)

$
50

2,621
2,067
794
5,482
(3,729)
(648)
(230)
(4,607)
875

$

1,132
1,052
720

2,904

$

(3,025)
(515)
(191)
(3,731)
(827)
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The Company adopted FIN No. 48, which is an interpretation of SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, and FASB Staff
Position FIN 48-1 (“FSP FIN 48-1”), Definition of Settlement in FASB Interpretation No. 48, at the beginning of fiscal 2007. These
interpretations clarified the accounting and financial statement reporting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized by prescribing a
recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. The adoption of FIN No. 48 did not result in an adjustment to the beginning balance of retained
earnings and also did not result in any material adjustments to reserves for uncertain tax positions.
The Company’s practice is to classify interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. Interest and penalties
included in the provision for income taxes amounted to $0.9 million in 2007, $0.5 million in 2006 and $0.2 million in 2005. Accrued
interest and penalties amounted to $1.0 million at December 29, 2007 and $0.6 million at December 30, 2006.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):

$ 4,423
1,873
1,309
(769)
(232)
$6,604

Balance at December 30, 2006
Increases related to current year tax positions
Increases related to prior year tax positions
Decreases related to settlements
Decreases related to statute expiration
Balance at December 29, 2007

Included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits at December 29, 2007, are potential benefits of $3.9 million that would favorably
impact the effective tax rate if recognized. Unrecognized tax benefits are adjusted in the period in which new information about a tax
position becomes available or the final outcome differs from the amount recorded.

The Company’s state income tax returns remain subject to examination for three or four years depending on the state’s statute of
limitations. In addition, the Company is generally obligated to report changes in taxable income arising from federal income tax audits.
In October 2006, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) commenced an examination of the Company’s 2004 and 2005 consolidated
corporate income tax returns. At December 29, 2007, the examination was in progress. Concurrent with the IRS examination, the
Company reviewed its judgments related to certain tax positions taken on the Company’s consolidated federal and state income tax returns
relating to deductibility of meals and entertainment expenses and certain other business expenses. As a result, the Company increased its
unrecognized tax benefits by $1.3 million as a change in estimate. In March 2008, in connection with the completion of the IRS
examination, the Company made a payment of $0.8 million.

In August 2007, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with the Massachusetts Department of Revenue regarding certain
apportionment issues related to the 2002 and 2003 tax years, which resulted in a reduction of unrecognized tax benefits by $0.8 million.

It is reasonably possible that the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits may increase or decrease significantly in 2008 due to the
commencement or completion of certain state income tax audits. However, the Company cannot estimate the range of such possible
changes. The Company does not expect that any potential changes would have a material impact on the Company’s financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.
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I. Commitments and Contingencies
Purchase Commitments
The Company had outstanding non-cancelable purchase commitments related to advertising contracts of approximately $15.2 million at
December 29, 2007, most of which are expected to be incurred in fiscal 2008. The Company had various other non-cancelable purchase
commitments at December 29, 2007, which amounted to $2.5 million.

The Company uses specific hops for its beer. These hops include Hallertau-Hallertauer, Tettnang-Tettnanger and Spalt-Spalter and are
harvested in several specific regions in Germany. To a lesser extent, the Company uses traditional English hops from England. The
Company has entered into contracts for the supply of a substantial portion of its normal hops requirements. These purchase contracts
extend through crop year 2015 and specify both the quantities and prices, mostly denominated in Euros, to which the Company is
committed. The Company does not use forward currency exchange contracts and intends to purchase future hops using the exchange rate
at the time of purchase. Purchases under these hops contracts were approximately $5.3 million, $3.2 million and $3.9 million for fiscal
years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. As of December 29, 2007, projected cash outflows under hops purchase commitments for each
of the remaining years under the contracts are as follows:
(In thousands)

$

2008
2009
2010

2011
2012
Thereafter

$

14,364
9,384
8,310
3,409
6,532
9,124
51,123

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into various production arrangements with other brewing companies.
Approximately 35% of the Company’s products are brewed at its wholly-owned subsidiary, Samuel Adams Brewery Company, Ltd., in
Cincinnati, Ohio. The remainder of the Company’s products is brewed by other brewing companies. Under the brewing service
arrangements with other brewing companies, the Company purchases the liquid produced by those brewing companies, including the raw
materials that are used in the liquid, at the time such liquid goes into fermentation. The Company is also required to repurchase from the
supplier all unused raw materials purchased by the supplier specifically for its products at supplier’s cost upon termination of these
production arrangements. The Company is also obligated to meet annual volume requirements in conjunction with certain production
arrangements. During 2007, the Company met all existing minimum volume requirements in accordance with the production agreements,
with the exception of one brewery location. For that brewery, the fees associated with not meeting minimum volume requirement were not
significant and have been recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements at December 29, 2007.
The Company’s arrangements with other brewing companies require it to periodically purchase fixed assets in support of brewery
operations. As of December 29, 2007, there were no significant fixed asset purchase requirements outstanding under existing contracts.
Changes to the Company’s brewing strategy or existing production arrangements, new production relationships or introduction of new
products in the future may require the Company to purchase fixed assets to support the contract breweries’ operations.

On November 2, 2007, the Company entered into a Glass Bottle Supply Agreement with Anchor Glass Container Corporation (“Anchor”)
that calls for Anchor to be the exclusive supplier of glass bottles for the
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Company’s Cincinnati brewery and the Pennsylvania Brewery, if the acquisition of that brewery is consummated, beginning January 1,
2009. The agreement also establishes the terms on which Anchor may supply glass bottles to other breweries where the Company brews
its beers.

Contingent Excise Tax Liability
During the third quarter of 2007, the Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau of the U.S. Treasury Department (the “TTB”)
performed a routine audit of the Company’s Cincinnati brewery and other breweries where some of the Company’s products are produced
(the “TTB Audit”). In February 2008, the TTB formally disputed the Company’s regulatory and tax treatment of certain of its 2006 and
2007 Twisted Tea shipments and the Company has received a notice of demand for additional excise taxes plus interest and penalties of
approximately $8.5 million. The TTB has asserted that these shipments were not classified consistent with TTB regulations that took
effect January 1, 2006. Based on the Company’s analysis to date, it believes that most of its Twisted Tea shipments were in compliance
with applicable regulations. The Company is in discussions with the TTB regarding the differences in the methodologies used to
ascertain regulatory compliance. Based on information available on December 29, 2007, the Company concluded that the range of
possible outcomes was between $3.9 million and $9.3 million. Based on the information previously collected and its earlier assessment of
likely outcomes, the Company recorded a provision of $3.9 million in the third quarter. The Company continues to maintain this
provision in its December 29, 2007 financial statements related to this contingency.

Contract of Sale for Brewery in Lehigh Valley, Pennsylvania
During the third quarter of 2007, the Company entered into a Contract of Sale to purchase from Diageo North America, Inc. a brewery
located in Lehigh Valley, Pennsylvania (the “Pennsylvania Brewery”) for $55.0 million. As of December 29, 2007, the Company has
paid total deposits of $10.0 million and incurred $1.5 million in acquisition costs, which are included in other assets in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The Company expects to close on the purchase of the Pennsylvania Brewery and pay the
remaining $45.0 million of the purchase price in June 2008, barring any unforeseen circumstances. In addition to the purchase price of
$55.0 million, the Company expects to have spent between $45.0 million and $55.0 million in capital improvements and due diligence
by the end of 2008. As of December 29, 2007, the Company has committed to $5.3 million and spent $2.1 million of this capital plan,
the latter of which is included in property, plant and equipment, net, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

As a part of the purchase and sale arrangement, Diageo and the Company also entered into a Packaging Services Agreement dated
August 1, 2007 (the “Packaging Services Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company has agreed to blend and package the Diageo
products currently being produced at the Pennsylvania Brewery by Diageo. The Packaging Services Agreement will take effect on the date
on which the Company purchases the Pennsylvania Brewery and will have a term of approximately two years. It is anticipated that the
volume of Diageo products being produced at the Pennsylvania Brewery will decline over the term, while, at the same time, the volume of
the Company’s products being produced there will increase.

Lease Commitments
The Company has various operating lease agreements in place for facilities and equipment as of December 29, 2007. Terms of these
leases include, in some instances, scheduled rent increases, renewals, purchase options, and maintenance costs, and vary by lease.
These lease obligations expire at various dates through 2017. Aggregate rent expense was $0.8 million, $1.4 million and $1.3 million in
fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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Aggregate minimum annual rental payments under these agreements are as follows:
(In thousands)

2008
2009
2010

$

769
787
663
693
771

$

6,985

2011
2012

3,302

Thereafter

Litigation
The Company, along with numerous other beverage alcohol producers, was named as a defendant in a number of class action law suits
in several states relating to advertising practices and under-age consumption. Each complaint contained substantially the same allegations
that each defendant marketed its products to under-age drinkers and sought an injunction and unspecified money damages on behalf of a
class of parents and guardians. As of December 29, 2007, all complaints and related appeals have been withdrawn.

The Company had been in litigation with its previous liability insurers regarding the coverage of defense costs in connection with the
above-referenced complaints. In November 2007, the Company and the insurers entered into a settlement agreement, pursuant to which all
claims asserted by each of the parties were released and the insurers reimbursed the Company $0.9 million in legal costs previously
incurred by the Company. The reimbursement of legal costs is included as income in general and administrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations for fiscal year 2007.
The Company is not a party to any other pending or threatened litigation, the outcome of which would be expected to have a material
adverse effect upon its financial condition or the results of its operations.

J. Common Stock
Class A Common Stock
The Class A Common Stock has no voting rights, except (1) as required by law, (2) for the election of Class A Directors, and (3) that the
approval of the holders of the Class A Common Stock is required for (a) certain future authorizations or issuances of additional securities
which have rights senior to Class A Common Stock, (b) certain alterations of rights or terms of the Class A or Class B Common Stock
as set forth in the Articles of Organization of the Company, (c) other amendments of the Articles of Organization of the Company,
(d) certain mergers or consolidations with, or acquisitions of, other entities, and (e) sales or dispositions of any significant portion of the
Company’s assets.

Class B Common Stock
The Class B Common Stock has full voting rights, including the right to (1) elect a majority of the members of the Company’s Board of
Directors and (2) approve all (a) amendments to the Company’s articles of Organization, (b) mergers or consolidations with, or
acquisitions of, other entities, (c) sales or dispositions of any significant portion of the Company’s assets, and (d) equity-based and other
executive compensation and other significant corporate matters. The Company’s Class B Common Stock is not listed for trading. Each
share of Class B Common Stock is freely convertible into one share of Class A Common Stock, upon request of any Class B holder.
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All distributions of equity interest are restricted by the Company’s credit agreement, as amended on March 10, 2008 with the exception of
distributions of capital stock from subsidiaries to The Boston Beer Company, Inc. and Boston Beer Corporation, repurchase from
former employees of non-vested investment shares of Class A Common Stock issued under the Company’s equity incentive plan and
redemption of certain shares of Class A Common Stock as approved by the Board of Directors and payment of cash dividends to its
holders of common stock.

Employee Stock Compensation Plan
The Company’s Employee Equity Incentive Plan (the “Equity Plan”) currently provides for the grant of discretionary options and
restricted stock awards to employees; it also provides for shares issued to employees of the Company under its investment share program.
The Plan is administered by the Board of Directors of the Company, based on recommendations received from the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors. The Compensation Committee consists of three independent directors. In determining the quantities
and types of awards for grant, the Compensation Committee periodically reviews the objectives of the Company’s compensation system
and takes into account the position and responsibilities of the employee being considered, the nature and value to the Company of his or
her service and accomplishments, his or her present and potential contributions to the success of the Company, the value of the type of
awards to the employee and such other factors as the Compensation Committee deems relevant.

Stock options and related vesting requirements and terms are granted at the Board of Directors’ discretion, but generally vest ratably over
five-year periods and, with respect to certain options granted to members of senior management, based on the Company’s performance.
Generally, the maximum contractual term of stock options is ten years, although the Board of Directors may grant options that exceed the
ten-year term. During fiscal 2007 and 2006, the Company granted options to purchase 336,100 and 94,000 shares, respectively, of its
Class A Common Stock to employees at market price on the grant dates. The 2007 option grants consist of a service-based option to
purchase 180,000 shares that vest at the end of a six-year period and an aggregate of 156,100 performance-based options. All 2006 option
grants are performance-based options. The number of shares that will vest under the performance-based options depends on the level of
performance targets attained on various dates.
Restricted stock awards are also granted at the Board of Directors’ discretion. During fiscal 2007 and 2006, the Company granted 40,013
and 32,079 shares, respectively, of restricted stock awards to certain senior managers and key employees, which vest ratably over
service periods of five years. During fiscal 2007, the Company granted an additional 3,195 shares of performance-based restricted stock
awards to certain key employees that are not expected to vest as performance targets were not attained. No restricted stock awards were
granted prior to January 1, 2006. The issuance of restricted stock awards resulted in part from the Company’s evaluation in 2006 of
employee preference in the types of stock awards to be issued to them as part of their total compensation package.

The Equity Plan also has an investment share program which permits employees who have been with the Company for at least one year to
purchase shares of Class A Common Stock at a discount from current market value of 0% to 40%, based on the employee’s tenure with
the Company. Investment shares vest ratably over service periods of five years. Participants may pay for these shares either up front or
through payroll deductions over an eleven-month period during the year of purchase. During fiscal 2007 and 2006, employees elected to
purchase an aggregate of 15,320 and 19,577 investment shares, respectively.
On December 21, 2007, the Equity Plan was amended whereby the number of shares of Class A Common Stock reserved for issuance
under the plan was increased from 4.2 million to 5.2 million. As of December 29, 2007, 1.3 million shares remained available for grant.
Shares reserved for issuance under canceled employee stock options and forfeited restricted stock are returned to the reserve under the
Equity Plan for future grants
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or purchases. The Company also purchases unvested investment shares from employees who have left the Company; these shares are
also returned to the reserve under the Equity Plan for future grants or purchases.

Non-Employee Director Options
The Company has a stock option plan for non-employee directors of the Company (the “Non-Employee Director Plan”), pursuant to
which each non-employee director of the Company is granted an option to purchase shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock
upon election or re-election to the Board of Directors. Stock options issued to non-employee directors vest upon grant and have a
maximum contractual term of ten years. During fiscal 2007 and 2006, the Company granted options to purchase an aggregate of 33,000
and 31,000 shares, respectively, of the Company’s Class A Common Stock to non-employee directors.

The Company has reserved 0.4 million shares of Class A Common Stock for issuance pursuant to the Non-Employee Director Plan, of
which 0.1 million shares were available for grant as of December 29, 2007. Cancelled non-employee directors’ stock options are returned
to the reserve under the Non-Employee Director Plan for future grants.

Option Activity
Information related to stock options under the Equity Plan and the Non-Employee Director Plan is summarized as follows:
Weighted-

Average
Shares

Exercise
Price

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term
in Years

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
(In thousands)

Outstanding at December 30, 2006
Granted
Forfeited
Expired
Exercised

Outstanding at December 29, 2007
Exercisable at December 29, 2007
Vested and expected to vest at December 29, 2007

1,615,994
369,100
(41,000)

(15,000)

(235,651)
1,693,443
816,033
1,400,637

$ 17.39
39.95
24.56
35.09
14.63
$ 22.36
$ 15.94
$ 21.38

6.07
4.10

5.67

$
$
$

25,985
17,753
22,865

Of the total options outstanding at December 29, 2007, 560,000 shares were performance-based options.

Stock Option Grants to Chief Executive Officer
In August 2007, the Company granted an option to purchase 180,000 shares of its Class A Common Stock to its Chief Executive Officer
that cliff-vest after completion of a six-year service period. Under the binomial option-pricing model, the weighted average fair value of the
option is $19.39 per share, and the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense of $0.2 million related to this stock option in
fiscal year 2007.

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company granted the Chief Executive Officer an option to purchase 753,864 shares of its Class A
Common Stock, which vest over a five-year period, commencing on January 1, 2014, at the rate of 20% per year. The exercise price is
determined by multiplying $42.00 by the aggregate change in the DJ Wilshire 5000 Index from and after January 1, 2008 through the close
of business on the trading date next preceding each date on which the option is exercised. The exercise price will not be less than $37.65
per share and the excess of the fair value of the Company’s Class A Common Stock cannot exceed $70
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per share over the exercise price. The Company will account for this award as a market-based award and calculated the weighted average
fair value per share to be $8.41.

Stock-Based Compensation
The following table provides information regarding stock-based compensation expense included in operating expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income, since the adoption of SFAS No. 123R:
2007
2006
(In thousands)

Amounts included in advertising, promotional and selling expenses
Amounts included in general and administrative expenses
Total stock-based compensation expense
Amounts related to performance-based stock options included in total stock-based compensation expense

$1,164
1,894
$ 3,058
$ 1,141

$

901
1,850
$2,751
$ 1,205

The Company adopted SFAS No. 123R on January 1, 2006 using the modified-prospective transition method. Consequently, prior period
financial statements have not been restated to reflect the effect of SFAS No. 123R. In fiscal year 2005, the Company recognized
$0.1 million in stock-based compensation expense related to investment shares under the intrinsic value method.
The effect of the adoption of SFAS No. 123R was a decrease in income before provision for income taxes by $0.7 million and a decrease
in net income by $0.4 million, or $0.03 per basic and diluted common share, in fiscal 2006. The following table illustrates the effect on
net income and net income per common share if the Company had recognized stock-based compensation expense under the fair value
method in fiscal 2005:
(In thousands,
except per
share data)

Net income, as reported
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense reported in net income, net of tax effects
Deduct: Total stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value based method for all awards, net of
related tax effects
Pro forma net income
Net income per share:
Basic — as reported
Basic — pro forma
Diluted — as reported
Diluted — pro forma

$

15,559
87

$

14,608

$
$
$
$

1.10

(1,038)

1.03

1.07
1.01

For stock options granted prior to January 1, 2006, fair values were estimated on the date of grants using a Black-Scholes option-pricing
model. As permitted by SFAS No. 123R, the Company elected to use a lattice model, such as the binomial option-pricing model, to
estimate the fair values of stock options granted on or after January 1, 2006. The Company believes that the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model is less effective than the binomial option-pricing model in valuing long-term options, as it assumes that volatility and interest rates
are constant over the life of the option. In addition, the Company believes that the binomial option-pricing model more accurately reflects
the fair value of its stock awards, as it takes into account historical employee exercise patterns based on changes in the Company’s stock
price and other relevant variables. The weighted-average fair value of stock options granted during 2005 was $9.35 per share as
calculated using the Black-
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Scholes option-pricing model. The weighted-average fair value of stock options granted during 2007 and 2006 was $15.95 and $8.43 per
share, respectively, as calculated using a binomial option-pricing model.

Weighted average assumptions used to estimate fair values of stock options on the date of grants are as follows:
2007
(Binomial Model)

30.5%

Expected volatility
Expected life of option
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividends
Exercise factor
Discount for post-vesting restrictions
^

2006
(Binomial Model)

^

4.79%

2005

(Black-Scholes Model)

31.6%
^

3.82%

0%

0%

1.5 times
6.0%

1.5 times
6.5%

33.6%
6.8 years
3.78%
0%

*
*

The expected life of the option is an output of the binomial model, which resulted in a weighted average of 9.1 and 7.3 years for options
granted during 2007 and 2006, respectively.

* Assumption not considered in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
Expected volatility is based on the Company’s historical realized volatility. Expected life of an option is based on the Company’s
historical experience of stock options. The risk-free interest rate represents the implied yields available from the U.S. Treasury zerocoupon yield curve over the contractual term of the option when using the binomial model and the implied yield available on
U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term equal to the expected term of the option when using the Black-Scholes model.
Expected dividend yield is 0% because the Company has not paid dividends in the past and currently has no known intention to do so in
the future. Exercise factor and discount for post-vesting restrictions are based on the Company’s historical experience.

Fair value of investment shares was calculated using the same methods as those used to calculate the fair value of stock options in the
respective financial statement periods. Fair value of restricted stock awards was based on the Company’s traded stock price on the date of
the grants.

The Company uses the straight-line attribution method in recognizing stock-based compensation expense for awards that vest based on
service conditions. For awards that vest subject to performance conditions, compensation expense is recognized ratably for each tranche of
the award over the performance period if it is probable that performance conditions will be met. These methods are consistent with the
methods the Company used in recognizing stock-based compensation expense for disclosure purposes under SFAS No. 123 prior to the
adoption of SFAS No. 123R. In June 2005, an option to purchase 300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock was granted to the
Company’s chief executive officer. This option vests based upon the achievement of performance targets. During the fourth quarter of
2006, the Company was able to estimate for the first time that the achievement of the performance targets as to 180,000 shares of this
option is probable. Consequently, the Company recorded $0.8 million in stock-based compensation expense related to this stock option in
the fourth quarter of 2006.

Under SFAS No. 123R, compensation expense is recognized less estimated forfeitures. Because most of the Company’s equity awards
vests on January 1st each year, the Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to those awards, net of actual
forfeitures, in 2007 and 2006. For equity awards that do not vest on January 1st each year, the estimated forfeiture rate used was 10%.
The forfeiture rate was based upon historical experience and the Company periodically reviews this rate to ensure proper projection of
future forfeitures. For pro forma compensation expense disclosure purposes for 2005, forfeitures are recognized as occurred according to
SFAS No. 123.
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The total fair value of options vested during 2007 and 2006 was $1.7 million and $1.4 million, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value
of stock options exercised during 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $5.1 million, $5.7 million and $3.0 million, respectively.

Based on equity awards outstanding as of December 29, 2007, there were $6.0 million of unrecognized compensation costs, net of
estimated forfeitures, related to unvested share-based compensation arrangements that are expected to vest. Such costs are expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.6 years. The following table summarizes the estimated future annual stock-based
compensation expense related to share-based arrangements existing as of December 29, 2007 that are expected to vest:
(In thousands)

$

2008
2009
2010

1,994
1,304

1,063

2011
2012

834

Thereafter
Total

$

524
316
6,035

In addition, as of December 29, 2007, there were $1.1 million of unrecognized compensation costs associated with the second tranche of
the option to purchase 300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock granted to the Company’s chief executive officer with vesting
requirements based on the achievement of various performance targets in 2009. For various other stock options that vest based on
performance, there were $1.3 million of unrecognized compensation costs as of December 29, 2007. Through December 29, 2007, no
compensation expense was recognized for these performance-based stock options, nor will any be recognized until such time when the
Company can estimate that it is probable that performance targets will be met.

Non-Vested Shares Activity
The following table summarizes vesting activities of shares issued under the investment share program and restricted stock awards:
Weighted

Non-vested at December 30, 2006
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Non-vested at December 29, 2007

Number
of Shares

Average
Fair Value

91,054
58,528
(25,204)
(8,453)
115,925

$ 14.96
31.13
13.05
27.96
$ 22.59

Stock Repurchase Program
On December 11, 2007, the Board of Directors approved a $10.0 million increase to the aggregate expenditure limit for the repurchase of
the Company’s Class A Common Stock, thereby increasing the limit from $100.0 million to $110.0 million. On February 13, 2008, the
Board of Directors approved an additional $10.0 expenditure limit for the repurchase of the Company’s Class A Common Stock.
Through December 29, 2007, the Company has repurchased a total of approximately 8.0 million shares of its Class A Common Stock
for an aggregate purchase price of $98.7 million.
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K.

Employee Retirement Plans

The Company has one retirement plan covering substantially all non-union employees and five retirement plans covering substantially all
union employees.

Non-Union Plan
The Boston Beer Company 401(k) Plan (the “401(k) Plan”), which was established by the Company in 1993, is a Company-sponsored
defined contribution plan that covers a majority of the Company’s non-union employees. All full-time, non-union employees over the age
of 21 are eligible to participate in the plan on the first day of the first month after commencing employment. Participants may make
voluntary contributions up to 60% of their annual compensation, subject to IRS limitations. After the sixth month of employment, the
Company matches each employee’s contribution dollar for dollar up to $1,000 and, thereafter, 50% of the employee’s contribution up to
6% of the employee’s eligible annual wages. The Company’s contributions to the 401(k) Plan amounted to $0.8 million, $0.6 million,
and $0.5 million in fiscal years 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively.

Union Plans
The Company has one Company-sponsored defined contribution plan and four defined benefit plans, which combined cover
substantially all union employees. The defined benefit plans include two union-sponsored collectively bargained multi-employer pension
plans, a Company-sponsored defined benefit pension plan and a Company-sponsored post-retirement medical plan.

The Company’s defined contribution plan, the Samuel Adams Brewery Company, Ltd. 401(k) Plan for Represented Employees, was
established by the Company in 1997 and is available to all union employees upon completion of one hour of full-time employment.
Participants may make voluntary contributions up to 60% of their annual compensation to the Samuel Adams Brewery Company, Ltd.
401(k) Plan, subject to IRS limitations. Effective April 1, 2007, the Company makes a non-elective contribution for certain bargaining
employees who are members of a specific union. Company contributions were insignificant in fiscal 2007. The Company also incurs
insignificant administration costs for the plan.
The union-sponsored benefit plans are two multi-employer retirement plans administrated by organized labor unions. Information from
the plans’ administrators is not sufficient to permit the Company to determine its share, if any, of the unfunded vested benefits. Pension
expense and employer contributions for these multi-employer plans were not significant in the aggregate.

The Company-sponsored defined benefit pension plan, The Local Union # 1199 Defined Benefit Pension Plan (the “Local 1199 Plan”),
was established in 1991 and is eligible to all union employees who are covered by the Company’s collective bargaining agreement and
have completed twelve consecutive months of employment with at least 750 hours worked. The defined benefit is determined based on
years of service since July 1991. The Company made combined contributions of $0.2 million to this plan in fiscal 2007 and
$0.1 million in each of the fiscal years 2006 and 2005.
A comprehensive medical plan is offered to union employees who have voluntarily retired at the age of 65 or have become permanently
disabled. Employees must have worked for the Company or have prior ownership for at least 10 years at the Company’s Cincinnati
brewery, been enrolled in the Company’s medical insurance plan and be eligible for Medicare benefits under the Social Security Act. The
accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation was determined using a discount rate of 6.0% and 5.75% at September 30, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, and a 2.5% increase in the Cincinnati Consumer Price Index for the years then ended. The effect of a 1% point increase and
the effect of a 1% point decrease in the assumed health care cost trend rates on the aggregate of the service and interest cost components of
net periodic postretirement health care benefit costs and the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation for health care benefits were not
significant.
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As required, the Company adopted the recognition and disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 158 as of December 30, 2006. SFAS No. 158
required the Company to recognize the funded status, the difference between the fair value of plan assets and the projected benefit
obligations, with a corresponding adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax. The adjustment to accumulated other
comprehensive loss at adoption represents the net unrecognized actuarial losses, unrecognized prior service costs and unrecognized
transition obligation remaining from the initial adoption of SFAS No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions , which were previously
netted against the plan’s funded status in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. These amounts will be subsequently recognized as
net periodic pension cost pursuant to the Company’s historical accounting policy for amortizing such amounts. The incremental effects of
the adoption of the recognition provisions of SFAS No. 158 were not significant to the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of
December 30, 2006.
The Company uses a September 30 measurement date for its defined benefit pension plan and post-retirement medical plan. Summarized
information for those plans are as follows:
Post-Retirement
Local 1199 Plan
Medical Plan
2007
2006
2007
2006
(In thousands)

Change in Benefit Obligations
Benefit obligations at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial losses (gains)
Benefits paid
Benefit obligations at end of year
Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Company contributions
Benefits paid
Fair value of plan assets at end of year

$1,052
85
60
46
(22)

$ 981
77
53
(40)

$1,221

(19)
$1,052

$

$

813

98

50
69
(19)

242
(22)

$ 1,131

$

Funded Status
Funded status at end of year

$

Unrecognized net actuarial loss
Prepaid contribution
Net amount recognized

259
—
$ 169
$

Amounts Recognized in Balance Sheets
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Net amount recognized
Accumulated Benefit Obligation

(90)

—
(90)

259
$ 169
$1,221
61

713

$ 281
11
16
18
(8)
$ 318

$ 259
9

$ —
—
8

$ —
—
8

14

7
(8)

$ 281

(8)

(8)

$ —

$ —

$ (239)
261
—
$ 22

$ (318)
—
$ (244)

$ (281)
58
—
$ (223)

$

$

$

813

—
(239)
261
$ 22
$1,052

74

(8)
(310)

74

$ (244)
$ 318

(8)
(273)

58
$ (223)
$ 281
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The amounts in accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 29, 2007 and December 30, 2006 that have not yet been recognized
as components of net periodic benefit cost represent net gains and losses. There were no unrecognized prior service costs and net transition
asset or obligation. The amount in accumulated other comprehensive loss expected to be recognized as components of net periodic benefit
cost in fiscal year 2008 is $10,000 and $3,000 for the Local 1199 Plan and the post-retirement medical plan, respectively.
Local 1199 Plan
2007

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of net actuarial loss
Net periodic benefit cost

Amounts Recognized in Other Comprehensive Loss
Net gain (loss)
Amortization of net actuarial loss
Total recognized in other comprehensive loss
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit
obligations
Discount rate
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic
benefit cost
Discount rate
Expected return on assets

2006

$ 85
60
(61)
12
$ 96

$

$

$ (54)
(17)
$ (71)

9
(12)

$

(3)

$

2007
(In thousands)

2005

77
53

$ 74

(54)

17
93

Post-Retirement
Medical Plan
2006

$

(52)
18
$ 88

11
16
—
2
$ 29

$ 6

$

48

(18)
$ (12)

$

18

$

—
2
$ 25

9
11
—
—

$

20

$

$

14

(2)

$ 16

9

2005

5
(2)

$

3

44

—
$

44

6.0%

5.75%

5.5%

6.0%

5.75%

5.5%

5.75%

5.5%

5.8%

7.0%

7.0%

7.0%

5.75%
—

5.5%
—

5.75%
—

The Local 1199 Plan invests in a family of funds that are designed to minimize excessive short-term risk and focus on consistent,
competitive long-term performance, consistent with the funds’ investment objectives. The fund specific objectives vary and include
maximizing long-term returns both before and after taxes, maximizing total return from capital appreciation plus income and funds that
invest in common stock of companies that cover a broad range of industries.
The basis of the long-term rate of return assumption reflects the Local 1199 Plan’s current asset mix of approximately 60% debt
securities and 40% equity securities with assumed average annual returns of approximately 5% to 6% for debt securities and 10% to 12%
for equity securities. It is assumed that the Local 1199 Plan’s investment portfolio will be adjusted periodically to maintain the current
ratios of debt securities and equity securities. Additional consideration is given to the Plan’s historical returns as well as future long-range
projections of investment returns for each asset category.
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The Local 1199 Plan’s weighted-average asset allocations at the measurement dates by asset category are as follows:
September 30,

September 30,

2007

2006

Asset Category

Equity securities
Debt securities
Other
Total

45%
53
2

46%
54
—

100%

100%

The Company expects to contribute $0.1 million to the Local 1199 Plan and $8,000 to the post-retirement medical plan during the fiscal
year 2008.
The following benefit amounts, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:
Local 1199
Plan

$

2008
2009
2010

$

8
9
9

25
28
35

2011
2012

10

12
90

41

2013-2017
Total

L.

23

Post-Retirement
Medical Plan
(In thousands)

$

386
538

$

138

Net Income per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income per share:
2005

2007

2006

(53 weeks)

(In thousands)

Net income

Weighted average shares of Class A Common Stock
Weighted average shares of Class B Common Stock
Shares used in net income per common share — basic
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options
Non-vested investment shares and restricted stock
Dilutive potential common shares
Shares used in net income per common share — diluted

Net income per common share — basic
Net income per common share — diluted

$ 22,491
10,086
4,107
14,193

$18,192
9,793
4,107
13,900

$15,559
10,019
4,107
14,126

481

460

390

25
506
14,699
$ 1.58
$ 1.53

15
475
14,375
$ 1.31
$ 1.27

—
390

$
$

14,516
1.10
1.07

Basic net income per common share for each share of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock is $1.58, $1.31 and $1.10
for the fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, as each share of Class A and Class B participates equally in earnings. Shares of
Class B are convertible at any time into shares of Class A on a one-for-one basis at the option of the stockholder.
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Options to purchase 140,000, 106,000 and 33,000 shares of Class A Common Stock were outstanding during fiscal 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively, but not included in computing diluted income per share because their effects were anti-dilutive. Additionally,
performance-based stock options to purchase 200,000, 120,000 and 364,500 of Class A Common Stock were outstanding during fiscal
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, but not included in computing dilutive income per share because the performance criteria of these
stock options were not expected to be met as of December 29, 2007, December 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005.

M. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
Accumulated comprehensive loss represents amounts of unrecognized actuarial losses related to the Company sponsored defined benefit
pension plan and post-retirement medical plan, net of tax effect. Changes in accumulated comprehensive loss represent actuarial losses,
net of tax effect, recognized as components of net periodic benefit costs.

N.

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

The Company maintains reserves against accounts receivable for doubtful accounts and inventory for obsolete and slow-moving
inventory. In addition, the Company maintains a reserve for estimated returns of stale beer, which is included in accrued expenses.
Balance at
Beginning of
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Period

$

2007
2006
2005

Balance at
Net Provision
(Recovery)

215
116
597

$

317
463
713

O.

854
845
798

—

$

(8)

(226)

249
215
116

Balance at

$

2,175
1,522

$

384

(1,860)
(1,668)
(634)

End of
Period

$

632
317
463

Balance at
Net Provision
Amounts Charged
(Recovery)
Against Reserves
(In thousands)

Period

$

2007
2006
2005

Period

Net Provision
Amounts Charged
(Recovery)
Against Reserves
(In thousands)

Balance at
Beginning of
Stale Beer Reserve

$

(255)

Period

$

2007
2006
2005

34

End of

107

Balance at
Beginning of
Inventory Obsolescence Reserve

Amounts Charged
Against Reserves
(In thousands)

$

1,614
1,755
1,393

$

(1,376)
(1,746)
(1,346)

End of
Period

$ 1,092
854
845

Quarterly Results (Unaudited)

The Company’s fiscal quarters are consistently determined year to year and generally consist of 13 weeks, except in those fiscal years in
which there are fifty-three weeks where the last fiscal quarters then consist of 14 weeks. In management’s opinion, the following
unaudited information includes all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of the
information for the quarters presented. The operating results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future
quarters.
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December 29,
2007(4)

2007(3)

(13 weeks)

(13 weeks)

Net income per share — basic

$
$

497
92,187
53,183
14,229
6,755
0.48

Net income per share — diluted

$

0.46

Barrels sold

Net revenue
Gross profit
Operating income
Net income

$

September 29,

$
$

476
84,144
43,116
3,593
3,177
0.22

$

0.21

$

June 30,
2007(2)
(13 weeks)

For Quarters Ended
(In thousands, except per share data)
March 31,
December 30,
2007
2006(1)

(13 weeks)

$ 92,868
52,738
10,545
$ 6,791
$ 0.48

396
$ 72,448
40,322
8,518
$ 5,768
$
0.41

$

$

507

0.46

0.40

April 1,

2006

2006

2006

(13 weeks)

(13 weeks)

(13 weeks)

440

$ 79,333
47,057
12,308
$ 7,986
$ 0.57

324
$ 56,888
32,673
2,369
$ 1,821
$
0.13

$

$

$

$
$

73,343
41,076
5,090
2,477
0.18

$
$

432
75,867
43,470
8,183
5,908
0.43

$

0.17

$

0.41

416

$

July 1,

September 30,

(13 weeks)

0.56

0.13

(1) During the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company increased income tax expense related to state income tax in certain states for 2003
to 2006 by approximately $1.0 million.
(2) During the second quarter of 2007, the Company wrote-off $3.4 million in capitalized brewery costs.
(3) During the third quarter of 2007, the Company recorded a $3.9 million provision for estimated contingent excise taxes related to a

Federal Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau audit.
(4) During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company recorded a $2.2 million provision for income taxes as a result of the Company’s
review of its judgments concerning certain income tax deductions in connection with an income tax audit. Also during the fourth
quarter of 2007, the Company recorded a $0.9 million gain, representing insurance reimbursement of prior period legal costs
incurred by the Company.
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Item 9.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

None.

Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures
The Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, carried out an evaluation of the
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on this
evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures were effective to provide a reasonable level of assurance that the information required to be disclosed in the reports filed or
submitted by the Company under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 was recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the
requisite time periods.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as
such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f). The Company’s internal control system was designed to provide reasonable
assurance to the Company’s management and Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial
statements.
The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 29,
2007. In making this assessment, the Company used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) in Internal Control — Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment we believe that, as of December 29, 2007,
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
of The Boston Beer Company, Inc.
We have audited The Boston Beer Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 29, 2007, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (the COSO criteria). The Boston Beer Company, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting in the accompanying
management’s report on internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, The Boston Beer Company, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as
of December 29, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of The Boston Beer Company, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 29, 2007 and December 30, 2006, and
the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 29, 2007, and our report dated March 11, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
March 11, 2008
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(c)

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

No changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting occurred during the quarter ended December 29, 2007 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B.

Other Information

None.

PART III

Item 10.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

In December, 2002, the Board of Directors of the Company adopted a (i) Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to its Chief
Executive Officer and its Chief Financial Officer, and (ii) Corporate Governance Guidelines. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
was amended effective August 1, 2007 to provide for a third-party whistleblower hotline. These, as well as the charters of each of the
Board Committees, are posted on the Company’s website, www.bostonbeer.com, and are available in print to any shareholder who
requests them. Such requests should be directed to the Investor Relations Department, The Boston Beer Company, Inc., One Design
Center Place, Suite 850, Boston, MA 02210. The Company intends to disclose any amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of its
code of ethics that applies to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer and that relates to any element of the Code
of Ethics definition enumerated in Item 406 of Regulation S-K by posting such information on the Company’s website.
The information required by Item 10 is hereby incorporated by reference from the registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2008
Annual Meeting to be held on May 23, 2008.

Item 11.

Executive Compensation

The Information required by Item 11 is hereby incorporated by reference from the registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2008
Annual Meeting to be held on May 23, 2008.

Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Security Ownership
The information required by Item 12 with respect to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is hereby
incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting to be held on May 23, 2008.

Related Stockholder Matters

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Plan Category

Equity Compensation Plans Approved by
Security Holders
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by
Security Holders
Total

Number of Securities to be
Issued Upon Exercise of
Outstanding Options,
Warrants and Rights

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding Options,
Warrants and Rights

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance Under
Equity Compensation Plans

1,693,443

$

22.36

1,370,438

N/A
1,693,443

$

N/A
22.36

N/A
1,370,438
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Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by Item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference from the registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2008
Annual Meeting to be held on May 23, 2008.

Item 14.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by Item 14 is hereby incorporated by reference from the registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2008
Annual Meeting to be held on May 23, 2008.

PART IV

Item 15.

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)1. Financial Statements.

The following financial statements are filed as a part of this report:
Page

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Financial Statements:
Balance Sheets as of December 29, 2007 and December 30, 2006
Statements of Income for the years ended December 29, 2007, December 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005
Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 29, 2007, December 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 29, 2007, December 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

36
37
38
39-40
41

42-65

(a)2. Financial Statement Schedules.

All schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission have been
omitted because they are inapplicable or the required information is shown in the consolidated financial statements, or notes thereto,
included herein.

(b) Exhibits
The following is a list of exhibits filed as part of this Form 10-K:
Exhibit No.

3.1
3.2
4.1

10.1

10.2

Title

Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company, dated June 2, 1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 10, 1998).
Restated Articles of Organization of the Company, dated November 17, 1995, as amended August 4, 1998.
Form of Class A Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement No. 33-96164).
Revolving Credit Agreement between Fleet Bank of Massachusetts, N.A. and Boston Beer Company Limited
Partnership (the “Partnership”), dated as of May 2, 1995 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement No. 33-96162).
Loan Security and Trust Agreement, dated October 1, 1987, among Massachusetts Industrial Finance Agency, the
Partnership and The First National Bank of Boston, as Trustee, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Company’s Registration Statement No. 33-96164).
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Exhibit No.

10.3
10.4

10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8
+10.9
+10.10
+10.11

Title

Deferred Compensation Agreement between the Partnership and Alfred W. Rossow, Jr., effective December 1, 1992
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement No. 33-96162).
The Boston Beer Company, Inc. Employee Equity Incentive Plan, as adopted effective November 20, 1995 and
amended effective February 23, 1996 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement
No. 333-1798).
Form of Employment Agreement between the Partnership and employees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the
Company’s Registration Statement No. 33-96162).
Services Agreement between The Boston Beer Company, Inc. and Chemical Mellon Shareholder Services, dated as of
October 27, 1995 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K, filed on April 1, 1996).
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Partnership and certain employees and Advisory Committee members
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Registration Statement No. 33-96162).
Stockholder Rights Agreement, dated as of December, 1995, among The Boston Beer Company, Inc. and the initial
Stockholders (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K, filed on April 1, 1996).
Agreement between Boston Brewing Company, Inc. and The Stroh Brewery Company, dated as of January 31, 1994
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Registration Statement No. 33-96164).
Agreement between Boston Brewing Company, Inc. and the Genesee Brewing Company, dated as of July 25, 1995
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Registration Statement No. 33-96164).
Amended and Restated Agreement between Pittsburgh Brewing Company and Boston Brewing Company, Inc. dated as
of February 28, 1989 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Registration Statement

No. 33-96164).
10.12

+10.13

+10.14

10.15

+10.16

10.17

Amendment to Amended and Restated Agreement between Pittsburgh Brewing Company, Boston Brewing Company,
Inc., and G. Heileman Brewing Company, Inc., dated December 13, 1989 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to
the Company’s Registration Statement No. 33-96162).
Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Agreement between Pittsburgh Brewing Company and Boston Brewing
Company, Inc. dated as of August 3, 1992 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Registration
Statement No. 33-96164).
Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Agreement between Pittsburgh Brewing Company and Boston Brewing
Company, Inc. dated December 1, 1994 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Registration
Statement No. 33-96164).
Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Agreement between Pittsburgh Brewing Company and Boston Brewing
Company, Inc. dated as of April 7, 1995 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Registration
Statement No. 33-96162).
Letter Agreement between Boston Beer Company Limited Partnership and Joseph E. Seagram & Sons, Inc. (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s Registration Statement No. 33-96162).
Services Agreement and Fee Schedule of Mellon Bank, N.A. Escrow Agent Services for The Boston Beer Company,
Inc. dated as of October 27, 1995 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Registration Statement

No. 33-96164).
10.18
10.19

Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement between Fleet Bank of Massachusetts, N.A. and the Partnership
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Registration Statement No. 33-96164).
1996 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K, filed on

March 31, 1997).
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Exhibit No.

+10.20
+10.21
+10.22

10.23
+10.24
+10.26

10.27

+10.28
+10.29
+10.30

10.31

+10.33

Title

Production Agreement between The Stroh Brewery Company and Boston Beer Company Limited Partnership, dated
January 14, 1997 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K, filed on March 31, 1997).
Letter Agreement between The Stroh Brewery Company and Boston Beer Company Limited Partnership, dated
January 14, 1997 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K, filed on March 31, 1997).
Agreement between Boston Beer Company Limited Partnership and The Schoenling Brewing Company, dated May 22,
1996 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K, filed on March 31, 1997).
Revolving Credit Agreement between Fleet Bank of Massachusetts, N.A. and The Boston Beer Company, Inc., dated as
of March 21, 1997 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q, filed on May 12, 1997).
Amended and Restated Agreement between Boston Brewing Company, Inc. and the Genesee Brewing Company, Inc.
dated April 30, 1997 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q, filed on August 11, 1997).
Fifth Amendment, dated December 31, 1997, to Amended and Restated Agreement between Pittsburgh Brewing
Company and Boston Brewing Company, Inc. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K, filed on

March 26, 1998).
Extension letters, dated August 19, 1997, November 19, 1997, December 19, 1997, January 22, 1998,
February 25, 1998 and March 11, 1998 between The Stroh Brewery Company and Boston Brewing Company, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K, filed on March 26, 1998).
Employee Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and effective on December 19, 1997 (incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Form 10-K, filed on March 26, 1998).
1996 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended and effective on December 19, 1997 (incorporated
by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K, filed March 26, 1998).
Glass Supply Agreement between The Boston Beer Company and Owens’ Brockway Glass Container Inc., dated
April 30, 1998 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q, filed on August 10, 1998).
Extension letters, dated April 13, 1998, April 27, 1998, June 11, 1998, June 25, 1998 and July 20, 1998 between
The Stroh Brewery Company and Boston Brewing Company, Inc. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Form 10-Q, filed on August 10, 1998).
Amended and Restated Production Agreement between The Stroh Brewery Company and Boston Beer Company Limited
Partnership, dated November 1, 1998 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K, filed on March 25,

1999).
10.34

Agreement between Boston Beer Company Limited Partnership, Pabst Brewing Company and Miller Brewing
Company, dated February 5, 1999 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K, filed on March 25,

1999).
10.35

Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement between Fleet Bank of Massachusetts, N.A. and The Boston Beer
Company, Inc., dated March 30, 1999 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q, filed on May 10,

1999).
+10.37

+10.38

Consent to Assignment of the Amended and Restated Agreement between Boston Brewing Company, Inc. and the
Genesee Brewing Company, Inc. dated April 30, 1997 to Monroe Brewing Co., LLC (now known as High Falls
Brewing Company, LLC) dated December 15, 2000 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s 10-K, filed on
March 30, 2001).
Guaranty of The Genesee Brewing Company, Inc. dated December 15, 2000 in favor of Boston Brewing Company,
Inc., for itself and as the sole general partner of Boston Beer Company Limited Partnership in connection with the
Consent of Assignment of the Amended and Restated Agreement between Boston Brewing Company, Inc. and the
Genesee Brewing Company, Inc. dated April 30, 1997 to Monroe Brewing Co., LLC (now known as High Falls
Brewing Company, LLC) dated December 15, 2000 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s 10-K, filed on
March 30, 2001).
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+10.39
+10.40

10.41

+10.42
+10.43

10.44

10.45
+10.46

+10.47

10.48

10.49

+10.50
+10.51

10.52

+10.53

Title

Second Amended and Restated Agreement between Boston Beer Corporation and High Falls Brewing Company, LLC
effective as of April 15, 2002 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s 10-Q, filed on August 13, 2002).
Guaranty Release Agreement by and between GBC Liquidating Corp., formerly known as The Genesee Brewing
Company, Inc., and Boston Beer Corporation, d/b/a The Boston Beer Company dated April 22, 2002 (incorporated by
reference to the Company’s 10-Q, filed on August 13, 2002).
Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement between The Boston Beer Company, Inc. and Boston Beer
Corporation, as Borrowers, and Fleet National Bank, effective as of July 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to the
Company’s 10-Q, filed on August 13, 2002).
Brewing Services Agreement between Boston Beer Corporation and City Brewing Company, LLC, effective as of
July 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s 10-Q, filed on November 12, 2002).
Brewing Services Agreement between Boston Beer Corporation and Matt Brewing Co., Inc. dated as of March 15, 2003
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s 10-K, filed on March 27, 2003).
Letter Agreement dated August 4, 2004 amending the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement between Fleet
National Bank and The Boston Beer Company, Inc. and Boston Beer Corporation (incorporated by reference to the
Company’s 10-Q, filed on November 4, 2004).
Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors effective October 19, 2004 (incorporated
by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on December 7, 2004).
Third Amended and Restated Production Agreement between Boston Beer Corporation and High Falls Brewing
Company, LLC effective as of December 1, 2004 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on January 5, 2005).
Production Agreement between Samuel Adams Brewery Company, Ltd. and Brown-Forman Distillery Company, a
division of Brown-Forman Corporation, effective as of April 11, 2005 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
10-Q filed on May 5, 2005).
Form of Option Agreement for Martin F. Roper, entered into effective as of June 28, 2005 between Boston Beer
Corporation and Martin F. Roper (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on

July 7, 2005).
The Boston Beer Company, Inc. Employee Equity Incentive Plan, as amended on February 23, 1996, December 20,
1997 and December 19, 2005, effective as of January 1, 2006 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s PostEffective Amendment No. 1 to its Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on December 23, 2005).
Office Lease Agreement between Boston Design Center LLC and Boston Beer Corporation dated March 24, 2006.
Purchase and Sale Agreement between Campanelli Freetown Land, LLC and Boston Beer Corporation dated August 10,
2006.
The Boston Beer Company, Inc. Employee Equity Incentive Plan, as amended on February 23, 1996, December 20,
1997, December 19, 2005, and December 19, 2006, effective as of January 1, 2007 (incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to its Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on January 26, 2007).
Separation Agreement and General Release between Jeffrey D. White and The Boston Beer Company, Inc., effective
February 12, 2007 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 15, 2007).
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10.54

+10.55

10.56
+10.57
+10.58

*+10.59
*+10.60
*+10.61
10.62

*11.1
14.1

*14.2

*21.5
*23.1
*31.1
*31.2
*32.1
*32.2

Title

Amendment dated February 27, 2007 to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement between Bank of America,
N.A., successor-in-merger to Fleet National Bank, and The Boston Beer Company, Inc. and Boston Beer Corporation
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 15, 2007).
Amended and Restated Brewing Services Agreement between City Brewing Company LLC and Boston Beer
Corporation effective as of August 1, 2006, as amended by Amendment dated April 10, 2007 and effective August 31,
2006 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 10, 2007).
Addendum to Production Agreement between Miller Brewing Company and Boston Beer Corporation effective
August 31, 2006 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 10, 2007).
Brewing Services Agreement between CBC Latrobe Acquisition, LLC and Boston Beer Corporation dated March 28,
2007 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 10, 2007).
Contract of Sale dated August 1, 2007 between Diageo North America, Inc. and Boston Beer Corporation, including the
Packaging Services Agreement of even date attached thereto as Exhibit H (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 6, 2007).
Alternation Agreement between Boston Beer Corporation and Miller Brewing Company dated October 23, 2007.
Glass Bottle Supply Agreement between Boston Beer Corporation and Anchor Glass Container Corporation dated
November 2, 2007.
Amendment to Production Agreement between Boston Beer Corporation and High Falls Brewing Company, LLC
effective December 13, 2007.
The Boston Beer Company, Inc. Employee Equity Incentive Plan, as amended on February 23, 1996, December 20,
1997, December 19, 2005, December 19, 2006, and December 21, 2007, effective as of January 1, 2007
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Post-Effective Amendment to its Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed
on December 28, 2007).
The information required by exhibit 11 has been included in Note L of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics adopted by the Board of Directors on December 17, 2002 (incorporated by
reference to the Company’s 10-K, filed on March 27, 2003).
Restated Code of Business Conduct and Ethics adopted by the Board of Directors on July 31, 2007, effective August 1,
2007.
List of subsidiaries of The Boston Beer Company, Inc. effective as of December 29, 2007
Consent of independent registered public accounting firm.
Certification of the President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of the President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

*

Filed with this report.

+

Portions of this Exhibit have been omitted pursuant to an application for an order declaring confidential treatment filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on this 13th day of March 2008.

The Boston Beer Company, Inc.

/s/ Martin F. Roper
Martin F. Roper
President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated have signed this report below.
Signature
T

i

t

l

e

/s/ Martin F. Roper
Martin F. Roper

President, Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) and Director

/s/ William F. Urich
William F. Urich

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer (principal accounting and financial
officer)

/s/ C. James Koch
C. James Koch

Chairman, Clerk and Director

/s/ Pearson C. Cummin, III
Pearson C. Cummin, III

Director

/s/ Charles Joseph Koch
Charles Joseph Koch

Director

/s/ Jean-Michel Valette

Director

Jean-Michel Valette

/s/ David A. Burwick
David A. Burwick

Director

/s/ Jay Margolis
Jay Margolis

Director

/s/ Gregg A. Tanner
Gregg A. Tanner

Director

74

EXHIBIT 10.59

[ * ] DENOTES EXPURGATED INFORMATION

ALTERNATION AGREEMENT
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BOSTON BEER CORPORATION
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MILLER BREWING COMPANY
Dated October 23, 2007
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ALTERNATION AGREEMENT

This ALTERNATION AGREEMENT, dated as of October 23, 2007, is made by and among Boston Beer Corporation a
Massachusetts corporation (“Boston”) and Miller Brewing Company, a Wisconsin corporation, and its subsidiaries (“Miller”).

WHEREAS, Boston and Miller are currently parties to an Amended and Restated Production Agreement (the “Prior Agreement”)
dated as of November 1, 1998, originally executed by and between Boston and Stroh Brewing Company, which Prior Agreement has
been amended and assigned from time to time; and
WHEREAS, as of the Effective Date, the parties wish to enter into this Alternation Agreement, which shall thereafter supplant and
supersede the Prior Agreement as amended or revised, which Prior Agreement shall thereafter be deemed terminated and no longer have any
force or effect.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter contained, the parties agree as follows:

SECTION 1
DEFINITIONS
As used herein, the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:

1.1 “Agreement ” shall mean this agreement, including the Exhibits and Schedules attached hereto.
1.2 “Alternation ” shall mean an election by a brewer with the TTB whereby one brewer is treated as having full use and control over
the manufacturing facility of another.
1.3 “Applicable Taxes” shall have the meaning ascribed in Section 9.2.C. of Schedule 9.

1.4 “BPA” or brand/package/alcohol shall mean any specific combination of (i) a Brand, (ii) a package type, style, size and
configuration and (iii) an alcohol content; for example six packs of 12 ounce bottles of Sam Adams beer with 4% alcohol by volume.
1.5 “Barrel” shall mean a quantity of beverages equal to 31 U.S. gallons.
1.6 “Boston Wholesalers ” shall mean those third party licensed beer wholesalers that have entered into agreements with Boston to
distribute the Brands on behalf of Boston and have been specifically authorized by Boston to receive the Brands at the Source Plant
pursuant to this Agreement. Boston Wholesalers shall be deemed to include any duly licensed broker or agent specifically authorized by
Boston to receive the Brands at the Source Plant pursuant to this Agreement. Boston has provided a written list of Boston Wholesalers to
Miller prior to the date of this Agreement, and shall provide Miller with written notification of any changes to the identities of the Boston
Wholesalers on that list before Miller will be required to give effectiveness to any such change pursuant to this Agreement.

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.
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1.7 “Boston’s Percent Use” shall mean the percentage, calculated to two decimal points (i.e. one-hundredths of one percent), derived
by dividing the use of the applicable process, space, capacity, cost or other item for the manufacturing, packaging or other production of
the Brands for a particular period of time at a particular Source Plant, by the total use (including under this Agreement and for other
contract brewing or alternation relationships) of such process, space, capacity, cost or other item for the applicable period of time at the
applicable Source Plant.
1.8 “Brands” shall mean Boston’s Core Brands and Seasonal Brands listed on Schedule 1.8 attached hereto.

1.9 “Brands Manufacturing Price ” shall have the meaning set forth in Schedule 9 attached hereto.
1.10 “Brewing Period ” shall mean each of the twelve (12) month periods commencing on the first day of each Fiscal Year; provided
that the first Brewing Period (the “First Brewing Period”) shall be the shortened period commencing as of the date of this Agreement and
ending on the last day of the Fiscal Year in which this Agreement becomes effective.

1.11 “Brewing Period Quarter ” shall mean each of the four, three-calendar month periods comprising a Brewing Period.
1.12 “Core Brands ” shall mean Samuel Adams Boston Lager and Sam Adams Light
1.13 “Destruction Costs ” shall mean the costs and expenses described in Section 6.6.

1.14 “Dunnage” shall mean pallets, protective blankets, cardboard separators, plywood bulkhead material, airbags, returnable
bottles and cartons.

1.15 “Effective Date” shall have the meaning described in Section 2.
1.16 “Fiscal Year” shall mean, for purposes of this contract, Miller’s fiscal year, which may change from time to time. As of the
commencement of this Agreement, Miller’s fiscal year begins on April 1st and ends on March 31st.
1.17 “Ingredients ” shall mean any material used by Boston in the manufacture of the Brands.
1.18 “New Packaging Materials Costs ” shall mean the costs and expenses described in Section 4.8.C.
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1.19 “No Show” shall mean when the Boston assigned carrier fails to arrive, ready to load, just prior to the prescribed loading
period.

1.20 “Occupation ” shall have the meaning described in Section 4.1.

1.21 “Order Cycle ” shall mean the four or five week shipping period that starts with the first day of each month and ends with the
last day of such month.

1.22 “Packaging ” shall mean any materials required for the packaging of the Brands to be distributed in the United States in a
saleable package and which are compatible with equipment and other operating limitations at the respective Source Plant.
1.23 “Pricing Procedures ” shall have the meaning described in Section 11.1.
1.24 “Prime Rate ” shall mean the rate announced by Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York as its prime rate in effect as of
the last day of the subsequent Brewing Period Quarter.

1.25 “Prior Agreement ” shall have the meaning described in the preamble of this Agreement.
1.26 “Process Change Costs ” shall mean the costs and expenses described in Section 4.9.A.
1.27 “Production Requests ” shall mean those requests for production of Brands which are made by Boston as set forth in
Section 7.1.

1.28 “Purchase Discount ” shall mean any purchase discount, quantity discount, refund or rebate, but specifically excluding those
received as a result of credit terms.

1.29 “QA Standards” shall mean Boston’s Quality Assurance Standards, including all quality assurance requirements,
procedures, guidelines and specifications currently established and promulgated by Boston, agreed to by Miller, and attached hereto as
Schedule 1.29. “QA Standards” also incorporates any required federal or state law or regulation imposed on any service rendered
hereunder.

1.30 “Reservation Fee ” shall have the meaning described in Section 9.4 of Schedule 9.

1.31 “Seasonal Brands ” shall mean the brands of malt beverages listed and identified as such on Schedule 1.8 attached hereto, and
substitutions for these brands that Boston Beer may make from time to time in accordance with Section 19 hereof.
1.32 “Shipped Unit ” shall mean a particular type, style, size and configuration of packaging manufactured by Miller for sale and
shipment to Boston Wholesalers located in the United States in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
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1.33 “Source Plant ” shall mean those lines of the brewery owned and operated by Miller (or any of its Affiliates from time to time)
located in Eden, North Carolina which are listed on Schedule 1.33, and such other lines, whether located at the Eden, North Carolina
brewery or such other brewery owned and operated by Miller (or any of its Affiliates from time to time), as the parties may from time to

time mutually agree to add to Schedule 1.33 after the Effective Date.
1.34 “SVC Component Parts ” shall mean the SVC Component Parts set forth in Schedule 1.34.

1.35 “TTB” shall mean the Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau of the U.S. Department of the Treasury or successor
agency.

1.36 “Term” shall mean the period of time during which this Agreement is in effect, as described in Section 2.
1.37 “Transportation Fees” shall mean the actual cost to Miller of the Transportation Services, including without limitation all
freight charges, stop off charges, fuel charges, load control center fees, no show freight charges, distributor detention charges, claims
fees, premiums, and all other costs and expenses associated with the provision of Transportation Services.
1.38 “Transportation Services ” shall mean those services related to the timely removal of Brands from any Miller Brewery and the
shipment of those Brands to Boston Wholesalers.

1.39 “Unique Materials ” shall mean any materials that are not used by Miller in the manufacture of its own brands of malt
beverages.

1.40 “Wire Transfer” shall mean the wire transfer of immediately available funds to such account or accounts as may be designated
to the payor by the payee in writing from time to time.

SECTION 2
TERM

This Agreement shall become effective as of November 1, 2008 (the “Effective Date”) and shall end on [ * ], unless terminated
earlier pursuant to Section 20. The parties agree that on or before [ * ] they will confer to discuss their respective intent to amend or extend
this Agreement or to enter into a new brewing agreement or alternation agreement to become effective as of [ * ]. The parties agree that,
prior to the Effective Date, the Prior Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

SECTION 3
QUALITY ASSURANCE STANDARDS
3.1 Compliance with QA Standards .
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A. Miller and Boston shall each conform their actions hereunder to the QA Standards. Miller shall perform all services
pursuant to this Agreement in compliance with the QA Standards, and Boston agrees to accept the QA Standards for all services
performed hereunder. All Packaging utilized by Boston must satisfy the QA Standards. The QA Standards may be changed by Boston
from time to time with Miller’s consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. The parties agree that it shall not be
unreasonable for Miller to withhold its consent to a change in the QA Standards if, among other reasons, Miller reasonably believes the
requested change to the QA Standards would: (a) compromise or be inferior to Miller’s QA standards, (b) result in a decrease in the
efficiency and/or capacity of the Source Plant, (c) not be compatible with Miller’s facilities and equipment, or (d) result in increased costs
that Boston does not agree to pay. Miller may not change the QA Standards without consent from Boston Beer.

B. In the event that Boston fails to comply with any QA Standard (including but not limited to the QA Standards applicable
to Packaging), any increased costs associated with such failure shall be passed through to Boston as part of the Standard Variable Cost.
3.2 Compliance with Foreign Law .

Boston acknowledges that it is wholly responsible for compliance with any foreign law, regulation or other standard for any Brand
that will be shipped outside of the United States. Boston shall provide Miller with written notice of any such applicable foreign law,
regulation or standard before Miller will be required to allow Boston to produce Brands to be shipped internationally. Miller has the sole
right to either accept compliance with any such applicable foreign law, regulation or standard or to reject any such production requests.
SECTION 4
ALTERNATING PROPRIETORSHIP
4.1 Intent to Alternate . It is the intent of the parties to establish an alternating proprietorship relationship in accordance with the rules
and regulations established by the TTB, as amended from time to time, whereby Boston will occupy the Source Plant and lease Miller’s
employees, for the purpose of producing Boston’s Brands in the Miller Breweries (the “Occupation”). From immediately prior to the
commencement of the brewing process, and for all times thereafter, Boston shall own all Ingredients, packaging, work in progress, etc.
and shall bear the full risk of loss.
4.2 Occupation of Brewery .

A. Miller grants to Boston the right to occupy the Source Plant for the purpose of storing raw ingredients, manufacturing,
processing, packing, and storing Brands. Nothing in this Agreement shall in any way be construed to grant Boston any property interest
in the Source Plant.
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B. During the course of an Occupation, upon at least 24 hours prior notice to Miller’s Source Plant Manager (except in the
event of an emergency involving an injury or actual or likely production stoppage, in which case Boston shall provide notice as promptly

as practicable), Boston shall be entitled to full supervised access to the Source Plant, including but not limited to the ability to take
routine line samples of the Brands at any time; provided that Boston will in no event have access to Miller’s records (except to the extent
required by Section 4.2.C), packaging materials, or other proprietary information or materials.
C. Boston shall keep books and records related to the production of Boston Brands at the Source Plant, separate and apart
from the books and records of Miller. Upon at least 24 hours prior notice to Miller, Boston shall have supervised, 24 hour access to
Boston’s books and records.
4.3 Lease of Employees .

A. Miller shall make available to Boston the services of those Miller employees necessary for Boston to produce its Brands in
accordance with this Agreement, including but not limited to supervisory employees. Such employees shall at all times remain employees
of Miller, and shall only be leased to Boston for the specific purpose of producing Boston’s Brands in accordance with this Agreement.
Miller shall at all times retain the sole authority to hire and fire employees, including but not limited to those employees leased to Boston.
Subject to Miller’s obligation to ensure that sufficient employees are leased to Boston to allow Boston to produce its Brands in accordance
with this Agreement, Miller shall retain the full authority and sole discretion to determine which employees will be leased to Boston from
time to time, and may make any substitutions and changes that Miller chooses.

B. Miller shall at all times be responsible for the payment of wages and benefits to the leased employees. Boston shall pay
Miller for the services of the leased employees as part of the Brands Manufacturing Price in accordance with this Agreement. Boston shall
have no other obligations with respect to the leased employees.
C. All Leased Employees shall, at all times during the Occupation, remain at-will employees of Miller. Miller shall have the
ultimate authority to make all employee-related decisions regarding the leased employees.

D. Boston agrees that it will lease from Miller all employees necessary for the production of the Brands at the Source Plant,
and shall have no right to supply its own employees.
4.4 Cessation of Production at Source Plant .

A. Miller reserves the right to terminate operations at the Source Plant without liability to Boston.
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B. If Miller should terminate operations at a Source Plant, Miller and Boston agree to negotiate in good faith to modify this
Agreement to include a new Source Plant, and to use commercially reasonable efforts to avoid a material interruption in Boston’s
production requirements. The parties acknowledge and agree that nothing herein shall be construed to require Miller to pay for any capital
expenditures or other costs associated with preparing an alternative Source Plant for Boston production.
C. In the event Miller determines to terminate operations at the Source Plant, Miller will continue to permit Boston to occupy the
Source Plant and produce the Brands pursuant to the terms of this Agreement for [ * ] from the date Miller provides Boston notice of its
intent or the date Miller publicly announces it intent, whichever is sooner; provided that Miller agrees to negotiate in good faith with
Boston to allow Boston to occupy such Source Plant for so long as Boston’s Occupation is commercially and operationally reasonable.
During the [ * ] period following Miller providing notice to Boston or publicly announcing the closing of the Source Plant, there will be no
increase in the Brands Manufacturing Price nor any Brands Manufacturing Price Adjustment as a result of such change in operations at
the Source Plant (but changes in such prices and adjustments may be made in the ordinary course). If Miller agrees to allow Boston to
continue to occupy the Source Plant for more than [ * ] after Miller notifies Boston or makes a public announces the closure of the Source
Plant, then Miller, as part of the good faith negotiations described above, may require Boston to accept an increase in the Brands
Manufacturing Price.

D. Thereafter, if the parties are not able to reach agreement regarding relocating Boston’s production to a new Source Plant, this

Agreement shall terminate and Miller shall have no liability to Boston; except that if this Agreement terminates as a result of this
paragraph D in [ * ] of a Brewing Period and Miller and Boston do not agree to modify this Agreement to permit an alternative Source
Plant, then Miller will repay Boston a pro rata portion of the Reservation Fee paid by Boston for the Fiscal Year in which the Source Plant
terminated operations.

4.5 Guaranteed Capacity Obligations . Subject to the provisions of Sections 4.4 and 4.7 of this Agreement, during the Term of this
Agreement Miller shall make available to Boston the number of Barrels of brewing capacity described below:
[*]
4.6 Annual and Monthly Production Forecasting .
A. No less than [ * ] before the beginning of each fiscal year, Boston shall provide to Miller its estimated package and volume
levels for the subsequent Brewing Period, itemized by BPA.

B. On a monthly basis, on or before the 15th day of each month, Boston shall provide Miller with an updated forecast of its
production requirements for the next three months, itemized by BPA.
4.7 Manufacturing Obligation Limitations . Miller has no obligation during any Order Cycle:
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[*]
4.8 Packaging .

A. Boston is solely responsible for the design and configuration of any Packaging, including but not limited to a container,
label, crown, end, keg cap or label, carrier, carton or any other material that might be utilized for any Brand. Boston agrees that all
Packaging chosen to be utilized for their brands will be in full conformance with the QA Standards and that all of its packaging will meet
the QA Standards, including, but not limited to, standards regarding color, integrity and field performance.

B. Boston will be responsible for obtaining any licenses and approvals from all authorities, and will secure all necessary
federal, state, foreign or other required licenses or approvals for the label or primary packaging and all necessary federal, state, foreign or
other required licenses or approvals for all secondary packaging. Miller will provide Boston, upon its reasonable request, with documents

and information within Miller’s sole control that are necessary in order for Boston Beer to apply for and secure such licenses and
approvals; provided that Miller shall have no obligation to provide Boston with any competitively sensitive information.

C. Provided that Miller has approved the Packaging and Boston has authorized the specific expenditure in advance, Boston
may purchase and install any tooling, dies, cylinders and plates or any other material that must be specially purchased for Packaging of
the Brands. Boston shall reimburse Miller for any out of pocket and incremental cost increases arising as a result of the installation of
any such tooling, dies, cylinders, plates or other material, such that all such changes will be cost neutral to Miller (the “New Packaging
Materials Costs”). Miller shall retain responsibility for the maintenance of such new equipment.

D. Boston shall provide its own kegs for its use in fulfilling its obligations hereunder. The parties hereby acknowledge and
agree that all such kegs are, and shall remain, the property of Boston.
E. The pallet loading requirements for finished product are set forth on Schedule 4.8.E. [ * ]

4.9 Manufacturing, Process and Packaging Changes .
A. Boston may make any changes to its manufacturing, process and packing as it desires; provided that Boston must consult
with Miller before implementing such changes, and Miller consents to such changes, which consent may not be unreasonably withheld.
The parties agree that it shall not be unreasonable for Miller to withhold its consent to any changes that are not compatible with Miller’s
production of its own products, or which have the potential to disrupt Miller’s plant efficiencies or quality control standards, or which
are physically or
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logistically impractical to implement. In the event that any such change requires any costs or expenditures, capital or otherwise, those
expenditures shall be the sole responsibility of Boston, and shall be reimbursed to Miller in the event they are incurred by Miller (“Process
Change Costs”). In addition, if any such changes result in increased production costs, Miller may condition its consent to such changes
on Boston agreeing to an increase in the Brands Manufacturing Price, such that all such changes are cost neutral to Miller. Miller shall
retain responsibility for the maintenance of such new equipment.

B. Boston acknowledges that Miller has in the past and will from time to time make certain innovations, changes or
introductions to its manufacturing processes and packaging materials or processes. Boston acknowledges that it will have no rights of
access to these manufacturing processes, Packaging or processes innovations, changes or introductions unless Miller, in its sole and
absolute discretion, agrees to that access. In the event that any change or introductions to Miller’s manufacturing processes and packaging
materials or processes becomes universal as to Miller’s products, Miller shall have the right to require Boston to adopt such changes or
introductions for Boston’s manufacturing processes and packaging materials and processes; provided that Boston is in no way required
to change any of its QA Standards or packaging, nor required to make any changes in its brewing processes that Boston can reasonably
claim are a requirement of its brand equity or a requirement of its brand taste profile; and provided further that in the event that Miller
makes such a change and Boston refuses to accept such a change for the issues described above, Miller shall have no liability to Boston
in connection with any resulting inability to perform hereunder. Any change Miller requires Boston to make pursuant to this
Section 4.9.B shall be made effective as of the first day of any Brewing Period, on not less than 6 months advance notice, unless the
parties agree to an earlier date.

C. If Boston requests access to any changes or introductions in manufacturing processes and packaging materials or processes
and Miller grants Boston such access, then Boston shall reimburse Miller for all related Process Change Costs related thereto, in an
amount equal to Boston’s Percent Use (based on volume) of such changed packaging materials or process multiplied by the total Process
Change Costs associated with such changes or introductions. For example, if the manufacture of the Brands constitutes 5.00% of the
volume of use of the changed packaging materials or processes, then Boston shall reimburse Miller for 5% of the total Process Change
Costs. If Boston does not request access to any such change but is required to change its QA Standards or its packaging to conform to
Miller’s innovations, changes or introductions to its manufacturing processes and packaging materials or processes, then Boston Beer
will bear none of the Process change Costs related thereto.
4.10 Dunnage .

A. Boston understands that Miller employs an automated system for tracking the return of all Dunnage shipped to Boston’s
wholesalers called the Dunnage Return System (“DRS”). Boston agrees that it will require all Boston Wholesalers to utilize the DRS or
any replacement system used in the future for all Brands produced at the Source Plant.
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B. Boston agrees that Boston and the Boston Wholesalers will abide by all Miller policies and procedures for the proper
inventory, storage and return of any Dunnage as may be communicated by Miller in written notice to Boston from time to time, within
forth-five (45) days of Boston’s receipt of such written notice.
C. Boston will purchase all Dunnage delivered with the Brands to Boston or Boston Wholesalers. Except as otherwise agreed to
by Boston and Miller in writing, the purchase price for such Dunnage shall be equal to that charged by Miller to its own wholesalers for
such items. Upon return to Miller by Boston of such Dunnage in a condition in conformance with Miller policies, procedures and QA
Standards, Miller will purchase from Boston the Dunnage at a price equal to that paid by Miller to its own wholesalers for such items. If
Dunnage is not returned in accordance with Miller policies, procedures and QA Standards, they will not be accepted; if such Dunnage is
off-loaded and the purchase price paid to Boston, Boston will be charged the price paid by Miller plus the actual cost of removal and
disposal of such Dunnage by Miller.

D. Boston shall not return Miller’s pallets to any other party (including any other contract brewery or alternative partner) and
shall not deliver to Miller any other party’s pallets. Boston will be responsible for all costs of rectifying any such misdeliveries.
SECTION 5
INGREDIENTS AND PACKAGING

5.1 Procurement Services . Boston shall supply and ship to the Source Plant, at no cost to Miller, all malt, hops, flavorings and
Unique Materials and certain Packaging which shall at all times remain separately identifiable as Boston’s property. Other than the malt,
hops, flavoring, Unique Materials, and certain Packaging described in the preceding sentence, Boston agrees to purchase all of its
requirements of Ingredients and Packaging from Miller immediately prior to the commencement of the brewing process for all Brands
produced hereunder. Miller has no obligation to stock any minimum supply of Ingredients, but will maintain such stock in accordance
with its own policies and procedures. Miller will sell such Ingredients to Boston immediately prior to the commencement of the
manufacturing of a batch of beer. To the extent any Ingredients are procured by Miller, Boston shall pay Miller for such Ingredients as
part of the Brands Manufacturing Price described in Schedule 9.
5 . 2 Commodity Markets . Boston acknowledges that there may be instances where Miller may acquire positions in certain
commodity markets. Boston acknowledges that there are certain inherent risks associated with taking these forward market positions and
that in order to take advantage of the potential cost savings gained by these types of transactions, Boston also may be subject to costs that
might be higher than the market at the time a position is closed out. Miller and Boston agree that Miller shall sell such Ingredients to
Boston at Miller’s actual cost (including but not limited to procurement costs and overhead), pursuant to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement. Miller does not represent, warrant or guarantee in any way that engaging in the types of transactions described above will
reduce the costs charged to Boston. Boston acknowledges that the costs related to such transactions may result in costs that are higher
than would have been the case if the materials had been purchased at ordinary market rates.
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5.3 No Shared Savings . In addition to the positions in commodity markets described in Section 5.2, Boston acknowledges that
there may be instances where Miller may expend additional resources to acquire positions in certain commodity markets for strategic
purposes solely to benefit Miller, and that Miller is not required to share those savings with Boston.
5.4 Inventory. Upon receipt of Ingredients and Packaging, Miller shall inspect the goods for damage and accuracy of quantities
delivered. Miller shall notify Boston of any such issues promptly in writing via facsimile. Bills of lading for Ingredients and Packaging
received by Miller shall be signed and dated by a Miller employee and forwarded to Boston via facsimile on a daily basis at the end of
each day. Miller shall provide to Boston perpetual inventory of all work in progress, finished goods and Packaging on a weekly basis
and at month-end as of Boston’s fiscal month-end and shall perform inspections, counts, and other checks similar to those performed on
its own materials. Boston employees will be allowed to participate in inventory counts provided reasonable advance notice is given to
Miller.

SECTION 6
TRANSPORTATION SERVICES

6.1 Transportation Services . The parties anticipate that in the ordinary course Boston shall manage its own transportation
requirements. However, Miller agrees that, from time to time at Boston’s request, it will provide Transportation Services to Boston during
the Term of this Agreement. In addition, in the event of any No Shows Miller shall be entitled (but not required) to arrange alternate
Transportation Services for Boston without the prior request or consent of Boston. Boston acknowledges that Miller will provide
Transportation Services by utilizing the same transportation policies and procedures it utilizes for its own products; provided that the
payment for such Transportation Services shall be in accordance with Section 6.7 of this Agreement. When Miller provides
Transportation Services for Boston, whether in the case of No Shows or at Boston’s request, Miller shall make all required payments to
carriers directly, and shall bill Boston for the Transportation Fees as provided in Section 6.7.
6.2 Carrier Selection . When Boston utilizes its own carriers, such carriers must be certified and qualified by Miller in accordance
with Miller’s policies and procedures for its own carriers.
6.3 Responsibility for Claims. Boston shall have the sole responsibility to deal with any claims or issues regarding the
Transportation Services directly with the carriers and/or Boston Wholesalers. Miller shall report to Boston any claims or issues of which
it may be aware.

6.4 No Direct Sales . Boston shall not produce any Brands hereunder that are sold by Boston directly to licensed retailers or shipped
to retailers without coming to rest at a warehouse licensed to Boston or a Boston Wholesaler.
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6 . 5 Warehouse Loading and Availability. Miller will provide Source Plant warehouse and loading services to Boston without
additional cost to Boston, except as otherwise included in the SVC. Nothing herein will require Miller to expand existing storage areas to
accommodate the Brands at any Source Plant or to store such Brands to the exclusion of Miller’s own products and brands.
6.6 Compliance with QA Standards . As part of the Transportation Services, orders for Brands will be filled in accordance with age
policy procedures set forth in the QA Standards. In the event that the Brands become unsalable for any reason except for Miller’s
negligence or willful misconduct, Boston shall be solely responsible and shall pay Miller the applicable usage fee as if such products had
been shipped in accordance with this Agreement, and shall either pay all costs to destroy such Brands or reimburse Miller for any costs
or expenses incurred by Miller to destroy such products (“Destruction Costs”).

6 . 7 Transportation Fees. Boston shall pay Miller the Transportation Fees in consideration of Miller’s provision of the
Transportation Services; provided that, in each instance of a No Show, and in each instance that Boston provides Miller with less than
forty-eight (48) hours notice of its need or desire for Miller to provide Transportation Services, Boston shall also pay Miller an additional
fee equal to the amount of the load handling fee (or similar fee) charged to Miller by the carrier for such services. For the avoidance of
doubt, whenever this Agreement states that Miller will provide services to Boston in accordance with Miller’s policies and procedures for
its own products, such services shall be executed in accordance with Miller’s policies and procedures, but payment for such services
shall be governed solely by the terms of this Agreement.
SECTION 7
PRODUCTION REQUESTS

7.1 Production Requests . At least eight weeks prior to the commencement of the Order Cycle to which the request relates, Boston
shall provide Miller a request to produce Brands, itemized by BPA and volume, using the electronic production request system jointly
developed by Miller and Boston, as modified from time to time. Subject to Miller’s right to accept or reject production requests in its sole
discretion once Miller has satisfied its guaranteed capacity obligations as provided in Section 4.5, Miller may not reject such production
requests; provided, however, in the event that Miller believes that for any reason it will be unable to allow Boston to produce the Brands
as specified by Boston in the production request, then Miller will give Boston at least seven days (or such shorter number of days as is
reasonably practical under the circumstances) advance notice of such fact and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to allow Boston
to satisfy its production request as promptly as possible. If the terms of the preceding sentence are complied with, Miller shall have no
liability to Boston for Miller’s inability to satisfy Boston’s production request. Boston acknowledges that from time to time, Miller will
temporarily shutdown of the Source Plant for maintenance, holidays, inventory adjustments and other routine short-term, temporary
stoppages of production, including but not limited to an annual Source Plant shut down generally running from Christmas Day through
New Year’s Day. Miller shall provide Boston with reasonable advance notice of any such shutdown
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and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to allow Boston to increase production in advance of such shut down consistent with the
production requirements forecasted by Boston in accordance with Section 4.6 hereof; provided that Miller shall not be required to permit
Boston to produce more than Miller’s guaranteed capacity obligation described in Section 4.5 hereof. Boston understands and agrees that
Boston shall not be permitted to produce any Barrels of the Brands during any such shutdown, and that Miller shall not be liable to
Boston for any increased costs or lost opportunities on account of any such shutdown.
SECTION 8
ACCEPTANCE
From immediately prior to the commencement of the brewing process, and for all times thereafter, Boston shall own all Ingredients,
packaging, work in progress, finished Brands, etc. and shall bear the full risk of loss. Title to all Ingredients and packaging supplied by
Boston and risk of loss on such Ingredients and packaging supplied by Boston shall at all times be Boston’s. Acceptance of the load by
the carrier as evidenced by the bill of lading will constitute completion of any responsibility by Miller to Boston and Boston Wholesalers
for the shipment.

SECTION 9
ALTERNATION FEES AND PRICING
Alternation Fees and Pricing shall be governed according to Schedule 9 attached hereto.

SECTION 10
INVOICES AND PAYMENT

10.1 Boston Responsibility . Boston assumes all responsibility and obligation for pricing and credit terms relating to the Brands and
for invoicing Boston Wholesalers. All risk of payment and collection arising out of the sale of the Brands will be solely that of Boston.
10.2 Billing and Payment Terms.

A. Miller will bill Boston electronically for the Brands Manufacturing Price plus the Transportation Fees, if any, and
applicable fees relating to Deposit Items and Dunnage, on the first business day after the release of the packaged Brands for shipment.
Except as may be otherwise agreed by Boston and Miller, Boston agrees to pay such bill by Wire Transfer not later than the eleventh
(11th) business day following receipt thereof. Miller will bill Boston by delivering a written invoice, by mail or facsimile, to Boston for
all other charges under this Agreement. Except as may be otherwise agreed by Boston and Miller, Boston agrees to pay such invoice by
Wire Transfer not later than the eleventh (11th) business day following receipt thereof. All other costs, fees, and expenses arising under
this Agreement will be billed periodically by Miller to Boston and all such bills shall be paid by Wire Transfer not later than the thirtieth
(30th) day following receipt thereof. Payments that are late will bear interest at the Prime Rate, compounded daily. Notwithstanding the
forgoing, in the event that Miller becomes entitled to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 20.2.A.1, Miller shall be entitled to
change the payment terms hereunder to cash on delivery or cash in advance.
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10.3 Withholding of Disputed Amounts . In the event of a dispute as to an amount due, only the disputed amount may be withheld.
In the event of such a dispute, the parties agree to reasonably cooperate with each other to resolve such dispute within 30 days of the date
on which such disputed amount was withheld. If such dispute cannot be resolved within such 30 day period, then the dispute shall be
subject to the dispute resolution provisions contained in Section 17 of this Agreement.
10.4 Stand-By Letter of Credit . If, at any time during the Term of this Agreement, Boston is late in its payments five or more times
in any period of twelve consecutive months, Boston will immediately obtain and have issued to Miller a stand-by letter of credit in an
amount equal to the monthly average, calculated over the last twelve months prior to issuance of the letter of credit, of Miller’s production
expense and inventory exposure. Such letter of credit shall remain in force until Boston has had no late payments for a period of twelve
consecutive months.

10.5 Prepayment Rights .
A. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 9.3 of Schedule 9 relating to the payment of the quarterly Brands
Manufacturing Price Adjustment, Miller and Boston shall have the right to make prepayments of all or any part of the quarterly Brands
Manufacturing Price Adjustment estimated to be due the other party. Such prepayments, if any, may be made in such amounts and at
such times as Boston or Miller in its respective sole discretion shall determine, provided that no such prepayment may be in an amount
less than [ * ]. All such prepayments shall be made by Wire Transfer upon not less than one business day notice to the payee, and each
such prepayment shall be designated as being a prepayment of estimated liability for the quarterly Brands Manufacturing Price
Adjustment.
B. The amount of such prepayment(s) shall be treated as a credit to payor and a debit to the payee in determining the quarterly
Brands Manufacturing Price Adjustment, to be owed by one party to the other party.

10.6 Interest Offset. Miller and Boston may deduct from payments, if any, due the other party under this Agreement, an amount
equal to interest at the Prime Rate on all amounts due under this Agreement from the other party which have not been timely paid in
accordance with this Agreement and upon which interest has not otherwise accrued under this Agreement. Such interest shall be for the
period commencing on the day after the due date of such payment and shall run to the day of the offsetting deduction as provided in this
Section 10.6. The offset right provided for in this Section 10.6 is not in derogation or limitation of any other rights provided to the parties
in this Agreement.

SECTION 11
AUDITS AND RECORDS

11.1 Audit of Pricing Procedures . As Boston deems appropriate and at Boston’s request, but in no event more often than once in any
Brewing Period, and only after Boston and its independent auditors shall have entered into an appropriate confidentiality agreement with
Miller, the independent auditors of Miller will examine the relevant books and records of Miller
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to verify the pricing, costing and cost accounting procedures used by Miller (collectively, the “Pricing Procedures”) as they relate to
compliance with the Agreement. Miller’s auditors will promptly thereafter disclose the results of the audit and their work product to the
independent auditors of Boston. As to any dispute arising between the parties pertaining to the Pricing Procedures both parties agree to be
bound by any mutual resolution of that dispute reached by Boston’s and Miller’s respective auditors. The details of each audit shall
remain confidential to the respective auditors and only the summary result of the audit will be communicated to Boston except that, if a
dispute regarding the Pricing Procedures is not mutually resolved by the parties’ respective independent auditors, then Boston’s auditors
may disclose the details of the audit to Boston to the extent necessary to fully apprise Boston of the issues underlying the dispute.
Thereafter, at either party’s request, the dispute will be submitted to an independent third party accounting firm, mutually agreed upon
by Miller and Boston (or in the absence of such agreement, by agreement of Miller’s and Boston’s respective independent auditors),
which will act as a binding arbiter of the dispute. Miller and Boston hereby agree to be bound by the decision of such third party
accounting firm. Such third party accounting firm may be required by either party to execute an appropriate confidentiality agreement.
The costs of the third party accounting firm will be borne equally by Miller and Boston. The cost of each audit requested by Boston will
be borne by Boston provided that Miller will reimburse Boston the amount of the fee up to and including the net amount found by the
auditor to be due to Boston. Such reimbursement will be separate and in addition to any reimbursement of the net amount found by the
auditor to be due to Boston. Payment of such reimbursement will be due within eleven (11) business days of the auditors’ final
determination.

11.2 Boston’s Records. Boston shall keep independent records of the Brands Boston produces at the Source Plant. Such records
will be kept at the Source Plant in accordance with law, and Boston shall have 24 hour access to such records.
SECTION 12
INSURANCE

12.1 Boston Insurance Coverage . Prior to Boston manufacturing any Brands hereunder, Boston will procure at its sole cost, and
maintain in full force and effect during the Term of this Agreement and any extensions or renewals hereof:
A. Commercial general liability insurance with total general aggregate and each occurrence limits of not less than [ * ], covering
bodily injury, death and property damage, product liability, advertising injury and all liability arising out of any claim (whether or not
valid) for infringement of any copyright, title, slogan, libel, slander, defamation or invasion of rights of privacy of a third party arising
out of or relating to the Brands or Boston’s advertising and promotional activities, and covering any incident that may occur involving
this Agreement, directly or indirectly.

B. Workers compensation insurance as required by state law and employer’s liability insurance in an amount not less than [ *

].
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12.2 Coverage Rating . Boston shall obtain each policy of insurance required under this Agreement from an insurance carrier with an
A.M. Best rating of A (-) or higher and, upon Boston obtaining the insurance in compliance with this Section, shall supply Miller
(Attention: Corporate Banking and Insurance) with certificates evidencing such insurance, each in a form satisfactory to Miller, along
with satisfactory evidence of payment in full of all premiums for such insurance. Each such certificate of insurance shall provide that
such insurance cannot be modified, terminated or canceled by the carrier except upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to Miller of
such event. Promptly following the execution of this Agreement, Boston shall cause each such policy to name as additional insureds
Miller, its parent SABMiller plc, subsidiary and affiliated companies, successors, licensees and assigns and the respective officers,
directors, agents and employees of any and all of the foregoing and shall contain an endorsement that negates the “other insurance” clause
in the policy and a statement that the insurance being provided is primary and that any errors and omissions insurance carried by Miller
or any other person or entity (other than Boston) is not primary. Insurance maintained by Miller is for its exclusive benefit and will not
inure to the benefit of Boston. In the event Boston does not timely supply to Miller such certificates of insurance after Miller’s demand for
such certificates, Miller shall have the right (without limiting any of its rights and remedies), acting in its discretion, to withhold any
rights granted in this Agreement until such certificates are furnished.

12.3 Miller Insurance Coverage . Miller will procure at its sole cost, and maintain in full force and effect during the Term of this
Agreement and any extensions or renewals hereof:
A. Commercial general liability insurance with total general aggregate and each occurrence limits of not less than [ * ], covering

bodily injury, death and property damage, advertising injury and all liability arising out of any claim (whether or not valid) for
infringement of any copyright, title, slogan, libel, slander, defamation or invasion of rights of privacy of a third party arising out of or
relating to the Brands or Boston’s advertising and promotional activities, and covering any incident that may occur involving this
Agreement, directly or indirectly.

B. Workers compensation insurance as required by state law and employer’s liability insurance in an amount not less than [ *

].
SECTION 13
WARRANTIES
13.1 Authority . Each party represents to the other party that it is duly incorporated and in good standing in its respective state of
incorporation, that it has the authority to enter into and perform this Agreement, and that the consummation of this Agreement will not
violate any agreement or judicial order to which it is a party or by which it is bound.

13.2 Brands. BOSTON IS SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR PROVIDING RIGHTS WITH RESPECT TO THE INTANGIBLE
ASSETS AND RECIPES NECESSARY FOR MILLER TO FULFILL ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, AND
MILLER MAKES NO WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO SAID ASSETS AND RECIPES. BOSTON
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SPECIFICALLY ASSUMES ALL LIABILITY RELATING TO WARNINGS (OR THE LACK OR ADEQUACY THEREOF) ON
THE PACKAGING FOR THE BRANDS. MILLER MAKES NO WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE BRANDS OTHER
THAN THE WARRANTIES EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, AND MILLER HEREBY EXPRESSLY
DISCLAIMS THE EXISTENCE OF ANY OTHER WARRANTIES, WHETHER EXPRESS, IMPLIED, OR OTHERWISE. MILLER
WILL NOT BE LIABLE TO BOSTON FOR ANY COSTS OR DAMAGES, INCLUDING CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES,
ARISING OUT OF THE DISTRIBUTION OF BRANDS OUTSIDE OF THE UNITED STATES, THAT BECOME UNSALABLE
PURSUANT TO THE QA STANDARDS THROUGH NO FAULT OF MILLER, OR THAT WERE MANUFACTURED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE QA STANDARDS.
13.3 Intellectual Property . Boston represents and warrants to Miller that: (1) Boston has and owns all rights to the recipes and
formulas for the Brands and all trademarks, trade dress, copyrights and other intellectual property that Miller will be using in
performing its obligations under this Agreement, and such rights and assets do not and will not infringe any patent, trademark, trade
secret, copyright, or other proprietary right of any third party; (2) that all formulas for the Brands and all Packaging designated by it
hereunder will comply with all applicable federal and state laws and regulations; and (3) neither the execution and delivery of this
Agreement by Boston nor the consummation by Boston of the transactions contemplated hereby will conflict with or result in a breach of

any statute or administrative regulation, any order, writ, injunction, judgment, or decree of any court or governmental authority,
testamentary or trust document, contract, debt or other financing agreement or any agreement to which Boston is a party or by which
Boston is bound.
SECTION 14
INDEMNIFICATION

14.1 Intellectual Property Indemnification . Should any claim or claims be made against Miller by any third party or parties for
unfair competition, infringement, invasion or other misappropriation of any patent, trademark, copyright or any other proprietary rights
based solely on Miller’s performance of it’s obligations under this Agreement, Boston will defend, at its expense, each and every one of
such claims on Miller’s behalf, and Boston further undertakes to indemnify and hold Miller harmless from and against any loss, costs,
expense or other damage, including without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses resulting from, arising out of or incurred
with respect to such claim or claims.
14.2 Boston Indemnification Obligations . Except to the extent arising out of a situation in which Miller has a duty of indemnity
pursuant to Section 14.3., Boston agrees to indemnify and hold Miller harmless from and against all loss, costs, expense, liabilities or
other damage, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, resulting from, arising out of or incurred with
respect to: (1) any breach or inaccuracy of any representation or warranty made by Boston in or pursuant to this Agreement; (2) any
failure by Boston to carry out, perform, satisfy and discharge any of its covenants, agreements, undertakings, liabilities or obligations
under this Agreement; (3) any claim for damages or liability against Miller, by any
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third party, alleging that Miller has impaired or interfered with that third party’s contractual relationship with Boston through Miller’s
negotiating, entering into or performing under this Agreement; (4) any product recall, product tampering, or product extortion related to the
Brands and not directly caused by the negligence of Miller; (5) all claims (i) of noncompliance of Packaging and designs thereof
approved by Boston for the Brands with federal or state requirements, where such noncompliance is through no fault of Miller; (ii) by
public agencies or private persons with respect to the distribution, sales, marketing or promotion of the Brands, except to the extent Miller
is responsible therefore and provided that Miller will not be deemed responsible merely by virtue of allowing an Occupation of the Source
Plant by Boston for the purpose of manufacturing, packaging or shipping the Brands pursuant to this Agreement; and (iii) by public
agencies or private persons with respect to impurities or defects of any kind in the Brands and/or Packaging when Miller has complied
with the QA Standards for the Brands; provided that in no event shall Boston be liable for Consequential Damages under this
Section 14, except as otherwise provided in Section 16.
14.3 Miller Indemnification Obligations . Except to the extent arising out of a situation in which Boston has a duty of indemnity
pursuant to Section 14.2, Miller agrees to indemnify and hold Boston harmless from and against all loss, costs, expense or other damage,
including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, resulting from, arising out of or incurred with respect to: (1) any
breach or inaccuracy of any representation or warranty made by Miller in or pursuant to this Agreement; (2) any failure by Miller to
carry out, perform, satisfy and discharge any of its covenants, agreements, undertakings, liabilities or obligations under this Agreement;
and (3) all claims made against Boston by any party or parties for personal injury or property damage caused by impurities or defects of
any kind in the Brands hereunder except to the extent Miller has complied with the QA Standards for the Brands; provided that in no
event shall Miller be liable for Consequential Damages under this Section 14, except as otherwise provided in Section 16.
14.4 Indemnification Procedures . If any action, claim or demand shall be brought or asserted against any party to this Agreement in
respect of which indemnity may be sought pursuant to this Section 14, the party seeking indemnification (the “Indemnified Party”) shall

promptly notify in writing the other party from which indemnification is sought (the “Indemnifying Party”), stating, to the extent
applicable and known by the Indemnified Party, the name and address of each claimant, the nature of the claim, and the provision or
provisions of this Agreement under which such claim for indemnity is asserted. The Indemnifying Party shall have the right to participate
in the defense of third-party claims by counsel of its choosing and at its expense. No third-party claim may be settled without the written
consent of the Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party. If the Indemnified Party declines to accept a bona fide offer of settlement of a
third-party claim which is recommended by the Indemnifying Party, the maximum liability of the Indemnifying Party shall not exceed the
amount it would have been liable for had such settlement been accepted. If the Indemnifying Party declines to accept a bona fide offer of
settlement recommended by the Indemnified Party, the Indemnifying Party shall be liable for whatever outcome results from such thirdparty claim.
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14.5 Responsibility for Boston Wholesaler Returns . All demands by Boston Wholesalers for return of Brands manufactured
hereunder will be the sole responsibility of Boston.

14.6 Responsibility for Sales and Marketing Activities . The sale of the products of the Brands to Boston Wholesalers and all
marketing and promotional activities incident to sale and distribution of the Brands will be the sole obligation and responsibility of
Boston, and Boston indemnifies Miller against any claim that might be raised by any party or governmental agency relating to that
obligation and responsibility.

14.7 Responsibility for Authorized Release of Brands . Boston agrees to indemnify and hold Miller harmless from and against all
damages, claims, demands or liabilities that Miller may incur, and further agrees to defend any suits or actions which may be brought
against Miller, arising out of Miller releasing Brands to any party designated by Boston.

14.8 Responsibility for Maintaining Confidential Pricing Information . Boston agrees that it will not provide any information
regarding the pricing, marketing or credit terms it sets for its business, and will indemnify and defend Miller from any costs associated
with any claim made that Boston has done so.
SECTION 15
CONFIDENTIALITY

15.1 No Sharing of Competitive Information . Boston will furnish to Miller such information as is reasonably necessary for Miller
to fulfill its obligations under this Agreement, including the respective brewing formulas and manufacturing processes for the Brands.
Under no circumstances will Boston provide to Miller information about Boston pricing, marketing, or sales plans, or similar
competitive information. Miller will use information received from Boston solely for purposes of complying with its obligations under
this Agreement. Miller shall take reasonable steps to maintain the confidentiality of any information provided to it by Boston which is not
in the public domain or otherwise known to Miller, and to limit access to such information to Miller employees involved in carrying out
Miller’s obligations under this Agreement.
15.2 Confidentiality Obligations . All information about Miller that is obtained by Boston or its employees, directly or indirectly, as
a consequence of Miller’s fulfillment of its obligations under this Agreement shall be treated by Boston as confidential and shall not be
used for any purpose other than to assist Miller in carrying out its obligations under this Agreement. Such information may include, but
is not limited to, Millers manufacturing processes, operating procedures, contract manufacturing arrangements, costs, and labor
practices. Boston employees who are involved in assisting Miller to carry out its obligations under this Agreement shall be instructed by
Boston on their obligation to treat all information about Miller as confidential. Boston shall ensure that its employees take reasonable steps
to avoid obtaining access to any information about Miller pricing, marketing, sales plans, contract manufacturing arrangements, or
similar competitive information relating to Miller.
[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.

19

15.3 No Disclosure . Miller and Boston agree to refrain from disclosing this Agreement or its terms and conditions to any person or
entity not a party hereto, except as may be required by any court, government agency or proper discovery request or as reasonably needed
to enforce this Agreement, it being understood that Boston is required to file this Agreement as a material contract with it periodic reports
required under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. If a party is required to disclose this Agreement or any of its terms and conditions,
the disclosing party shall: (a) use its best efforts to insure that such disclosure is made on a confidential basis and (b) in the case of
disclosure required as the result of any order of any court or government agency or discovery request, give prompt notice thereof so that
the other party may, if it so chooses, assert any rights it may have to maintain confidentiality or obtain relief from public disclosure.
Miller acknowledges that Boston Beer will be required to file this Agreement in its periodic SEC filings. Boston Beer will consult with
Miller and make all reasonable efforts to ensure that any sensitive or confidential information, including but not limited to Schedule 9
hereof, is redacted, omitted, or otherwise given confidential treatment; provided that the parties acknowledge that Boston cannot ensure
such treatment.

SECTION 16
LIMITATION OF LIABILITY AND PERIODS ON CLAIMS

16.1 No Consequential Damages . Neither Miller or Boston shall be liable to the other for any incidental or consequential damages
arising out of this Agreement, whether in contract, tort or otherwise (including strict liability), whether at law or in equity; provided,
however, that nothing herein shall be deemed to waive any damages or limit the parties’ liability to each other with respect to claims
brought against Miller or Boston by unrelated third parties.
16.2 Limitation on Time for Pricing Claims . Except as provided below, any claim or assertion of a dispute by Boston regarding:
(i) Boston Standard Variable Cost or the Pricing Procedures or (ii) any other calculation made pursuant to Schedule 9 must be made
within [ * ] after the end of the Brewing Period to which the claim or assertion relates or the claim or dispute shall be deemed waived and
forever released by Boston. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any claim or assertion of a dispute regarding calculated pursuant to the
Brands Manufacturing Price Adjustment must be made during the [ * ] following payment thereof, or shall be deemed waived and forever
released by Boston.

16.3 Limitation on Time for Other Claims . All other claims hereunder must be brought no later than [ * ] after such claim arose or
the party having such claim shall be deemed to have waived and forever released it; provided that for this purpose, a claim will be
deemed to have arisen at the time the party asserting the claim first became aware of such claim.

SECTION 17
DISPUTE RESOLUTION

17.1 Resolution of Disputes . It is the intention of the parties to make a good faith effort to resolve, without resort to litigation or
arbitration, any dispute arising under or related to this Agreement according to the procedures set forth in this Article. In the event of a
dispute,
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controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or any breach, termination or invalidity hereof (a “Dispute”), each party
has agreed to designate employees and senior executives with authority to resolve the Dispute. The designated employees and senior
executives shall promptly begin discussions in an effort to agree upon a resolution of the Dispute. Notwithstanding the requirements of
this Section 17, each party retains its rights to terminate this Agreement pursuant the provisions contained in Section 20. The issue of
whether such a termination or cancellation is proper shall not be considered a Dispute hereunder, and as a result shall be subject to the
provisions of Section 17.4.

17.2 Dispute Procedures . This dispute resolution process begins with the receipt of written notification of a Dispute by either party.
A. If the Dispute involves any of the services provided hereunder, it will be negotiated by Boston’s Director of Operations (as
of the date of this Agreement, Brian Kellogg) and Miller’s Contract Manager (as of the date of this Agreement, Dave Shaughnessy). If
these parties are unable to reach an acceptable resolution after a period of ninety (90) days, both parties agree that the Dispute will be
referred to Boston’s Vice President of Operations (as of the date of this Agreement, Thomas W. Lance) and Miller’s Director Business
Development Contract Manufacturing (as of the date of this Agreement, Manoli Kulutbanis) for negotiation. If these parties are unable to
reach an acceptable resolution after a period of sixty (60) days, both parties agree that the matter will be referred to Mediation.

B. If the Dispute involves any other aspect of this Agreement, the matter will be referred to Miller’s Director Business
Development Contract Manufacturing (as of the date of this Agreement, Manoli Kulutbanis) and Boston’s Vice President of Operations
(as of the date of this Agreement, Thomas W. Lance). If these parties are unable to reach an acceptable resolution after a period of ninety
(90) days, both parties agree that the Dispute will be referred to Boston’s President and Chief Executive Officer (as of the date of this
Agreement, Martin Roper) and Miller’s Executive Vice President of Operations (as of the date of this Agreement, Dave Zini) for
negotiation. If these parties are unable to reach an acceptable resolution after a period of sixty (60) days, both parties agree that the matter
will be referred to Mediation.
17.3 ADR Process . The Mediation process shall be conducted in accord with the Alternative Dispute Resolution process of the State
Bar of Wisconsin, attached hereto as Exhibit C. The exclusive venue for the Mediation process shall be Chicago, Illinois.

17.4 Other Remedies . If the Mediation process does not result in a resolution of the Dispute, either party shall have the right to
pursue any and all remedies available under this Agreement, at law or in equity in a court of competent jurisdiction. Neither the giving of
notice of a dispute or controversy nor the pendency of any dispute resolution process as described in this Section 17 shall extend any
notice or cure period described in this Agreement or any period within which a party must act as described in this Agreement.
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17.5 Continued Performance . Subject to the rights of the parties to terminate this Agreement or suspend their performance as set
forth in this Agreement, both parties shall continue to perform their obligations under this Agreement during the pendency of any Dispute.
SECTION 18
FORCE MAJEURE

In the event of a Force Majeure at the Source Plant causing a temporary reduction or cessation of production at the Source Plant,
Miller shall be entitled to suspend its performance hereunder. Miller will not be liable to Boston for any failure to perform hereunder
which results from events beyond Miller’s reasonable control, including without limitation, acts of God, fires, explosions, earthquakes,
raw material shortages, energy shortages, acts of terrorism and strikes or other labor problems. This Agreement may not be terminated by
Boston as a result of any such failure to perform; provided however, upon the occurrence of any of the foregoing events, Boston’s
obligations to perform hereunder will be suspended to the extent that Miller is unable to perform; provided that in any event Boston shall
continue to be required to make payments to Miller as required by this Agreement for all Barrels of the Brands actually produced by
Boston pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
SECTION 19
CHANGES TO LIST OF BRANDS
If Boston wishes to add a new brand of beverage under this Agreement, it will provide Miller with a written request to include such

new brand under this Agreement, which notice shall include a description of the brand and all required manufacturing processes,
Packaging, Ingredients, and other services that the new brand might require. Miller will have the sole discretion to determine whether any
new brand requested by Boston will be accepted. If accepted, any additional new brand will be made subject to all provisions of this
Agreement. The parties acknowledge that Boston may, from time to time, substitute a new brand for a Seasonal Brand upon notice to
Miller, provided that such substituted brand is manufactured using a similar process as the prior Seasonal Brand, which does not place
any additional burden on the Source Plant, as determined in Miller’s reasonable discretion.

SECTION 20
TERMINATION

20.1 Boston’s Right to Terminate.
A. Boston has the right to terminate this Agreement without any liability to Miller if:

1. Within five business days’ after receipt of written notice from Boston, Miller fails to pay any amount then due Boston
hereunder, unless such amount is a Dispute subject to the procedures in Section 17, including, without limitation, any matter related to
the Brands Manufacturing Price Adjustment;
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2. Despite its best efforts, Boston is denied a Brewer’s Notice for the Source Plant as an alternating proprietorship, or
such Brewer’s Notice is cancelled through no fault of Boston; provided that, in the event the Brewer’s Notice is cancelled, the termination
of this Agreement shall not be effective for thirty (30) days from the date of notice of such cancellation, during which period Miller shall
be entitled to take such actions as it deems appropriate, at its sole cost and in its sole discretion, to reinstate the Brewer’s Notice (it being
expressly understood that Miller shall not be obligated to take any action to reinstate the Brewer’s Notice), in which case this Agreement
shall remain in effect;

3. Miller liquidates, dissolves, makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or receivership or bankruptcy
proceedings are instituted by or against Miller; or

4. Miller is in material default of a material provision of this Agreement and such material default remains uncured for
60 days after Boston provides written notice to Miller specifying in detail the nature of such default.

5. Boston provides Miller with at least [ * ] advance written notice of its intent to terminate this Agreement, with an
effective date on or after [ * ]; provided that if the effective date is not the last day of a Brewing Period, then Miller shall remain entitled to
receive and retain the full Reservation Fee related to the Brewing Period in which the termination occurs.

6. Miller agrees to such termination.

B. Limitation on Boston’s Right to Terminate. Boston has no right to terminate this Agreement except as expressly provided in
Section 20.1(A.), provided no limitation will apply to Boston’s rights under law to suspend its performance under this Agreement and/or
seek damages in the event of the non-performance of this Agreement by Miller in a manner not specified in Section 20.1(A.). A termination
in accordance with this Section 20.1 shall not affect the right of Boston to obtain such additional relief at law or in equity to which it is
entitled as a result of a breach of this Agreement by Miller. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Miller shall in no event have any liability for
Consequential Damages, except as otherwise provided in Section 16.
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20.2 Miller’s Right to Terminate.
A. Miller has the right to terminate this Agreement, without any liability to Boston:

1. Immediately on written notice if, within five business days’ after receipt of written notice from Miller, Boston fails to
pay any amount then due Miller hereunder (other than as noted in subsection 5 below), unless such amount is a Dispute subject to the
procedures in Section 17, including, without limitation, any matter related to the Brands Manufacturing Price Adjustment;

2. Immediately on written notice if Boston liquidates, dissolves, makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or
receivership or bankruptcy proceedings are instituted by or against Boston;
3. Immediately on written notice if Boston consummates any reorganization, merger, or consolidation with an entity not
directly or indirectly 100% owned by The Boston Beer Company, Inc.;
4. Immediately on written notice if Boston sells substantially all of its assets;

5. Immediately on written notice if Boston fails to pay any Reservation Fee when due and such failure remains uncured
for five (5) business days after receipt of written notice from Miller;

6. [ * ];
7. [ * ];
8. [ * ];
9. Immediately on written notice if Boston is in material default of a material provision of this Agreement and such
material default remains uncured for 60 days after Miller provides written notice to Boston specifying in detail the nature of such default;
or
10. If Boston agrees to such termination.

For purposes of this Section:

[*]
“Affiliate” shall mean, with reference to a Person, any other Person that, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries,
controls, is controlled by or is under common control with the first Person.
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“Person” shall mean a corporation, an association, a partnership (general or limited), a joint venture, an estate, a trust, a limited
liability company, any other legal entity, or an individual.

B. Limitation on Miller’s Right to Terminate. Miller has no right to terminate this Agreement except as expressly provided in
Sections 20.2(A) and (B). However, Miller shall be entitled to suspend its performance under this Agreement and/or seek damages in the
event of any non-performance of or non-compliance with this Agreement by Boston in a manner not specified in Sections 20.2(A) and
(B), including a breach of any representation or warranty, or a failure to comply with the QA Standards. A termination in accordance
with this Section 20.2 shall not affect the right of Miller to obtain such additional relief at law or in equity to which it is entitled as a result
of a breach of this Agreement by Boston. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Boston shall in no event have any liability for Consequential
Damages, except as otherwise provided in Section 16.
20.3 Payments Due Upon Expiration or Termination . At the expiration of this Agreement, or upon the rejection of this Agreement in
bankruptcy proceedings, or upon earlier termination of this Agreement in accordance with Sections 20.1, or 20.2., Boston shall remove
from Miller property all Packaging and Unique Ingredients or any other Boston specific material in Miller’s physical possession, and all
usable Ingredients and work-in-process. In addition, within thirty (30) days of the date of such expiration or termination, the parties will
settle in cash all other accounts.

SECTION 21
NOTICES

21.1 Method of Giving Notice . Notices or other communications required or permitted hereunder will be sufficiently given if
personally delivered, or sent by facsimile or registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:
If to Miller:

Miller Brewing Company
3939 West Highland Boulevard
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53208
Copies to: Senior Vice President General Counsel, Senior Vice
President Finance, and Executive Vice President of Operations
Fax: (414) 931-3732

with a copy to:

Quarles & Brady LLP
411 East Wisconsin Avenue
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202
Attention: Michael M. Grebe
Fax: (414) 271-3552
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If to Boston:

Boston Beer Corporation
One Design Center Place, Suite 850
Boston, MA 02210
Copies to: Vice President of Operations and
Legal Department

Fax: (617) 368-5553
with a copy to:

Nixon Peabody LLP
100 Summer Street
Boston, MA 02110
Attention: Frederick H. Grein, Jr., Esq.
Fax: (866) 369-4741

or to such other persons and addresses as shall be furnished by like notice by such party or person. Any notice given in accordance with
this provision shall be deemed to have been given and effective when received.

21.2 Notification of Boston Wholesalers . From time to time, Boston or Miller will notify Boston Wholesalers of any Miller required
policies or procedures to be used by Boston or Boston Wholesalers and of such other information as is mutually agreed to by Boston and
Miller. Boston will supply to Miller and is responsible to keep current any list of Boston Wholesalers for this purpose. Miller will allow
Boston to review and approve any planned communication by Miller to Boston Wholesalers that concern Boston products and/or
services.

SECTION 22
GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE
This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the provision of the laws of the State of Wisconsin, without
regard to the application of its rules on conflict of laws. All parties consent to the exclusive jurisdiction of the federal or state courts in the
state of Wisconsin as having both personal and subject matter jurisdiction and venue in connection with any matter, dispute or cause of
action arising hereunder or pursuant hereto.

SECTION 23
SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNMENT

This Agreement is binding upon, and the benefits hereof inure to, the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns;
provided that neither this Agreement nor any right or obligation under this Agreement may be assigned by either party without the written
consent of the other party hereto, except that no consent is necessary for (i) an assignment by Miller to an affiliate of Miller that is owned,

directly or indirectly, 100% by SABMiller plc, or (ii) an assignment by Boston to an affiliate of Boston that is owned, directly or
indirectly 100% by The Boston Beer Company, Inc.; in either case so long as the assigning party gives prompt written notice of such
assignment to the other party. Any attempted assignment in violation of the provisions of this Section 23 will be void. Assignment of this
Agreement shall not relieve the assigning Party of its financial obligations hereunder, including its indemnification obligations, if an
assignee defaults in the performance of its assigned obligations.

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
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SECTION 24
SEVERABILITY

In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable in any respect, that invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision of this Agreement, and this

Agreement shall be construed as if the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained within the body of the
Agreement.

SECTION 25
AMENDMENTS

No amendment, modification or waiver of any term hereof shall be effective unless set forth in writing and signed by Boston and
Miller.

SECTION 26
PUBLICITY
Miller and Boston agree not to publicly disclose the terms, conditions and other details of this Agreement without the prior written
consent of the other party, except as required by law, and then, to the extent possible, only upon prior notice to the other party. It being
understood, however, that Boston will report the existence of this Agreement by filing a current report form 8-K under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.

SECTION 27
NONSOLICITATION OF EMPLOYEES

Each party will not solicit the personnel of the other for employment during the term of this contract. However, each party
acknowledges that a party may post all job openings on appropriate bulletin boards at its locations for the benefit of its employees and
such postings are visible to consultants, visitors and others. For the purposes of this Agreement, such postings, and any newspaper
advertisements or similar information about employment opportunities shall not constitute a solicitation of the other’s personnel and each
party shall be free to interview and hire any such personnel.
SECTION 28
CAPTIONS

Captions to Sections of this Agreement have been included solely for the sake of convenient reference, and are entirely without
substantive effect.
SECTION 29
NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES
Miller and Boston agree that this Agreement is solely for their benefit and it does not nor is it intended to create any rights in favor
of, or obligations owing to, any third parties.

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
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SECTION 30
ENTIRE AGREEMENT
This Agreement, including the Schedules and Exhibits attached hereto, embodies the entire agreement of the parties with respect to
the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements with respect thereto, including the Prior Agreement.
Each party has therefore caused this Agreement to be executed on its behalf.

BOSTON BEER CORPORATION

By:
Name:
Title:
MILLER BREWING COMPANY

By:
Name:
Title:

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
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SCHEDULE 1.8
SEASONAL BRANDS

[*]
[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.

SCHEDULE 1.29
QA STANDARDS
See Attachment.

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.

SCHEDULE 1.33
SOURCE PLANTS
Eden, North Carolina

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.

SCHEDULE 1.34
SVC COMPONENT PARTS

[*]
[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.

SCHEDULE 4.7.C
APPROVED BPA

[*]
[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.

SCHEDULE 4.8.E
PALLET LOADING REQUIREMENTS
See Attachments.

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.

SCHEDULE 9
ALTERNATION FEES AND PRICING

[*]
[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.

EXHIBIT 10.60

[ * ] DENOTES EXPURGATED INFORMATION
GLASS BOTTLE SUPPLY AGREEMENT

BETWEEN
BOSTON BEER CORPORATION

AND
ANCHOR GLASS CONTAINER CORPORATION

GLASS BOTTLE SUPPLY AGREEMENT

This GLASS BOTTLE SUPPLY AGREEMENT executed on this 2nd day of November, 2007 (the “Agreement”), is by and between
BOSTON BEER CORPORATION, a Massachusetts corporation with a principal office located at One Design Center Place, Suite 850,
Boston, Massachusetts 02210 (“Boston Beer”), and ANCHOR GLASS CONTAINER CORP., a Delaware corporation with a principal office
located at 3101 Martin Luther King Blvd, Suite 301, Tampa, Florida 33607 (“Anchor”).
WHEREAS, Boston Beer and Anchor have agreed to enter into a supply agreement under which Anchor will provide from specified
Anchor Plants to Boston Beer at certain Boston Beer breweries glass bottle containers for beverages meeting Boston Beer’s Specifications,
subject to the following terms and conditions.

THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises and the mutual promises set forth below, the parties to this Agreement have
agreed as follows:

1. DEFINITIONS.
The following defined terms used in this Agreement shall have the respective meanings specified below:

1.1. “Agreement” shall mean this Glass Bottle Supply Agreement dated as of the date set forth above between Boston Beer and
Anchor, as the same may be amended, restated and/or replaced from time to time, and references to “hereof” and “hereunder” refer to this
Agreement as a whole and not to any particular section or article of this Agreement.
1.2 “Alternate Plant” shall mean an Anchor bottle production facility other than a Plant set forth in Attachment 2.1 that may be used
to produce Bottles subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, provided that Boston Beer has given its prior written consent to the
used of such production facility.

1.3. “Anchor” shall mean Anchor Glass Container Corporation, a Delaware corporation.

1.4. “Annual Base Price Adjustment” has the meaning set forth in Attachment 3.3.

1.5 “Annual Estimate” has the meaning given to it in Section 2.2(a).

1.6. “Auditor” has the meaning given it in Section 9.1.
1.7 “Average Category Price” has the meaning given it in Attachment 3.3.

1.8. “Base Price” shall mean a portion of the Selling Price for each type of Bottle, as set forth in Attachment 3.1.

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
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1.9. “Base Price Adjustment Date” has the meaning set forth in Attachment 3.3.
1.10. “Boston Beer” means Boston Beer Corporation, a Massachusetts corporation.

1.11. “Boston Beer Unused Capacity” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(c).

1.12. “Bottle” shall mean a 12 oz. or a 24 oz returnable glass receptacle of specified size, shape and color used in the packaging of
Boston Beer’s beverage products, and which otherwise conforms to the applicable Specifications including, without limitation, any New
Bottle.
1.13. “Brewery” shall mean any of the applicable breweries described in Attachment 2.1 and any additional breweries that may be
added to Attachment 2.1 by Boston Beer in its sole discretion.

1.14. “Bulk Bottle” shall mean any Bottle delivered in bulk, and not delivered with Packaging Components.
1.15. “Category Impact” has the meaning given it in Attachment 3.3.
1.16. “Category Percent” has the meaning given it in Attachment 3.3.
1.17. “Category Percent Change” has the meaning given it in Attachment 3.3.

1.18. “Confidential Information” has the meaning given it in Section 11(b).
1.19. “Contract Year” shall mean any twelve (12) month period during the Term starting on a January 1 and ending the following
December 31, with the first Contract Year to be the period commencing [ * ].
1.20. “Cost Adjustment Percentage” has the meaning given it in Attachment 3.3.

1.21 “Cost Categories” has the meaning given it in Attachment 3.3.

1.22. “Dispute” has the meaning given it in Section 18.1.
1.23. “Excess Bottles” has the meaning given to it in Section 2.2(b).
1.24. “Force Majeure Event” has the meaning given it in Section 7.1(a).

1.25. “Lightweighting” shall mean any reduction in the weight of a given size and shape Bottle, which does not materially alter the
size or shape of such Bottle.
1.26. “material discrepancy” has the meaning given it in Section 9.2.

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
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1.27. “Manufacturing Costs” shall mean the aggregate of all actual costs incurred by Anchor in producing Bottles under this
Agreement, net of all discounts, rebates or allowances received by Anchor with respect to any services or materials acquired by Anchor in
connection with its performance of this Agreement.
1.28. “New Bottle” has the meaning given it in Section 3.4(b).

1.29. “Packaging Components” shall mean all packaging materials used to package Packed Bottles and which conform to the
Specifications, including, but not limited to, any of the corrugated boxes, trays, carriers, cartons, partitions, and basket carriers.
1.30. “Packed Bottle” shall mean any Bottle which is not a Bulk Bottle.
1.31. “Pallet Float Limit” has the meaning given it in Section 5.3.

1.32. “Plant” shall mean any of the applicable Anchor bottle production facilities specified in Attachment 2.1.
1.33. ”Quality Standards” shall have the meaning given to it in Section 2.6.
1.34. “Recipients” has the meaning given it in Section 11(a).

1.35. “Selling Prices” shall have the meaning given it in Section 3.1.

1.36. “Shipping Materials” shall have the meaning given it in Section 5.3(a).
1.37. “Specifications” shall mean Boston Beer’s specifications for each of the Bottles, each of the Packaging Components, and the
pallets and other packaging components to be used for Bulk Bottles, and shall also include packaging and unit load specifications for Bottle
deliveries to each Brewery, as communicated from time to time by Boston Beer to Anchor (provided Boston Beer gives Anchor at least sixty
(60) days’ advance notice). The Specifications in effect as of the date of this Agreement, have been delivered to Anchor and Anchor by its
execution of this Agreement acknowledges its receipt and acceptance of such Specifications.
1.38. “Surcharge Percentage” shall have the meaning given it in Attachment 3.2.

1.39. “Term” shall mean the term of the Agreement, as described in Section 8.1 below.
1.40. “UCC” shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect from time to time in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
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2. PURCHASE AND SALE OF BOTTLES.
2.1. Purchase and Sale of Bottles . Anchor shall make available each Contract Year for purchase by Boston Beer, Bottles meeting
Specifications requested by Boston Beer, from the Plants specified in Attachment 2.1. Subject to the terms of Section 2.2(b) and (c) below,
Boston Beer shall each Contract Year purchase the Bottles solely from Anchor for the Breweries specified in Attachment 2.1, in the quantities
and on the terms specified in the following provisions of this Section 2.
2.2. Purchase Quantities .
(a) On or before October 1, 2008 and on or before October 1st of each Contract Year, Boston Beer shall advise Anchor of Boston
Beer’s estimate of Boston Beer’s Bottle requirements for the following Contract Year, stated separately for each Brewery and for each Bottle
size, shape, color and type of packaging (i.e., Packed Bottles or Bulk Bottles) to be produced for Boston Beer by Anchor under this Agreement
(the “Annual Estimate”).
(b) In the event Boston Beer’s actual aggregate demand for Bottles in a Contract Year exceeds [ * ] of the Annual Estimate (such
excess is referred to as “Excess Bottles”), Anchor will use commercially reasonable efforts to supply such Excess Bottles.

[ * ].
(c) [ * ].
(d) For the purposes of determining the total Bottles actually purchased by Boston Beer in a Contract Year for determining Boston
Beer Unused Capacity, if any, credit will be given to Boston Beer for Brewery shut-downs or other interruptions that are less than two weeks in
duration, but not for more than ten (10) business days in the aggregate in any Contract Year for any Brewery, or Force Majeure Events and for
any failure of Anchor to fulfill Boston Beer orders during the Contract Year, or for any replacement supply agreement with other bottle supplies
that Boston Beer may have entered into pursuant to Sections 2.5(b), 2.5(c) or 3.6(a).

2.3. Forecasts and Shipment Instructions . During each Contract Year, Boston Beer shall provide Anchor with the following
forecasts supplementing the Annual Estimate:
(a) On or before the last business day of each month, Boston Beer’s forecast for each of the succeeding [ * ] of the Boston Beer
Bottle requirements to be produced by Anchor under this Agreement, stated separately for each Brewery and by Bottle size, shape, color, carton
style, and type of packaging (i.e., Packed Bottles or Bulk Bottles).

(b) Anchor will report all shipments of Bottles upon their departure from the specified Plant, including but not limited to, shipping
information related to truck load identification, carrier contact information, drive contact information, expected delivery date, delivery location,
and quantity of Bottles in the load, in the format specified by Boston Beer and using the electronic reporting media specified by Boston Beer.

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
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2.4. Inventory . Anchor shall maintain at no additional cost to Boston Beer a finished goods inventory of Bottles at each Plant or at a
warehouse maintained by Anchor in the vicinity of the applicable Brewery if such Brewery is more than [ * ] from the Plant. Anchor shall
ensure that Boston Beer has at least [ * ] inventory of Bulk Bottles and [ * ] inventory of Packed Bottles at each Plant, as well as [ * ] of
Packaging Components. However, to the extent that Anchor may elect to maintain an inventory in excess of such amount of Bulk Bottles and
Packed Bottles, or an inventory of Packaging Components in excess of [ * ], Boston Beer shall have no responsibility for any costs incurred
by Anchor because of any graphics or other changes to the Bottles, any related Packaging Components, or any packaging components used for
Bulk Bottles. Without limiting the foregoing, Anchor agrees that it will always maintain in such inventory at least [ * ] worth of finished goods
inventory at a local warehouse for each Brewery, allocated by carton style and based on the three-month forecasts provided for in Section 2.3
above.

2.5. Anchor Failure to Fulfill Boston Beer Orders . Subject to the provisions of Section 7:
[*]
2.6. Quality Standards . Anchor will manufacture the Bottles in accordance with the standards set forth in Attachment 2.6. In the
event that the Bottles fail to meet such standards, Boston Beer may, upon notice to Anchor, terminate or phase out Boston Beer’s purchases of
Bottles from a Plant if such failure is based on a deficiency which may reasonably be expected to adversely affect the quality, flavor, or safety
characteristics of the Bottles being delivered to Boston Beer from such Plant or has a materially adverse effect on the operating efficiency of a
Brewery. In such event, Anchor shall replace such Bottles with deliveries from an Alternate Plant, provided that Boston Beer shall not be
required to pay any additional charge for transportation, storage or delivery from such Alternate Plant over that which it would have paid had
the Bottle order been fulfilled by the originally designated Plant. Consistent failure to meet the Quality Standards shall constitute a material
breach of this Agreement.
3. PRICE.
3.1. Base Price. Subject to any applicable adjustments provided for in this Section 3, the selling price, excluding freight costs, for
each color, size and shape Bottle ordered by Boston Beer from Anchor under this Agreement for delivery at any time during the Term is set
forth in Attachment 3.1. The parties acknowledge that the Base Price is set based on the Manufacturing Costs at the Plants set forth in
Attachment 2.1.
3.2. Natural Gas Surcharge/Credit . The Surcharge Percentage will be applied to the Base Price on a monthly basis in accordance
with the calculation set forth in Attachment 3.2.
3.3. Annual Base Price Adjustment. The Base Price shall be adjusted annually based on Anchor’s Manufacturing Costs breakdown
of each Plant as set forth in Attachment 3.3.

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
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3.4. Specification Changes.

(a) If Boston Beer makes any changes to the Specifications of an existing Bottle type [ * ] which result in an increase or decrease to
the Manufacturing Costs for those particular Bottles and/or necessitate that Anchor purchase or lease capital equipment not otherwise required
to satisfy its obligations under the Agreement prior to the Specification change, [ * ].

(b) If at any time during the Term, Boston Beer should add a new Bottle shape, size or color to its existing family of Bottles or
replace an existing bottle type with a new bottle (a “New Bottle”), the Base Price for such New Bottle shall be [ * ].
(c) Without limiting any of its other obligations specified in this Agreement, Anchor agrees to continually investigate ways in which
to improve and update the processes and technologies it utilizes to manufacture, package, inspect, and deliver high quality Bottles to Boston
Beer.

[*]
3.6. Packaging Materials.
(a) Boston Beer shall communicate to Anchor in accordance with the terms of Section 2.2 what amount of each Brewery’s
requirements should be filled with Packed Bottles and what amount of each Brewery’s requirements should be filled with Bulk Bottles, and
Anchor shall fulfill such requirements accordingly. [ * ] Notwithstanding the foregoing, Anchor will use commercially reasonable efforts to
fulfill Boston Beer requests for additional Packed Bottles. If additional investment in equipment or other costs are required by Anchor in order
to fulfill such requests for additional Packed Bottles, Anchor shall notify Boston Beer of such extra costs and provide Boston Beer with the
option to pay for some or all of such costs and, if agreed, the Selling Price for those additional Packed Bottles shall be adjusted accordingly.
Alternatively, Boston Beer may obtain an alternative supply for such additional Packed Bottles.

(b) Anchor shall purchase its inventory of Packaging Components from a supplier designated by Boston Beer at a price designated
by Boston Beer. Anchor shall charge Boston Beer for Packaging Components, as delivered to Boston Beer with a Bottle shipment, at a price not
greater than the price originally paid by Anchor to purchase such Packaging Components in accordance with the terms of the preceding
sentence, and as adjusted for the actual loss ratios for such Packaging Components. In producing Packed Bottles, acceptable loss ratios for
Packaging Components losses shall not exceed those set forth in Attachment 3.6. The loss ratios set forth in Attachment 3.6 will be reviewed by
Boston Beer after the first six (6) months of the Term and shall be adjusted to reflect the actual loss ratios experienced by Anchor during such
period, provided such actual loss ratios are less than those set forth in Attachment 3.6. After the date of this Agreement, Anchor agrees to meet
with Boston Beer from time to time to discuss any cost neutral changes to the procedures set forth in this Section 3.6(b) including, without
limitation, Anchor’s purchase of such Packaging Components from Boston Beer and loss ratios experienced and how to improve them.
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(c) Boston Beer shall pay Anchor for the handling, assembly and insertion of the Packaging Components in accordance with the
schedule of permitted charges for such services set forth in Attachment 3.1. Anchor shall inspect all Packaging Components upon Anchor’s
receipt of the same and shall promptly notify both the applicable supplier and Boston Beer upon discovery of any defective Packaging
Components.

3.7. Molds. Anchor shall purchase on behalf of Boston Beer such molds to manufacture the Bottles in accordance with the
Specifications, provided that Boston Beer has given its prior consent to such purchase, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or
delayed. Boston Beer will have title to all molds for the Bottles throughout the Term. Upon early termination by Boston Beer as a result of a
material breach of the Agreement by Anchor, Anchor shall deliver to Boston Beer all such molds at no cost to Boston Beer. Upon early
termination of this Agreement by Anchor as a result of a material breach of this Agreement by Boston Beer or expiration of this Agreement or in
the event of the cessation of the use of a mold as a result of a change in Specification by Boston Beer, Boston Beer shall reimburse Anchor for
the unamortized value of the useful life such mold(s) (which is currently the production of [ * ] gross bottles) and Anchor shall make such
mold(s) available to Boston Beer at its Plant for pick-up.

4. WARRANTIES.
4.1. Express Warranties. Notwithstanding any independent investigation by Boston Beer, Anchor represents and warrants to
Boston Beer that each Bottle manufactured by Anchor for Boston Beer: (a) will be merchantable and fit for the purpose intended, which is a
commercially acceptable glass container for beverages; (b) will be manufactured in accordance with the Specifications and all function and
taste requirements specified therein; (c) will conform to samples previously delivered to and approved by Boston Beer; (d) along with any and
all Packaging Components, pallets, and other related articles included with each shipment of Bottles, will be delivered free from any security
interest, lien or other encumbrance; and (e) the substances and materials used to produce such Bottles will be free from defects in materials and
workmanship and are permissible for use in glass container manufacturing under applicable Federal and State laws and regulations.
4.2. FDA Compliance . Anchor represents and warrants that each Bottle manufactured by Anchor for Boston Beer and each related
article contained in and comprising each shipment or other delivery to Boston Beer and all information and ingredient lists furnished for use by
Boston Beer in labeling such articles for resale, is (a) not adulterated or misbranded within the meaning of the Federal Food, Drug and
Cosmetic Act, as amended, and not an article which may not be introduced into interstate commerce, (b) in compliance with all requirements of
the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, as amended, for food contact substances to be used as intended by Boston Beer, (c) not banned or
misbranded within the meaning of the terms of the Federal Hazardous Substances Act, and (d) not an article which cannot be legally
transported or sold under the provisions of any Federal, State or local law.
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4.3. Fair Labor Standards . To the extent work is performed in the United States in connection with the performance of Anchor’s
obligations under this Agreement, Anchor represents that all such work will be performed in compliance with the requirements of the Fair
Labor Standards Act of 1938, as amended. Anchor further represents that all work performed in meeting its obligations under this Agreement
complies with the provisions of Executive Order No. 11246.
4.4. Indemnification .

(a) Boston Beer shall have all rights and remedies of a buyer under the UCC. Any purchases of Bottles under the “cover” provision
of the UCC codified in Section 2-712 of the UCC (or any successor provision) shall be applied in satisfaction of Boston Beer’s Requirements
under this Agreement Anchor shall, in addition, indemnify and hold harmless Boston Beer, its parent, subsidiaries and affiliates and their
respective directors, officers, employees, agents and other representatives, from and against any and all losses, liabilities, damages, claims,
judgments or out-of-pocket costs and expenses, including without limitation court costs, attorneys’ fees and other legal expenses resulting from
any alleged or actual breach by Anchor of any representation or warranty set forth herein or the failure by Anchor to perform in a timely manner
any of its obligations hereunder. The obligations of Anchor under this Section 4.4 include the obligation to pay all of Boston Beer’s reasonable
attorneys and professional fees associated with all aspects of any bankruptcy, reorganization, receivership or other insolvency proceeding of
Anchor (including without limitation: review of court papers; attendance and participation in hearings, litigation or negotiation in connection
with any claim, motion or plan of reorganization; preparation, filing and defense of any claims; and participation in any contested matters).
Anchor’s obligations under the terms of the immediately preceding sentence shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement.

(b) Anchor shall have all rights and remedies of a seller under the UCC. Anchor shall have the right to allocate in the event of a
Force Majeure. Boston Beer shall, in addition, indemnify and hold harmless Anchor, its subsidiaries and affiliates and their respective
directors, officers, employees, agents and other representatives, from and against any and all losses, liabilities, damages, claims, judgments or
out-of-pocket costs and expenses, including without limitation court costs, attorneys’ fees and other legal expenses resulting from any alleged or
actual breach by Boston Beer of any representation or warranty set forth herein or arising out of actions, activities or products sold by Boston
Beer.

4.5. Pricing. Anchor warrants that the pricing provided to Boston Beer under this Agreement, including but not limited to each
Selling Price, is lawful.
5. FREIGHT AND DELIVERY.

5.1. Delivery Terms. Anchor shall in accordance with the Specifications: (a) package each Bottle shipment in accordance with
whether the applicable Bottles are Bulk Bottles or Packed Bottles, (b) load the packaged Bottles for shipment, and (c) deliver the Bottles F.O.B.
the applicable Brewery. Boston Beer shall be responsible for unloading all Packed Bottles at the applicable Brewery, at which time title to and
risk of loss pertaining to such Bottles shall pass to Boston Beer.
[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.

8

5.2. Freight Costs.
(a) Boston Beer shall reimburse Anchor for Anchor’s actual freight costs for Bottle deliveries from the particular Plant to a Brewery,
which costs shall be shown separately on each invoice for delivered Bottles and shall be based on freight rates that have been previously
approved by Boston Beer. Boston Beer may elect to have Anchor contract directly with carriers on Boston Beer’s behalf in order to secure
favorable fixed freight rates upon terms and conditions that are mutually acceptable to both parties. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Boston Beer
may, upon thirty (30) days notice to Anchor, select the freight carriers to be used for all or a portion of the shipments of Bottles from a Plant or
to a Brewery provided that such action does not violate the terms of any freight contract that Anchor has entered into on behalf of Boston Beer.

(b) Anchor shall be responsible for scheduling and managing the logistics of Bottle delivery to each of the Breweries utilizing
carriers and rates approved by Boston Beer. Anchor and Boston Beer shall meet once a quarter to review carrier performance and rates available
to ensure that Boston Beer is receiving efficient, effective and cost competitive freight services on Bottle and return items deliveries.

5.3. Shipping Materials.
(a) [ * ]

(b) [ * ].
(c) Anchor shall be responsible for the pick-up and return to the applicable Plant of all non-disposable Shipping Materials and shall
bear the cost of the freight and other logistics costs related to such returns.

(d) [ * ]. In the event that all pallets have been converted to plastic pallets, Boston Beer shall return any wooden pallets belonging to
Anchor that are in its possession within sixty (60) days of the completion of the transition. If Boston Beer and Anchor are using a mixture of
wood and plastic pallets, Boston Beer shall be responsible for returning within 180 days those outstanding wood pallets that exceed the highest
number of wood pallet usage in a month during the previous six (6) months. Any pallets not returned pursuant to this Section 5.3(d) shall be
billed at the rates specified in Section 5.3(b). At the expiration or earlier termination of the Term Anchor shall return all plastic pallets in its
possession to Boston Beer and Boston Beer shall reimburse Anchor for the unamortized portion of the pallet purchase price paid for by Anchor
based on a straight-line twelve-year amortization schedule.
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6. PAYMENTS.

6.1. Payment Due Date. Boston Beer shall pay Anchor for all Bottles purchased hereunder, based on the date of invoice, which date
shall not be prior to delivery to the applicable Brewery. Terms of payment shall be payment in full within thirty (30) days after Boston Beer the
invoice date. [ * ]. Any amounts payable by either party under any provision of this Agreement which are due on a Saturday, a Sunday, or a
public holiday generally recognized in the United States, shall instead be due and payable on the first business day thereafter.
6.2. Purchase Orders. Boston Beer and Anchor may exchange standard form documents (such as purchase orders) for
administrative and informational purposes, but, under no circumstances, shall the terms and conditions stated thereon shall neither modify,
amend or supplement the terms and conditions stated in this Agreement.
6.3. Withholding Disputed Amounts. In the event of a dispute as to an amount due, only the disputed amount may be withheld. In
the event of such a dispute, Anchor and Boston Beer agree to reasonably cooperate with each other to resolve such dispute within thirty
(30) days of the date on which such disputed amount was withheld. If such dispute cannot be resolved within such 30-day period, then the
dispute shall be subject to the dispute resolution provisions contained in Section 18 of this Agreement.
7. FORCE MAJEURE.

7.1. The Events .
(a) Each party shall be relieved of its obligation to perform any part of this Agreement to the extent its performance is prevented or
rendered impracticable by events beyond its reasonable control, which events may include, without limitation, fire, storm, flood, earthquake,
and other Acts of God, and explosion, accident, acts of the public enemy, riots and other civil disturbances, sabotage, court injunctions (other
than any injunction imposed as a result of the party’s actual or alleged breach of any agreement), transportation embargoes, shortages of
materials, strikes, lockouts, work stoppages and other labor disputes, acts, regulations or other requirements of domestic or foreign federal,
state, county, municipal, or local governments or branches, subdivisions or agencies thereof, including, without limitation, any such acts,
regulations or other governmental requirements making it unlawful (such as by an outright ban) or commercially impractical (such as by the
imposition or increase of deposit requirements or other action directly or indirectly affecting beer or its packaging) to manufacture glass
containers or package beer in bottles, or to sell or distribute beer in packaging of any type or requiring plant shut-downs (each such event, a
“Force Majeure Event”), subject to the various limitations provided in this Section 7. Force Majeure Events shall further include, without
limitation, any imposition or increase of any excise tax or similar charge by any governmental authority on the manufacture, packaging,
possession, storage, sale or distribution of glass or beer, and Boston Beer’s or Anchor’s obligations to purchase or supply, as the case may be,
shall be deemed to have been rendered impracticable thereby, without any direct proof of causation, to the extent that there is any decrease in the
demand for beer manufactured, sold or distributed by Boston Beer after such Force Majeure event occurs.

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
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(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Anchor acknowledges that a strike, lockout, work stoppage or other labor dispute affecting some
but not all of the Plants will not constitute a Force Majeure Event. In the event of such a labor dispute at any such Plant, Anchor will use its
commercially reasonable efforts to satisfy Boston Beer’s requirements either by operating such affected Plant(s) with management or other
personnel or to transfer production to one or more Alternate Plant.
(c) Anchor agrees that if picketing, a work stoppage, a strike or any refusal to work of or by any of Boston Beer’s employees or any
employees of any Boston Beer contractor occurs at one or more of the Breweries, Anchor shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause
deliveries of Bottles to continue to such Breweries as otherwise required hereunder, but if any of the carriers transporting the Bottles to the
affected Breweries express concern to Boston Beer about the safety of their drivers or their equipment at the affected Breweries during any such
Boston Beer labor dispute, Boston Beer shall take all actions reasonably necessary to insure the safety of such drivers and equipment once
they reach the affected Breweries.

7.2. Notice.
(a) Each party will immediately notify the other party of the occurrence of any Force Majeure Event which may affect its
performance of this Agreement.
(b) If any Force Majeure Event occurs affecting one or more Plants or deliveries, Anchor will:

(i) use commercially reasonable efforts to operate the affected Plants prior to any other Anchor bottle plant, so long as such
actions by Anchor are not in violation of any agreements Anchor is a party to as of the date of this Agreement;
(ii) use commercially reasonable efforts to provide Bottles to Boston Beer from the affected Plants;
(iii) use commercially reasonable efforts to provide Bottles to Boston Beer which Anchor is not able to supply from Plants
affected by the Force Majeure Event from Plants and/or Alternate Plants not affected by the Force Majeure Event; and

(iv) give Boston Beer priority of production from each of the Plants and Alternate Plants and their respective equipment and
furnaces in the same proportion as Boston Beer’s business is to Anchor’s total U.S. business for bottles similar to the Bottles.

(c) With respect to Bottles supplied by Plants unaffected by the Force Majeure Event pursuant to subsection (b)(iii) above, Anchor
will use commercially reasonable efforts to ship such Bottles from Plants, Alternate Plants or such other bottle production facilities that will
minimize freight charges.

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
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7.3. Rights. If Anchor ‘s performance hereunder is suspended due to a Force Majeure Event, then Boston Beer shall have, in
addition to such other rights which it may have as a buyer under the UCC or otherwise, the right to procure alternative sources of Bottle supply
on commercially reasonable terms with respect to all Bottles not delivered by Anchor because of the Force Majeure Event, which may require an
alternative Bottle purchase commitment by Boston Beer for a period of time which extends beyond the Force Majeure Event affecting Anchor.
Any such alternative purchases of Bottles by Boston Beer shall be applied to its obligation to purchase the quantity of Bottles as set forth in
Section 2.2.
7.4. Termination Because of Force Majeure Events . If all or a substantial part of either party’s performance hereunder is prevented or
suspended by reason of a Force Majeure Event for more than ninety (90) consecutive days at any one time, or more than one hundred eighty
(180) days in the aggregate during the Term, then the other party shall have the right to immediately terminate this Agreement (upon notice to the
party affected by the Force Majeure Event). Such termination shall be without liability with respect to the obligations so terminated.

8. TERM AND TERMINATION.

8.1. Term. Unless terminated earlier in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the initial term of this Agreement shall be for a
period commencing as of [ * ] and ending at the close of business on [ * ], unless extended by Boston Beer for a [ * ] period ending [ * ] by the
delivery of a written notice of extension to Anchor at least [ * ] prior to the end of the initial term (the “Term”).
8.2. Rights of Termination.
(a) Subject to the terms of Section 8.3 and in addition to any right of termination granted elsewhere in this Agreement, either party
shall have the right at any time to terminate this Agreement, without prejudice to any other legal rights to which such terminating party may be
entitled, upon the occurrence of any one or more of the following:
(i) Material breach by the other party in the performance of any of the provisions of this Agreement, which breach is not cured
within thirty (30) days following written notice of such breach to the defaulting party;

(ii) The making by the other party of an assignment for the benefit of creditors;
(iii) The appointment of a trustee or receiver or similar officer of any court for the other party or for a substantial part of the
property of the other party, whether with or without the consent of the other party;

(iv) The institution of bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or liquidation proceedings by or against the other party without
such proceedings being dismissed within thirty (30) days from the date of the institution thereof or, in the alternative, without this Agreement
being assumed by a qualified manufacturer of glass containers able to meet all of the obligations set forth herein; or
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(v) A material breach by the other party of any of its representations or warranties set forth herein.

(b) Either party which exercises a right of termination under the foregoing provisions of Section 8.2(a) may exercise such right by
delivery of a termination notice which shall provide that such termination is effective not less than ninety (90) days nor more than twelve
(12) months after the date such notice is issued, at the choice of the party exercising such right of termination.

8.3. Effect of Termination. Termination of this Agreement for any reason provided herein shall not relieve either party from its
obligation to perform up to the effective date of such termination or to perform such obligations as may survive termination. If payments
attributable to periods after the termination of the Agreement have been made before the termination of the Agreement, the party receiving such
payments shall refund the payments so attributable promptly after the termination of the Agreement. If payments attributable to periods before
the termination remain unpaid upon the termination of the Agreement, the party required to make such payments shall do so promptly after the
termination of this Agreement. Nothing in this Section shall limit the rights otherwise available to a party arising from the breach of the
provisions hereof.

9. AUDITS.
9.1. Scope of the Audits; Auditors. Each party shall have the right to audit information (i) used to determine the Selling Price and
any changes to it and its constituent components including, without limitation, all information necessary to determine whether the terms of
Section 3 (and each of the sections and subsections thereunder) have been fully complied with, (ii) pertaining to improper payments referred to
in Section 15.5 below, (iii) pertaining to the Bottle purchases from other vendors and (iv) provided by the other party pursuant to the terms of
this Agreement in addition to the information specified in subsections (i), (ii) and (iii) above. All audits shall be performed by a nationally
recognized public accounting firm mutually acceptable to the parties, or in the absence of other agreement between the parties, Ernst and Young
LLP (the “Auditor”).
9.2. Costs. The full cost of any audit shall be borne by the requesting party, unless a “material discrepancy” adverse to the
requesting party is uncovered by the audit and such material discrepancy is caused by the actions of the other party or the other party’s failure
to act; in which case the audited party shall then bear 100% of the cost of the audit. A “material discrepancy” shall be any discrepancy or
group of discrepancies which, in the aggregate for any one audit, would result in a payment by one party to the other of an amount equal to or
greater than [ * ] or an adjustment in what one party owes to the other under this Agreement in an amount equal to or greater than [ * ].
[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
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9.3. Maintenance of Records. Each party shall maintain records in sufficient detail to permit an acceptable audit, and, without
limiting the foregoing, shall maintain each such record (i) for one full year after the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement and
(ii) for so long as any audit pertaining to such record is pending. The Auditor shall be given access to any and all records which it deems
necessary to conduct the audit.
9.4. Notice of Intent to Audit. Prior to requesting an audit, the requesting party shall notify the other party of its intent to exercise its
audit rights. The other party shall then be allowed a reasonable amount of time (not to exceed 30 days) to explain/resolve the question to the
satisfaction of the requesting party, and thus eliminate the need for an audit.
9.5. Audit Procedures . If the requesting party is not satisfied with the explanation provided by the other party pursuant to the terms
of Section 9.4 and determines that an audit should be conducted, the parties shall in good faith make reasonable efforts to mutually agree upon
a joint letter of instruction for the Auditor which shall describe the format and procedure the Auditor shall undertake and the documents it will
examine in the course of its audit. If the parties are unable to agree on the terms of the letter of instruction, the Auditor shall make its
examination and determination in accordance with written instructions provided by the requesting party. A copy of said written instruction
shall be provided to the other party no later than five (5) business days prior to the Auditor commencing its audit; provided that, prior to
commencing such audit, the Auditor shall have agreed to hold in confidence and not disclose to anyone, including the other party, unless
required by law, any of the information that the parties have designated in writing as confidential. Each party is obligated to furnish or make
available to the Auditor such information in the party’s possession as is required in the Auditor’s reasonable opinion to conduct the audit. The
Auditor shall provide both parties with a final written conclusion of compliance or non-compliance and the amount of the discrepancy, if any,
but shall not otherwise disclose any confidential information of either party. If the Auditor discovers any discrepancy, the Auditor’s
conclusions shall specify the amount owed to Boston Beer or to Anchor, and, in either event, a general statement as to the basis for the
discrepancy.
9.6. Survival of Rights. The provisions of this Section 9 shall expressly survive expiration or termination of this Agreement for a
period of three (3) years.

10. PLANT VISITS.
Subject to Section 11 below, Anchor shall allow employees and representatives of Boston Beer and its Affiliates who have a
legitimate and non-competitive purpose to visit the Production Facilities and each of the warehouses used by Anchor to store Bottles during
normal business hours and upon at least three (3) business days’ notice; provided, however, where the purpose of the visit is for health,
sanitation or quality control inspections, no notice need be given to Anchor. Such employees and representatives shall have full access to all
phases of operation but shall not unreasonably interfere with Anchor’s operations. All such employees and representatives shall abide by all
applicable rules and regulations of the Production Facilities with respect to visitors.
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11. CONFIDENTIALITY.
11.1 For the purposes of this Agreement the term “Recipients” shall mean: a party to this Agreement and each of its employees,
officers, directors, representatives, subsidiaries, affiliates, assigns, subcontractors and any and all persons or business entities acting under it
or any of them.
11.2 For the purposes of this Agreement the term “Confidential Information” shall mean (a) any information regarding a party’s cost
of materials, production, raw materials, labor and other costs, suppliers, customers or technology, whether or not labeled or described by such
party as “confidential,” and (b) all other information which is in writing and clearly marked “Confidential” or which is reduced to writing and
clearly marked “Confidential”; provided, however, that Confidential Information shall not include any such information which is (i) generally
available to those skilled in the art, (ii) acquired from a third party rightfully having such information and under no obligation to not disclose it
to the Recipients, (iii) already lawfully in the Recipient’s possession, or (iv) developed by a Recipient independently of any confidential
information disclosed to such party by, or learned by such party from, the other party.
11.3. Each of the Recipients shall treat in confidence and not disclose to others any Confidential Information of the other party,
which such Recipients may have furnished to them by the other party hereto or by any third party, or which such Recipients may have
accessed in the performance of this Agreement; provided, however, that the Recipient may disclose Confidential Information in the event it has
a legal obligation to do so pursuant to a subpoena or law. In such event, the Recipient shall provide the disclosing party notice of its duty to
disclose and an opportunity to seek a protective order.

12. PUBLIC STATEMENTS.
In the event that either party is required under applicable law to file this Agreement or any related document pertaining to this
Agreement or its performance with the Securities and Exchange Commission or any other regulatory authority, the party shall promptly notify
the other party of such requirement and (i) use reasonable efforts to obtain confidential treatment of any portion of this Agreement or related
document for which such treatment is requested by the non-disclosing party, (ii) to the extent requested by the non-disclosing party and
permitted by law, delete the most highly confidential elements of this Agreement submitted for filing, including but not limited to all price and
other financial terms, (iii) promptly notify the non-disclosing party of any attempt by any party to obtain access to any portion for which
confidential treatment has been requested, and (iv) at the request of the non-disclosing party, use reasonable efforts to defend against any such
attempt. Prior to including any discussion of this Agreement or any related document in any document to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission or any other regulatory authority, the disclosing party shall provide a written description of such discussion to the nondisclosing party and shall make such changes thereto as may be reasonably requested by non-disclosing party within five (5) business days
after the non-disclosing party has received a copy of such proposed discussion, except to the extent that such changes would violate applicable
law. The disclosing party shall be free to file any proposed discussion if the non-disclosing party fails to request changes within such five-day
period. Any other releases to the general public regarding the Agreement or the relationship between the parties shall be mutually agreed to by the
parties in advance of release.
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13. NOTICES.
All notices from one party to the other under the terms of this Agreement, unless otherwise directed, shall be in writing and shall be
hand delivered, sent by fax or certified mail, or sent by a responsible overnight courier, addressed to the parties at the addresses indicated
below and shall be deemed delivered on the date of receipt, or the business day next succeeding the date of posting if mailed:
If to Boston Beer:

Boston Beer Corporation
One Design Center Place, Suite 850
Boston, MA 02210
Attention: Vice President of Operations
Fax Number: 617-368-5500

with a copy to:
Boston Beer Corporation
One Design Center Place, Suite 850
Boston, MA 02210
Attention: Legal Department

Fax Number: 617-368-5553
If to Anchor:

Anchor Glass Container Corporation
3101 Martin Luther King Blvd.
Suite 301
Tampa, Florida 33607
Attention: General Counsel
Fax Number: 813-882-7859
with a copy to:

Anchor Glass Container Corporation
3101 Martin Luther King Blvd.
Suite 301
Tampa, Florida 33607
Attention: Chief Financial Officer
Fax Number: 813-882-7859
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14. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.
Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create an association partnership, joint venture or the relation of principal and agent
(except as specifically set forth herein). Neither of the parties hereto shall have any authority to bind the other in any way except as stated
herein. The parties recognize that during the Term of this Agreement, there will be employees of either party upon the premises of the other. It is
understood and agreed that on such occasions the employees of each party shall remain the employees of that party solely, and that party shall
be solely responsible for the wages and benefits for its employees, and any injuries which are sustained by such employees shall be covered
under the Worker’s Compensation insurance contracts of the respective employers.

15. ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS.

15.1. Maintenance of Corporate Existence . Each party shall at all times maintain its corporate existence. Each party will do or cause
to be done all things necessary to preserve and keep in full force and effect its rights (charter and statutory), licenses and franchises.
15.2. [ * ].
15.3. Insurance .
(a) At all times during the Term, both parties shall have and shall maintain in full force and effect the following insurance
coverage:

(i) Commercial General and Excess Liability Insurance, including without limitation Products Liability coverage, with minimum
limits per occurrence and in the aggregate of at least [ * ]. This coverage shall be endorsed to name the other party and each of its subsidiaries
and affiliates as additional insureds, and to evidence such endorsement.

Anchor will provide a certificate of insurance from a licensed insurance broker stating the following:

“The following are additional insureds: The Boston Beer Company, Inc. and its direct and indirect subsidiaries, including any
entity directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, including, without limitation, Boston Beer Corporation.”
Boston Beer will provide a certificate of insurance from a licensed insurance broker stating the following:

“The following are additional insureds: Anchor Glass Container Corporation and its direct and indirect subsidiaries, including
any entity directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, including, without limitation, Anchor Glass Container Corporation.”
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(ii) Property Insurance, including fire and extended coverage, for all risks of physical loss or damage to the buildings and
property of the other party, including each of the Production Facilities and all Bottles stored on all property owned or leased by the other party.
Such insurance coverage shall have a minimum limit adequate to cover risks on a replacement cost basis.

(iii) Workers Compensation Insurance, with minimum limits per employee and per event of not less than [ * ]. Such coverage
shall include, where permitted by state law, a waiver of subrogation applicable to each of the additional insureds identified in subsection (a)
(i) above.

(b) The insurance described in subsection (a) above shall be provided by one or more nationally recognized insurance carriers
which each has a rating of at least “A-” or better, Size IX or larger, by the A.M. Best rating service, or if the Best rating service is no longer
available, an equivalent rating by another nationally recognized insurance rating service. Such insurance shall be primary and non-contributing
with respect to any insurance maintained by the other party. Such insurance shall contain a “separation of insureds” endorsement, a
“severability of interests” endorsement, or an equivalent endorsement. To the extent any such coverage is written on a claims-made basis, it
shall have a retroactive date no later than the start of this Agreement and notwithstanding termination of this Agreement, shall allow for
reporting of claims until at least two (2) years beyond the expiration of this Agreement, either directly or through “tail” coverage purchased at the
sole cost and expense of the other party.

(c) Within thirty (30) days after the execution of this Agreement, each party shall provide the other party with a certificate from its
licensed insurance broker evidencing the foregoing coverages effective as of the start of this Agreement, and providing that the certificate shall
stipulate that the insured shall endeavor to provide at least thirty (30) days notice of cancellation, non-renewal or restrictive endorsement with
respect to any of the foregoing coverages. Similar certificates evidencing renewal of such coverage shall be provided prior to the expiration of
any such policies of insurance.

15.4. Efforts to Minimize Costs .
(a) Anchor shall at all times use reasonable diligence to seek and procure its requirements of all materials and equipment at the
lowest available prices (taking into account all relevant factors, including quality and service), and shall likewise minimize all plant costs in a
manner consistent with prudent management practices, including, without limitation, adherence to total quality management practices and
statistical process control.

(b) [ * ].

15.5. Plant Maintenance Requirements . Anchor shall ensure that each of the Plants, the delivery vehicles used to deliver Bottles to
any of the Breweries, and each of the warehouses used to store Bottles are each maintained using the highest practicable standards for
sanitation and housekeeping and are in compliance will all applicable laws and regulations. Anchor further agrees to ensure that such delivery
vehicles, such warehouses, and each of the Plants are each maintained so that they present a clean, high quality appearance.
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15.6. [ * ].
15.7. Preparation for Production . In preparation for the commencement of production of the Bottles at the commencement of the
Term, Anchor will adhere to the schedule set forth in Attachment 15.7.
15.8. Improper Payments. Anchor hereby warrants that no payments have been or shall be made, directly or indirectly, by or on
behalf of Anchor to or for the benefit of any Boston Beer employee or agent who may reasonably be expected to influence the decision to
purchase Bottles. As used herein “payments” shall include money, property, services and all other forms of consideration. Boston Beer may
verify Anchor’s compliance with this warranty in accordance with the audit provisions in Section 9 above.
15.9. Cullet. Anchor shall offer Boston Beer (or its designated Affiliate) the opportunity to sell cullet to Anchor at delivered market
prices, so long as such sales do not conflict with Anchor’s cullet supply agreements in effect on the date hereof, or with Anchor’s internal cullet
supply system, and so long as Anchor is then buying cullet.
16. ADDITIONAL REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF ANCHOR.
Without limiting any of its warranties specified in Section 4, Anchor covenants, represents and warrants to Boston Beer as follows:

16.1. Organization and Existence . Anchor is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of
the State of Delaware. Anchor has full corporate power and authority to carry on its business as now conducted and as currently proposed to be
conducted, and to execute, deliver and carry out the terms of this Agreement. Anchor has all permits and authorizations necessary to carry on
its business as presently conducted, and is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation in good standing in each jurisdiction wherein
the nature of Anchor’s business and operations or the character of the properties owned or held under lease by Anchor makes such qualification
necessary and in which the failure to so qualify would have a materially adverse effect on the business, prospects, profits, condition or
operations, financial or otherwise, of Anchor.
16.2. Authorization; No Legal Bar . The execution, delivery and performance by Anchor of this Agreement have been duly
authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Anchor and do not require any approval of Anchor’s shareholders or approval or
consent of any holder (or trustee of any holder) of any indebtedness or other obligations of Anchor, except such as have been duly obtained with
certified copies of such approval or consent delivered to Boston Beer. Neither the execution and delivery nor the performance by Anchor of this
Agreement does or will contravene any law or governmental rule or regulation, or any judgment or order, applicable to or binding on Anchor or
any of its Affiliates, or Anchor’s charter documents, or result in any breach of or constitute any default under, or result in the
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creation of any lien upon any property of Anchor under, any indenture, mortgage or other agreement or instrument to which Anchor or any of
its Affiliates is a party or by which it or any of its Affiliates, or any of its or their respective properties, may be bound or affected. Each of the
Production Facilities is in compliance in all material respects and Anchor shall cause each of the Production Facilities to remain in compliance
in all material respects throughout the Term with all existing federal, state and local governmental laws and regulations including, without
limitation, all laws and regulations pertaining to air emissions, liquid effluents, and noise levels.

16.3. Governmental Approvals . Neither the execution and delivery nor the performance by Anchor of this Agreement requires any
consent or approval of, giving notice to, registration with, or taking of any other action in respect of, any federal or state governmental authority
or agency.
16.4. Other Agreements . Anchor is not a party to any agreement or instrument, or subject to any charter or any corporate restriction,
which individually, or in the aggregate would materially adversely affect Anchor’s financial condition, business or operations or would
adversely affect the ability of Anchor to perform its obligations under this Agreement.
16.5. Execution, Delivery and Enforceability . This Agreement and all related documents have been duly executed and delivered by
Anchor. Assuming the due authorization (corporate and otherwise) and execution and delivery thereof by Boston Beer, this Agreement
constitutes a legal, valid and binding agreement or obligation of Anchor enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable
bankruptcy, insolvency, and similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally.
17. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BOSTON BEER.
Boston Beer covenants, represents and warrants to Anchor as follows:

17.1. Corporate Existence and Power . Boston Beer is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the
laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Boston Beer has full corporate power and authority to carry on its business as now conducted
and as currently proposed to be conducted, and to execute, deliver and carry out the terms of this Agreement. Boston Beer has all permits and
authorizations necessary to carry on its business as presently conducted, and is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation in good
standing in each jurisdiction wherein the nature of Boston Beer’s business and operations or the character of the properties owned or held under
lease by Boston Beer makes such qualification necessary and in which the failure to so qualify would have a materially adverse effect on the
business, prospects, profits, condition or operations, financial or otherwise, of Boston Beer.
17.2. Authorization; No Legal Ba r. The execution, delivery and performance by Boston Beer of this Agreement have been duly
authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Boston Beer and do not require any approval of Boston Beer’s shareholders or
approval or consent of any holder (or trustee for any holder) of any indebtedness or other obligations of Boston Beer, except such as have been
duly obtained with certified copies of such approval or consent delivered to Anchor. Neither the execution and delivery nor the performance by
Boston Beer of this Agreement does or will contravene any law or governmental rule or regulation, or any judgment or order, applicable to or
binding on Boston Beer or any of its Affiliates, or Boston Beer’s charter documents, or result in any breach of or constitute any default under,
or result in the creation of any lien upon any property of Boston Beer under any indenture, mortgage or other agreement or instrument to which
Boston Beer or any of its Affiliates is a party or by which it or any of its Affiliates, or any of its or their respective properties, may be bound or
affected.
[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.
20

17.3. Governmental Approvals . Neither the execution and delivery nor the performance by Boston Beer of this Agreement requires
any consent or approval of, giving notice to, registration with, or taking of any other action in respect of, any federal or state governmental
authority or agency.
17.4. Other Agreements . Boston Beer is not a party to any agreement or instrument, or subject to any charter or any corporate
restriction, which individually or in the aggregate would materially adversely affect Boston Beer’s financial condition, business or operations
or would adversely affect the ability of Boston Beer to perform its obligations under this Agreement.

17.5. Execution, Delivery and Enforceability . This Agreement and all related documents have been duly executed and delivered by
Boston Beer. Assuming the due authorization (corporate and otherwise) and execution and delivery thereof by Anchor, this Agreement
constitutes a legal, valid and binding agreement or obligation of Boston Beer enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subject to
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, and similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally.
18. DISPUTE RESOLUTION.

18.1. Guiding Principles . Any dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement (in each case a “Dispute”) shall be resolved in
accordance with the procedures specified in this Section 18, which shall be the sole and exclusive procedures for the resolution of any such
Disputes; provided, however, that a party, without prejudice to the procedures set forth below, may file a complaint to seek a preliminary
injunction or other provisional judicial relief, if in its sole judgment such action is necessary to avoid irreparable damage or to preserve the
status quo. Despite such action the parties will continue to participate in good faith using the procedures specified in this Section 18. All
negotiations and proceedings pursuant to this Section 18, other than litigation, are confidential and shall be treated as compromise and
settlement negotiations for purposes of applicable rules of evidence. All applicable statutes of limitation and defenses based upon the passage of
time shall be tolled while the procedures specified in this Section 18 are pending. The parties will take such action, if any, required to effectuate
such tolling. Other than as required or permitted by a court order, each party will continue to perform its obligations under this Agreement
pending final resolution of any Dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement.
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18.2. Procedures .
(a) The parties shall attempt settlement of each Dispute through good faith consultations. If no settlement can be reached through
such consultations within sixty (60) days after either party has notified the other party in writing of the existence of a Dispute, then either party
may exercise its right to seek resolution of the Dispute through mediation pursuant to the terms of Section 18.2(b).
(b) If either party seeks resolution of the Dispute through mediation, the matter shall be submitted to JAMS for mediation. Either
party may commence mediation by providing to JAMS and the other party a written request for mediation, setting forth the subject of the
dispute and the relief requested, within thirty (30) days after expiration of the aforementioned sixty (60) day period. The parties will cooperate
with JAMS and with one another in selecting a mediator from JAMS panel of neutrals, and in scheduling the mediation proceedings. The
parties covenant that they will participate in the mediation in good faith, and that they will share equally in its costs. All offers, promises,
conduct and statements, whether oral or written, made in the course of the mediation by any of the parties, their agents, employees, experts and
attorneys, and by the mediator and any JAMS employees, are confidential, privileged and inadmissible for any purpose, including
impeachment, in any litigation or other proceeding involving the parties, provided that evidence that is otherwise admissible or discoverable
shall not be rendered inadmissible or non-discoverable as a result of its use in the mediation. Either party may seek equitable relief prior to the
mediation to preserve the status quo pending the completion of that process. Except for such an action to obtain equitable relief, neither party
may commence a civil action with respect to the matters submitted to mediation until after the completion of the initial mediation session, or
forty-five (45) days after the date of filing the written request for mediation, whichever occurs first. Mediation may continue after the
commencement of a civil action, if the parties so desire. The provisions of this Section 18.2(b) may be enforced by any Court of competent
jurisdiction, and the party seeking enforcement shall be to an award of all costs, fees and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, to be paid by the
party against whom enforcement is ordered.

(c) If the mediation specified in Section 18.2(b) fails, then either party may pursue any remedy available to it at law or in equity.

19. MISCELLANEOUS.

19.1. Severability . Any provision of this Agreement that is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such
jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof, and any
such prohibition or unenforceability of any jurisdiction shall not of itself invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other
jurisdiction.
19.2. Waivers; Modifications . No term or provision of this Agreement may be changed, waived, discharged or terminated orally,
but only by an instrument in writing signed by the party against which enforcement of the change, waiver, discharge or termination is sought.
The rights and remedies set forth herein are intended to be cumulative, and unless the specific terms of this Agreement expressly provide
otherwise, the exercise of any right or remedy by either party shall not preclude or waive its exercise of any other rights or remedies under this
Agreement or pursuant to law or equity.
[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.

22

19.3. Authorization; Binding Effect; Successors and Assigns . Each of the individuals executing this Agreement certifies that he or
she is duly authorized to do so. This Agreement is binding upon, and the benefits hereof inure to, the parties hereto and their respective
successors and assigns; provided that neither this Agreement nor any right or obligation under this Agreement may be assigned by either party
without the written consent of the other party hereto, except that no consent is necessary for (i) an assignment by Anchor to an affiliate of
Anchor this is owned, directly or indirectly, 100% by Anchor; or (ii) an assignment by Boston Beer to an affiliate of Boston Beer that is
owned, directly or indirectly, 100% by The Boston Beer Company, Inc.; in either case, so long as the assigning party gives prompt written
notice of such assignment to the other party. Any attempted assignment in violation of the provisions of this Section 19.3 will be void. Any
permitted assignee of this Agreement, including but not limited to an affiliate of Anchor or Boston Beer, shall, prior to such assignment,
furnish to the other party satisfactory evidence of such assignee’s unconditional assumption of all liabilities and obligations of the applicable
assignor; provided that, notwithstanding such unconditional assumption, no such assignment shall relieve the assigning party of its financial
obligations hereunder, including its indemnification obligations, if an assignee defaults in the performance of its assigned obligations.
19.4. Entire Agreement . This Agreement, including each Attachment referred to in this Agreement, represents the complete agreement
of the parties with respect to the transactions contemplated hereunder, and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous agreements, representations,
promises or understandings in connection therewith, whether oral or written. All statements contained in any certificate or other instrument
delivered hereafter by or on behalf of any party hereto pursuant hereto or in connection with the performance of the transactions contemplated
hereby shall be deemed representations and warranties by such party hereunder.
19.5. Captions; References . The captions in this Agreement and in the table of contents are for convenience of reference only and
shall not define or limit any of the terms or provisions hereof. Reference herein to sections and subsections without reference to the document in
which they are contained are references to this Agreement.
19.6. Governing Law. This Agreement is entered into in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and shall be governed by the
provisions of the UCC. To the extent that there is to be a delivery or performance of services hereunder, such services shall be deemed “goods”
within the meaning of the UCC. In any event, this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts.
[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized representative on the day
and year first set forth above.
BOSTON BEER CORPORATION

By

/s/ MARTIN F. ROPER
Martin F. Roper
President & CEO

ANCHOR GLASS CONTAINER CORPORATION

By

/s/ JAMES J. FREDLAKE
James J. Fredlake
Executive Vice President & CFO

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.
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ATTACHMENT 2.1
[*]

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.
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ATTACHMENT 2.6
Quality Standards

[*]

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.
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ATTACHMENT 3.1
Selling Price

The selling price for each color, size and shape Bottles shall be the sum of the Base Price for each Bottle as set forth below, plus the natural gas
surcharge/credit, plus the amount Anchor is entitled to charge Boston Beer for Packaging Components pursuant to the terms of Section 3.6,
plus the amount of freight payable by Boston Beer pursuant to the terms of Section 5.2, subject to annual adjustment in accordance with
Section 3.3 and any cost savings achieved in accordance with Sections 3.5 and 15.4.

[*]

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.
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ATTACHMENT 3.2
Natural Gas Surcharge/Credit
A natural gas surcharge / credit “Surcharge Amount” will be added to or subtracted from, as the case may be, the Base Price [ * ]. Anchor will
notify Boston Beer prior to the first day of each month what the month’s Surcharge Percentage is.

[*]

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.
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ATTACHMENT 3.3
Annual Base Price Adjustment

[*]
[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.
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ATTACHMENT 3.6
Acceptable Loss Ratios for Packaging Components
Packaging Component Loss Percentage not to exceed*:

[*]
* Subject to adjustment by Boston Beer, based on Anchor’s actual Packing Component Loss Percentage during the first six (6) months of the
first Contract Year.

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.
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ATTACHMENT 15.2

[*]

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.
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ATTACHMENT 15.7
Pre-Production Schedule

Anchor shall promptly commence preparation for the Production of the Bottles upon execution of this Agreement in order to fulfill its
obligations under the Agreement. In no event shall the completion of each step identified below be later that the date shown:
Completion Date to be no later than:

[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]

Print Approval
Unit Molds
Sampling and approval by Boston Beer
Build Balance of set
Units ready for production and commence qualification process
Commence Production

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment.
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EXHIBIT 10.61

[ * ] DENOTES EXPURGATED INFORMATION

High Falls Brewing Company, LLC

445 St. Paul Street
Rochester, NY 14605

Thomas W. Lance
Vice President of Operations
The Boston Beer Company, Inc.
One Design Center Place
Suite 850
Boston, MA 02210
Re: Proposed Amendments to Existing Production Agreement
Dear Tom:
This will confirm the proposal of High Falls Brewing Company, LLC with respect to amendments to our existing
production arrangements. These proposed amendments are as follows:
1. Increased Committed Volume for [ * ]:
Brewing Capacity Annual Brewed Capacity Annual Packaged Capacity -

[*]
[*]
[*]

2. Minimum Volume Requirements for [ * ]: [ * ]
3. Short-Fall Fee for failure to meet [ * ] Minimum Volume Requirement: [ * ]
4. Capital Investments to be made by Boston Beer, if needed:
[*]

5. 2008 Manufacturing Fee to increase [ * ].
6. Outstanding Line 2 obligation as of January 1, 2008 to be reduced by [ * ] Estimated balance due will then be [ *
]. Actual balance will be determined on January 1, 2008.
7. Line 2 accrued liability will become interest free as of [ * ] and will be recouped over the first [ * ] cases of 2008
and 2009 production in excess of an initial [ * ] cases.
Except for the above, existing production agreement terms and conditions would remain unchanged.
This proposal will expire, if not previously accepted, at 5:00 P.M, EST, on Friday, December 14, 2007.
Sincerely,
High Falls Brewing Company, LLC
By: /s/ Norman E. Snyder

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission
pursuant to a request for confidential treatment.

VIA UPS OVERNIGHT

December 12, 2007
Norman E. Snyder, President and Chief Executive Officer
High Falls Brewing Company, LLC
445 St. Paul Street
Rochester, NY 14605
Re: Acceptance of Proposed Amendments to Agreement
Dear Norm:
This letter is to advise you that your proposed amendments to our existing production arrangements, as set forth in
the proposal tendered to us on November 30, 2007, a copy of which is attached, are hereby accepted and that the
existing production agreement between High Falls Brewing Company, LLC and Boston Beer Corporation is now
amended accordingly.
Sincerely,
Thomas W. Lance
Vice President of Operations

[ * ] indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission
pursuant to a request for confidential treatment.

Exhibit 14.2
THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC.

CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS

INTRODUCTION
This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”) applies to The Boston Beer Company, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Company”) and to the Company’s directors, officers and employees. Compliance with the Code is required. The Code is not intended to cover
every situation that may arise, but is intended to enunciate general principles which should guide the conduct of the Company’s officers,
directors and employees. The Code should also be provided to and followed by the Company’s agents and representatives, including
consultants.
Everyone acting on behalf of the Company should at all times strive to avoid even the appearance of improper behavior. To that end, those
acting on behalf of the Company should, before taking any action, ask themselves the following questions:

•

Is this action both legal and ethical?

•

Does this action conform with both the letter and the spirit of this Code?

•

Is it clear that the Company would not be embarrassed if this action were to become known generally within the Company, or by the
public?

Unless the answer to each of the foregoing questions is “yes”, the action should not be taken.
From time to time the Company may adopt corporate policies which contain requirements with respect to certain areas of conduct which
are more specific than those contained in this Code. If such policies are adopted, they will be provided to those individuals who are expected to
adhere to them. In such instances, compliance with the general guidelines contained in this Code, as well the specific requirements of a
particular corporate policy, will be required.

Those who violate the requirements of this Code will be subject to disciplinary action, which may include termination, referral for
criminal prosecution and reimbursement to the Company or others for any losses or damages resulting from the violation. The procedures
which the Company has established to oversee compliance with this Code and to respond to questions concerning the interpretation of this Code
are set forth at Section 11 below.
1. Conflicts of Interest

A “conflict of interest” occurs when an individual’s private interest interferes in any way — or even appears to interfere — with the
interests of the Company as a whole. A conflict situation can arise when an officer, director or employee takes actions or has interests that may
make it difficult to perform his or her work for the Company objectively and effectively. Conflicts of interest also arise when an officer,
director or employee, or a member of his or her family, receives improper personal benefits as a result of his or her position in the Company.

All officers, directors and employees should avoid conflicts of interest between their obligation to the Company and their personal affairs.
Accordingly, they should not have any economic interest in or position or relationship with any person, corporation or other entity with which
the Company does business or competes, if that interest, position or relationship might influence their actions on behalf of the Company. For
example, officers and employees of the Company are not permitted to simultaneously work in any capacity for a competitor, customer or
supplier of the Company.

Conflicts of interest are not always clear-cut. If you have a question, you should obtain guidance from the Company’s Compliance
Officer according to the procedures set forth in Section 11 below. Any officer, director or employee who becomes aware of a conflict of interest
or a potential conflict of interest should call it to the attention of the Company’s Compliance Officer by following the procedures described in
Section 11 below.
2. Corporate Opportunities
Officers, directors and employees are prohibited from (a) taking for themselves personally opportunities that are discovered through use
of corporate property, information or position; (b) using corporate property, information or position for personal gain; and (c) competing with
the Company. Officers, directors and employees owe a duty to the Company to advance its legitimate interests when the opportunity to do so
arises.

3. Trade Secrets and Confidential Information
Certain information concerning the Company’s products, marketing plans, strategic objectives, finances and other aspects of the
Company’s business must remain confidential. Officers, directors and employees must take care to maintain the confidentiality of information
entrusted to them by the Company, except when disclosure is authorized by appropriate authorities within the Company or mandated by
applicable laws or regulations. Confidential information includes all nonpublic information that might be of use to competitors, or harmful to
the Company or its customers if disclosed. All questions about the confidentiality of information should be raised with a person of proper
authority within the Company.
From time to time, persons outside the Company, including customers and suppliers, choose to disclose information to us which is
confidential or proprietary to them. Such information should not be accepted without a proper authorization and a written agreement approved
by appropriate authorities within the Company stating the Company’s obligations with respect to that information and such information shall
be treated in the manner set forth in such agreement.

4. Fair Dealing
Each officer, director and employee is expected to deal fairly with the Company’s customers, suppliers, competitors and employees.
Business negotiations should always be conducted in an ethical manner. For example, stealing proprietary information, possessing trade secrets
that were obtained without the owner’s permission, or inducing such disclosures by past or present employees of other companies is prohibited.
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We seek to gain competitive advantages through superior performance rather than through unethical or illegal business practices. We do
not conduct business through the use of bribes, kickbacks, excessive entertainment or any other improper payments or favors. No officer,
director or employee should, as part of his or her business activity, accept any gift of money or other thing of value other than advertising,
promotional or goodwill gifts having a clearly nominal (less than $10) value. Other gifts, if received, should either be returned, if possible, or
forwarded to the Company’s Human Resources Department where they will be distributed to charities or raffled to employees. In any event, an
appropriate explanation of our policy should be made to the donor. Officers, directors and employees are asked to notify vendors and customers
of this policy.

Entertainment of or by employees is not precluded, provided it is clearly related to the conduct of the Company’s business and
appropriate in both scope and cost and approved by the employee’s manager. Entertainment shall never be entered into if it could unduly
influence or compromise an employee of the Company. If the cost of entertainment provided to a Company employee exceeds $50, the employee
should report such instance to his/her manager; if the cost of such entertainment exceeds $100, the employee’s manager should report such
instance to a member of the Management Committee. Entertainment of others shall be used primarily to provide a favorable, relaxed “business
away from business” atmosphere in which to conduct the Company’s business, but some business should always be discussed during such
entertainment. Examples of appropriate entertainment include normal business meals and trips to the Company’s or a supplier’s facilities for
training purposes. Attendance at a sporting or theatrical event, or a game of golf, tennis or other sporting activity is appropriate, provided, in all
cases, that the business contact is present.

Officers, directors and employees may not borrow money, directly or indirectly, from anyone with whom the Company conducts
business.
Officers, directors and employees are prohibited from paying or bestowing anything of value in the form money, gifts, gratuities or favors
to or upon any person, government official, political organization or business entity with the intent of causing the recipient to illegally influence
any transaction for the benefit of the Company. Except for Company-supported charitable events, officers, directors and employees may not
solicit the donation of merchandise or similar items or services from vendors or customers. Although political contributions may be lawful,

both domestically and abroad under certain circumstances, no political contribution should be made on behalf of the Company unless
specifically approved in writing by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman of the Company. This includes contributions of money or
other assets to any political candidate or in support of any political issue. Time spent by an employee on political activity during working
hours, or the use of Company assets for political purposes, constitutes a political contribution.
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5. Insider Trading

The officers, directors and employees of the Company are not permitted to use “inside information” concerning the Company for the
purpose of making a profit for themselves or any other person or entity, nor to pass such information on to outsiders for such purpose. “Inside
information” is information concerning the Company, its financial affairs, new product introductions, strategic plans and other activities
which has not been disclosed to the public. Misuse of inside information is often associated with purchase or sale of the Company stock, but
can extend to other areas as well, such as real estate values in an area of proposed expansion and possible effects on the stock of suppliers or
competitors. Officers, directors and employees of the Company are required to abide by the provisions of the Company’s insider trading
policy, which has been separately distributed to them and which is available upon request of the Company’s Compliance Officer.
6. Competition
It is the Company’s policy to compete vigorously in the marketplace. This includes observance of the anti-trust laws of the United States
and the foreign jurisdictions in which we do business. The consequences of anti-trust violations can be severe, including not only costly
litigation, but also criminal sanctions including fines and jail sentences for individuals. Application of the anti-trust laws is often difficult and
highly dependent on each factual situation. Nevertheless, certain broad guidelines can be established as an aide to avoiding inadvertent
misconduct. In any situation where doubt exists, the Company’s Compliance Officer should be consulted before embarking on any course of

action.

Agreements in Restraint of Trade. Section 1 of the Sherman Act makes illegal contracts, combinations or conspiracies that restrain
trade. These include price fixing or agreements to divide markets or customers. Violations can be shown by less than formal or written
contracts. Thus any contract with competitors concerning prices, terms of sale, territories or related matters must be avoided. Officers,
directors and employees should understand that entirely innocent meetings with competitors on a casual basis and without discussion of any
prohibited subjects, can later be used in a damaging fashion. Under no circumstances can an officer, director or employee discuss pricing or
other sensitive matters with competitors. If such a subject should come up at a meeting with competitors, it is essential to leave the meeting
immediately. It is not sufficient to remain and not participate.

Robinson-Patman Act Price Discrimination . The Robinson-Patman Act prohibits the seller from discriminating in price or terms of sale
for goods of like grade and quality if the result may be to restrict competition. There are defenses, the principal ones being cost justification for
the price difference and a bona fide attempt to meet a competitor’s price to a particular customer. However the question of pricing should be
carefully reviewed with an authorized officer within the Company before any discounting policies or practices are instituted.

Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act. This section is very broadly written and authorizes the Federal Trade Commission to
bring actions to enjoin “unfair trade practices”. These can include, among other things, disparaging or misrepresenting a competitive product.
Such practices, of course, are not acceptable under the Company’s standard and are thus prohibited whether there is a risk of statutory
violation or not.
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7. Protection and Proper Use of Company Assets
All officers, directors and employees must protect the Company’s assets and insure their efficient use. Theft, carelessness and waste have
a direct impact on the Company’s profitability. All Company assets should be used for legitimate business purposes. Any suspected incident of
fraud or theft should be immediately reported for investigation.
The obligation to protect the Company’s assets extends to its proprietary information, including intellectual property such as trade secrets,

patents, trademarks and copyrights, as well as business and marketing plans, engineering and manufacturing plans, ideas and designs,
customer lists, data bases, business records and any unpublished financial data and reports. Unauthorized use or distribution of this
information is prohibited as a matter of Company policy, and might also be illegal and result in civil or even criminal penalties.

8. Business Records
Accounting standards and applicable laws require that all transactions involving the Company’s assets shall be properly recorded in the
books and accounts of the Company. No entry may be made in the Company’s books and records that misrepresents, hides or disguises the
true nature of any transaction. No false or artificial entry shall be made in the books or records of the Company for any reason, and no officer,
director or employee shall engage in any arrangement that results in such a prohibited act. No payment on behalf of the Company shall be
approved or made with the intention or understanding that any part of such payment is to be used for a purpose other than that described by
the documents supporting the payment.

No one shall on behalf of the Company:

•

Establish or use any secret or off-balance sheet fund or account for any purpose;

•

Use corporate funds to establish or use any bank account that is not identified by the name of the owner; or

•

Establish or use any offshore corporate entity for any purpose other than a legitimate Company business purpose.

Company records shall be retained for the period of time specified in the applicable record retention schedule.
9. Reporting any Illegal or Unethical Behavior; Fraud

Officers and employees of the Company are encouraged to talk to supervisors, managers or other appropriate personnel when in doubt
about the best course of action in a particular situation. Additionally, officers and employees should report violations of laws, rules and
regulations, including any improper accounting or financial practices, fraudulent practices or misrepresentations, or this Code to their
supervisors, or to the Company’s Compliance Officer or through the BBC Hotline, hosted by EthicsPoint, an independent third party,
accessible through the Company’s home page, home.bostonbeer.com, the Company’s website, www.bostonbeer.com, or by calling 1-888-2611717.
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The Company will not permit retaliation for reports of misconduct by others made in good faith by employees. Employees are expected to
cooperate in internal investigations of misconduct.

10. Waivers of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

Any waiver of this Code for executive officers or directors may be made only by the Board or a Committee of the Board, and must be
promptly disclosed to stockholders as required by applicable law or stock exchange regulation.
11. Compliance Procedures

The Board has appointed the Audit Committee to oversee compliance with this Code, and has also appointed a Compliance Officer to
administer the compliance program.
The following directors are the current members of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors: Pearson C. Cummin, III, Chairman,
Gregg A. Tanner and Jean-Michel Valette. The Company’s Compliance Officer is the Corporate Legal Director, Kathleen H. Wade (telephone
number: 617-368-5416). Ordinarily, questions concerning the application of this Code should be addressed to an employee’s supervisors,
who will relay them to the Compliance Officer, the Company’s General Counsel or the Audit Committee, if necessary. If an employee is
uncomfortable raising such questions with his or her supervisor, they may be addressed directly to the Compliance Officer or reports can be
made through the BBC Hotline, hosted by EthicsPoint, an independent third party, accessible through the Company’s home page,
home.bostonbeer.com, the Company’s website, www.bostonbeer.com, or by calling 1-866-261-1717.

Reports of violations of this Code, however made, can be made anonymously and the matter will be investigated by the Compliance
Officer or the Audit Committee or their designees to the extent that the report provides sufficient information to conduct an investigation. All
reports will be treated confidentially to the extent possible. Preliminary investigations should not be conducted by employees. Such actions
could compromise the integrity of the investigation and adversely affect the Company and others.
Employees who fail to comply with this Code or to cooperate with an investigation will be subject to disciplinary action. Furthermore, any
supervisor, manager, officer or director who directs, approves or condones infractions, or has knowledge of them and does not promptly report
and correct them in accordance with this Code will be subject to disciplinary action. Such disciplinary action may include termination, referral
for criminal prosecution and reimbursement to the Company or others for any losses or damages resulting from the violation.

Adopted by the Board of Directors on December 17, 2002. Amended on July 31, 2007
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EXHIBIT 21.5

List of Subsidiaries and Affiliates
of

The Boston Beer Company, Inc.

as of
December 29, 2007

BBC Brands, LLC
(a Massachusetts limited liability company)

BBC Keg Company, LLC
(a Delaware limited liability company)
Boston Beer Corporation
(a Massachusetts corporation)

Boston Beer Corporation Canada Inc.
(a Canadian business corporation)

Boston Brewing Company, Inc.
(a Massachusetts corporation)
Freetown Acquisition Company, LLC
(a Massachusetts limited liability company)

SABC Realty, Ltd.
(an Ohio limited liability company)
Samuel Adams Brewery Company, Ltd.
(an Ohio limited liability company)
Samuel Adams Pennsylvania Brewery Company
(a Pennsylvania limited liability company)

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement No. 333-12221, pertaining to THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. 1996
STOCK OPTION PLAN FOR NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS; Registration Statement No. 333-68531, pertaining to THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY,
INC. EMPLOYEE EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN; Registration Statement No. 333-85110, pertaining to THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. 1996
STOCK OPTION PLAN NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS; Registration Statement No. 333-85112, pertaining to THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC.
EMPLOYEE EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN; Registration Statement No. 333-121057, pertaining to The Boston Beer Company, Inc. 1996 Stock Option
Plan for Non-Employee Directors; Registration Statement No. 333-140250, pertaining to THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. EMPLOYEE EQUITY
INCENTIVE PLAN; and Registration Statement No. 333-148374 THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY EMPLOYEE EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN of The
Boston Beer Company, Inc. of our reports dated March 11, 2008, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of The Boston Beer Company, Inc.,
and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of The Boston Beer Company, Inc. included in the Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year
ended December 29, 2007.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 11, 2008

Exhibit 31.1

I, Martin F. Roper, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The Boston Beer Company, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 13, 2008

/s/ Martin F. Roper
Martin F. Roper
President and Chief Executive Officer
[Principal Executive Officer]

Exhibit 31.2

I, William F. Urich, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The Boston Beer Company, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 13, 2008

/s/ William F. Urich
William F. Urich
Chief Financial Officer
[Principal Financial Officer]

Exhibit 32.1

The Boston Beer Company, Inc.
Certification Pursuant To
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant To
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of The Boston Beer Company, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 29, 2007 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Martin F. Roper, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, that this Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in this Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Date: March 13, 2008

/s/ Martin F. Roper
Martin F. Roper
President and Chief Executive Officer
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that
appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to The Boston Beer Company, Inc.
and will be retained by The Boston Beer Company, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 32.2

The Boston Beer Company, Inc.
Certification Pursuant To
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant To
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of The Boston Beer Company, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 29, 2007 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, William F. Urich, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to Section 1350
of Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, that this Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 and that the information contained in this Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 13, 2008

/s/ William F. Urich
William F. Urich
Chief Financial Officer
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that
appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to The Boston Beer Company, Inc.
and will be retained by The Boston Beer Company, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

